IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Retrospective Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

1973

Application of a social indicator model to determine community benefits derived from community colleges

Marita Anne Jones *Iowa State University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd Part of the <u>Higher Education Administration Commons</u>, and the <u>Higher Education and Teaching</u> <u>Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Jones, Marita Anne, "Application of a social indicator model to determine community benefits derived from community colleges " (1973). *Retrospective Theses and Dissertations*. 5091. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd/5091

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Retrospective Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



INFORMATION TO USERS

This material was produced from a microfilm copy of the original document. While the most advanced technological means to photograph and reproduce this document have been used, the quality is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original submitted.

The following explanation of techniques is provided to help you understand markings or patterns which may appear on this reproduction.

- The sign or "target" for pages apparently lacking from the document photographed is "Missing Page(s)". If it was possible to obtain the missing page(s) or section, they are spliced into the film along with adjacent pages. This may have necessitated cutting thru an image and duplicating adjacent pages to insure you complete continuity.
- 2. When an image on the film is obliterated with a large round black mark, it is an indication that the photographer suspected that the copy may have moved during exposure and thus cause a blurred image. You will find a good image of the page in the adjacent frame.
- 3. When a map, drawing or chart, etc., was part of the material being photographed the photographer followed a definite method in "sectioning" the material. It is customary to begin photoing at the upper left hand corner of a large sheet and to continue photoing from left to right in equal sections with a small overlap. If necessary, sectioning is continued again beginning below the first row and continuing on until complete.
- 4. The majority of users indicate that the textual content is of greatest value, however, a somewhat higher quality reproduction could be made from "photographs" if essential to the understanding of the dissertation. Silver prints of "photographs" may be ordered at additional charge by writing the Order Department, giving the catalog number, title, author and specific pages you wish reproduced.
- 5. PLEASE NOTE: Some pages may have indistinct print. Filmed as received.

Xerox University Microfilms 300 North Zeeb Road Ann Arbor, Michigan 48106

74-9124

JONES, Marita Anne, 1936-APPLICATION OF A SOCIAL INDICATOR MODEL TO DETERMINE COMMUNITY BENEFITS DERIVED FROM COMMUNITY COLLEGES.

Iowa State University, Ph.D., 1973 Education, higher

1

University Microfilms, A XEROX Company, Ann Arbor, Michigan

Application of a social indicator model to determine community benefits derived from community colleges

by

Marita Anne Jones

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty in Partial Fulfillment of The Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major: Education (Higher Education)

Approved:

Signature was redacted for privacy.

In Charge of Major Work

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Major Area

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Genaduate College

Iowa State University Of Science and Technology Ames, Iowa

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION	1
Purpose of the Study	6
Objective of the Study	6
Basic Assumptions	9
Sources of Data	11
Limitations of the Study	11
Definitions	12
Organization of the Study	16
CHAPTER II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	17
Social Indicators	17
Education in the United States	49
The Community College	78
Summary of Literature Reviewed	87
CHAPTER III. METHOD OF PROCEDURE	90
The Model	90
Testing the Model	104
Treatment of the Data	111
CHAPTER IV. FINDINGS	114
General Descriptive Data	115
Data Analysis	122
CHAPTER V. DISCUSSION, RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS	171
Discussion	171
Recommendations for Further Research	184

•

ii

Final Conclusions	18 8
CHAPTER VI. SUMMARY	190
Purpose of the Study	190
Description of the Model	190
Design of the Study	191
Findings	192
BIBLIOGRAPHY	
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
APPENDIX	

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION

The educational system like many other institutions in American society is being re-evaluated. Beginning with the past decade, a whole continuum of new methods for organization and delivery of educational services is being developed in order to cope with the large student bodies and the ever-growing mass of knowledge. Part of the impetus has also come from recent movements that emphasize the goal of realizing human potential. Thus, there have been dramatic increases in specialized learning activities of a vocational, technical, and professional nature. Rising educational expenditures for a wider variety of educational activities, the development and expansion of new types of educational services, and innovations in instructional methods and curriculae content at all levels including graduate schools have created a new awareness in American society of its educational system.

It is only recently that the American public has expressed a concern that the nation has been spending billions of dollars year after year on an enterprise without knowing how effective the expenditures are, or even if they are being directed toward stated goals. This fact has resulted in the demand that institutions of higher education become "accountable" to their various publics.

Cohen (44) reports on the inadequacies of current educational data. The weakness of quantitative data lay basically in their aggregated nature and disaggregation of data currently collected would provide significantly more meaningful information. Data of a qualitative

nature, indicators that reflect what students have learnedare, he notes, essentially non-existent. Thus, although voluminous data on education exists, they are unsuitable for measuring in any significant way, the output of the system in terms that really matter. Although education is perceived by Americans as important for the nation's future, the expectation that there are many assessments of what or how much American children learn is not fullfilled (172).

Effective plans for achieving educational objectives and the execution of those plans depend on the availability of continuing, regularly collected data. Indicators that reflect the results of the educational process would provide insight into changes taking place in education and into existing and potential educational problems. They would also offer a means of evaluating progress toward defined goals.

At the broader societal level there has been a call from women, various minority groups, welfare recipients, war protestors, etc. for large-scale transformations in the structures of society. However, in many areas in which social critics pass judgments there are no yardsticks by which to know if things are getting better or worse (17).

Bell (22) notes that existing government data are organized primarily for administrative purposes and not for analysis. From such data it is difficult to draw conclusions which are of normative value. For example, statistics on health care tell the amount of money spent on health care and how many doctors, nurses and hospitals are available. But there are no measures of the results. Part of the difficulty, Bell says, is that our data collection is oriented to

"inputs" and not to evaluation. The larger difficulty is a conceptual one because there has been no agreement as to how to measure "health". The same analogy can be made to education and how one measures "learning".

Finally there is the problem of informing the general public on matters related to social performance. The opening statement of <u>Toward a Social Report</u> (172) states that "The Nation has no comprehensive set of statistics reflecting social progress or retrogression. There is no Government procedure for periodic stock-taking of the social health of the Nation. The Government makes no Social Report".

Recurring social problems have been the concern of social scientists, legislators, and governmental agencies for some time. Corrective social action, however, has usually been accomplished within the confines of a particular problem area without consideration of the effect changes in one social area have on other aspects of society. Even when such changes are noted by those working in the affected areas, communications are not exchanged. Recognition of the lack of information regarding the interplay among the forces within the different sectors of society has resulted in the development of the concepts of "social indicators", "social reports", "social accounting" and "monitoring social change". The idea subsumed in these concepts is the need to provide "indices" of the various aspects of social life and their interrelationships for the purpose of predicting and analyzing the impact of a change in one aspect of American life on all other structural features of society.

Social indicators are generally conceived of as measures of some aspect or condition of society or its elements, which is of interest to individuals officially charged with responsibilities for planning and evaluating programs. They may be an aggregate sum, an index, a ratio, or some other quantifiable construct. The concept of social indicators has inherently a normative reference. The information is given significance because it tells the policy and systems designer something about the current quality of life in the society.

Systems of social indicators provide methods for generating new categories of information about particular discrete social impacts and also provide basic measures of structure and process in society which can act as baselines against which to measure the potential utility, scope and quality of any program (175).

The public community college represents the educational delivery system for vast numbers of people who, without availability of the opportunities offered by these institutions, probably would never see the inside of a college classroom. Community colleges have been designed to meet both individual and national needs. They are conceived to be the stimulus and the tool for tapping new talent pools and to prepare the nation's population for new kinds of social and vocational responsibilities. The community college arose as an eclectic, opportunistic and socially oriented institution. It differs from a junior college in that it offers a more diverse educational program to a more diverse population. Rather than limiting its offerings to a two-year college parallel curriculum that prepares students for transfer into 4-year institutions (88), it aims for a comprehensiveness determined

by the educational needs of the community in which it is located (114).

Although over 1,000 community colleges have "sprung up" over the past decade, there is no substantial way of measuring the social benefits derived from the existence of this unique type of educational institution.

This research effort has been stimulated by these recent developments within higher education, within the academic area of sociology (specifically the social indicator movement), and by the special concern of researcher for the development of the community college system. The idea that the emphases of these three areas could be pulled together into one research effort is given support by the fact that despite the 50 year record of social science involvement in education, "important gaps still exist in the utilization of social science knowledge by educators" (133, p. 24). To fill these gaps the Special Commission on the Social Sciences of the National Science Foundation recommends that increased effort should be made to explore linkages between basic theory and research in the social sciences on the one hand, and educational policy and practices on the other. The parallel research efforts on the part of researchers within the social indicator movement and within education support the contention that the development of educational indicators might advance more rapidly by the establishment of communication channels and cooperative research efforts.

Purpose of the Study

Several writers within the social indicator movement as well as educational leaders have pointed to the need for this nation to develop a valid information system for its institutions in order to provide the data necessary for assessing and evaluating their outputs. One purpose of this study is to respond to these suggestions by presenting a conceptual model developed by this researcher as one alternative for assessing the benefits derived from community college programs. The second purpose of the study is to test selected relationships from the model in order to determine its feasibility as a tool for policy and decision-making at the local college level, at the educational system level, and at the national level.

During the course of this study, facts about the model as a feasible tool for policy and decision-making as well as facts about the individual institutions under study will emerge. Attempts will be made to determine if the data necessary for applying the model are currently being collected at the local level, if data that are not currently collected is available and/or easily accessible, if the relationships specified by the model do exist, and if the existence of these relationships is relevant to policy and decision-making at any of the three organizational levels indicated.

Objective of the Study

The objective of this study is to test the feasibility of applying a social indicator model to determine social benefits derived from

community college programs.

Hypotheses to be tested

Four major hypotheses based on four major premises are to be tested inferentially by testing a series of sub-hypotheses directly related to the major hypothesis under consideration. The major premises and hypotheses are presented here. The sub-hypotheses will be introduced in Chapter III.

<u>Major Premise I</u> If it can be shown that the model presented contains input variables that are directly related to specified output variables, it can be concluded that the model is a useful tool for use in policy and decision-making at the local college level.

<u>Major Hypothesis 1</u> The model presented is a feasible tool for visualizing the existence of relationships between those resource variables going into specific program areas of a single community college (inputs) and the results coming out of that program area (outputs).

<u>Major Premise II</u> If it can be shown that the model contains the bases for comparison between total community college district populations and enrollment populations within each program area then the model is a useful tool for evaluation of the "reach" (extent and direction) of community college benefits at the local district level.

<u>Major Hypothesis 2</u> The model is effective as a tool for evaluating the extent and direction in which community college goals are

being achieved at the community college district level.

<u>Major Premise III</u> If it can be shown that the model contains the basis for making comparisons between emphases placed on one or two program areas to the exclusion or detriment of other program areas, it can be concluded that the model is an effective tool for visualizing "institutional program emphasis" at the individual college level.

<u>Major Hypothesis 3</u> The model is an effective tool for determining if institutional emphasis on a single program exists at the local college level.

<u>Major Premise IV</u> If it can be shown that the model contains variables, the comparison of which when made inter-institutionally, indicate commonality among institutions regarding the extent and direction of community college benefits then the model is a useful tool fo indicating the type of data aggregation that is meaningful at the national level and the kinds of institutional/national standard comparisons that are relevant for policy and decision-making at the local and national levels.

That is, if community colleges are effectively reaching all segments of their local district populations with each of their program areas, (see Major Hypothesis 2) their outputs will reflect their district populations in terms of age, sex, race, and socio-economic status. Since community college district populations vary in respect to these parameters, community colleges nationally should reflect heterogeneous outputs in respect to each other. The heterogeneity should emerge in this pilot study since the colleges under study are located in population areas that are quite different from each other. Thus, the age,

sex, race, and socio-economic status data of students enrolled and completing programs at each of the three institutions selected should be dissimilar from each other. If a similarity among the colleges does emerge, it can be concluded that community colleges systematically reach certain segments of the national population regardless of population parameters at the local level. Further, aggregation of data regarding these parameters at the national level is meaningful and comparison of individual institutions across the nation against a "national standard" for community colleges would be realistic.

If however, a dissimilarity among the data from the three institutions emerges, the colleges can be considered as contributing to national achievement in different ways. In this instance, aggregation of the outputs of all community colleges at the national level is not meaningful and comparisons of community colleges to a national production standard among all community colleges in the nation is misleading.

<u>Major Hypothesis 4</u> The model presented is a useful tool for evaluating the extent and direction to which community college goals are being achieved at the national level.

Basic Assumptions

1. Sufficient commonality exists among community colleges to allow them to be considered as a system and examined as such. The common elements include: participation in the over-all state educational plan, admittance to all students "who can benefit", charging minimal tuition, comprehensive programs designed to meet the needs of

all community members of post-high school age, commitment to seeking out potential students, and local control.

2. Specific program offerings are sufficiently standardized to allow inter-institutional comparisons of input and output data. General programmatic areas include: a College Parallel program, a Career Development program, a Developmental program, an Adult Education program, and a Community Service program.

3. The "normative" strategy employed in this research effort will not adversely affect the internal validity of the study and may in fact, reinforce its external validity. Community colleges have been developed on the basis of a common set of values and goals that reflect a democratic "ideal". The idea is that the more these goals are attained, the "better off" the community will be. The goals are being perpetuated across the nation and questions regarding who established these goals, or who "should have" established them, are, for purposes of this study, irrelevant. The relevant issue here is whether or not the goals as established are being met - whether the effect of each program area, by itself or in concert with the effects of the other program areas, reaches and meets the needs of the community it is designed to serve.

4. Data based on an institutional self-study conducted for the purpose of achieving accreditation is assumed to be accurate if the college did become accredited on the basis of this data.

5. The output measures identified in the model constitute valid measures of social benefit derived by the community and the individual student.

Sources of Data

Data for this research effort was gathered from the official files of Marshalltown Community College, a rural college in central Iowa; from William Rainey Harper Community College, located in a Chicago suburb; and Cuyahoga Community College (Metro Campus), located in downtown Cleveland. All three of these institutions have been accredited by the North Central Association.

Limitations of the Study

The current investigation is regarded as a pilot project to determine the feasibility of applying a social indicator model to determine social benefits to the community by the presence of a community college in the community. Investigation will be limited to three community colleges, one rural, one urban, and one suburban. These colleges have been in existence long enough to have had at least two graduating classes from its College Parallel program and have received accreditation.

Three input variables and three output variables out of the total population of input-output variables presented in the model will be investigated for each of the two program areas of College Parallel and Career Development in each of the three colleges. The variables investigated at each of the institutions will include those presented in Table 1.

	College Parallel Program	Career Development Program
Inputs	Students, full-time Enrollment/Community Ratio Faculty/Student Ratio	Students, full-time Enrollment/Community Ratio Faculty/Student Ratio
Outputs	Enrollment/Completion Ratio Transfer/Application Ratio Length of time at 4-year institution	Enrollment/Completion Ratio Type of initial job place- ment Current job status

Table 1. Input and output variables to be investigated

The sample n of 40 students from each program area at each college (for a total of 80 students per college), is too small to **draw defini**tive cause-effect relationships between the input-output variables but is sufficiently large to determine the feasibility of using the indicator model in diverse situations.

The pilot study has been conducted independent of budget factors. Diverse findings among the three institutions in variables such as student/faculty ratios may reflect budget oriented decisions which are not considered in this research effort.

Definitions

For purposes of this study, the following terms are operationally defined:

<u>Adult Education</u> - refers to regularly scheduled courses of study of one sememster or longer that allow the student to work toward a degree or attain vocational proficiency, as well as those regularly scheduled classes that provide opportunity to learn at any time (78).

- <u>Aggregate</u> refers to the construction of a single composite statistic derived from a series of individual statistical observations (100).
- <u>College Parallel</u> refers to a program similar to what is offered the first two years in a 4-year institution. This work, if successfully completed, enables the student to move to the 4-year college with only two years to go for attainment of a bachelor's degree (78).
- <u>Community College</u> refers to a two-year institution of higher education, generally public, offering instruction adapted in content, level and schedule to the needs of the community in which it is located (78).
- <u>Community Services</u> refers to a range of services beyond the regularly scheduled classes of the college, whether held during the day or at night, on-campus, or off (78).
- <u>Completion of program</u> refers to any student who has met the <u>goals</u> of the program. Thus, any student who has either completed the two-year College Parallel program and/or transfered to a 4-year institution is considered to have completed the program as has any student who has completed a Career Development program and/or has joined the work force in his area of training. Thus, any student who enrolls, drops out of the program and initially works in an area not consistent with the training he received at the community college is not considered a completion.
- <u>Constraints</u> refers to known limitations and restrictions in the environmental conditions and the capabilities of human and material resources involved in the design, development, and maintenance of a system (16).
- <u>Developmental Programs</u> refers to programs designed to deal with inadequacies in the student's educational background. The orientation is not to work with the "mentally retarded" but to gear learning situations to those who have experienced limited social/educational privileges, advantages, and opportunities (78).
- <u>Disaggregate</u> refers to a process of breaking down a global measure into separate parts according to the various subcategories that make up the global measure.
- Evaluation refers to the process of determining the appropriateness of the system objectives when tested in the "real world" (16).

- <u>Feedback</u> refers to the information derived from a comparison of the actual output with the anticipated output used for purposes of quality control and system modification (16).
- <u>Goal</u> refers to an end state or ideal condition to be attained at some time in the future or a broad statement of intended accomplishment (21).
- <u>Input</u> refers to the raw materials that enter the system to be released as output (16).
- Instrumental student-faculty contacts refers to interactions between student and faculty that are means to some end other than the interaction itself (e.g. testing, signing registration forms).
- <u>Model</u> refers to a graphic or narrative description of an abstraction in the "real world" that is used to represent reality (16).
- Monitoring social change refers to documenting conscious and deliberate direction of social change (124).
- Non-instrumental student-faculty contacts refers to expressive interactions valued for their own sake (e.g. philosophical discussions, sharing coffee breaks).
- <u>Normative</u> refers to the value orientation of those involved in the system. The term recognizes that persons within a system tend to direct that system toward goals they consider to be "good" or "valuable".
- <u>Objective</u> refers to a statement that describes in observable and measurable terms the expected output performance of the system (16).
- <u>OJT (On-the-Job-Training)</u> refers to a combination of classroom and on-the-job experience (78).
- <u>Outputs</u> refers to newly developed resources generated by the system (which may become input measures for another or the same system).
- <u>Proxy</u> refers to an indirect measure of an abstract concept that is assumed to be sufficiently correlated with the original measure so as to be substituted.
- <u>Quality of life</u> refers to a master indicator reflecting the net effect of numerous subindicators such as occupational and educational status, health and housing (71).

- <u>Social accounting</u> refers to a system that evaluates a wide range of programs in order to determine the degree to which the program activities are satisfying the interests of the various "interesteds" by producing various quantities and qualities of output.
- <u>Social indicator</u> refers to a measure of social output or input that has reference to the attainment of some goal (71).
- <u>Social statistics</u> refers to statistical time-series data that describe the people in a society and their major institutions (133).
- <u>Social system</u> refers to a complex of human and non-human elements directly or indirectly related in a causal network, such that each component is related to at least some others in a more or less stable way within any particular period of time (33).
- <u>Subsystem</u> refers to a part of a system that is comprised of two or more components, has a purpose of its own and is designed to interact with its peer subsystems in order to attain the overall purpose of the system (16).
- <u>Systems analysis</u> refers to a technique for problem analysis wherein a system is analyzed in terms of inputs, throughputs and outputs.
- <u>Systems approach</u> refers to the specification of the interrelationships among input and output variables and the conversion process within the system by which inputs are altered in some manner to form outputs.
- <u>Value added</u> refers to the process in which an input unit receives added value, such as a student who enjoys an increase in knowledge and ability to perform tasks as a result of his interaction with the educational system.
- <u>Trade-off</u> refers to cost versus effectiveness studies, the purpose of which is to establish which of the proposed solutions (or what combination of proposed solutions) represent the most effective way of accomplishing the objective at the least cost (16).

Organization of the Study

This study is organized into six chapters. The first includes the problem, assumptions, definitions, limitations of the study, sources of data and organization of the study. The second chapter contains the review of literature including literature on social indicator research, education, and the community college. The third chapter includes the methods and procedures used in the study. The fourth chapter contains the findings, including numerical and statistical relationships. The fifth chapter includes the discussion, conclusions, and recommendations for further research. The final chapter constitutes a summary of this research effort.

CHAPTER II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

For purposes of clarity the review of literature has been organized around the three areas of study that this research effort reflects. Material from social indicator research is presented in order to provide a framework upon which to base comparable research efforts within the educational arena. The second section on education is presented in order to show how specification of concepts offered by social indicators research are being applied to that societal subsystem. The third section of this review is on the community college and is presented as evidence that the issues confronting this institution are similar to those in education generally, and are therefore relevant to a social indicator approach for their solution.

Social Indicators

The social indicators movement

Even a brief review of the literature on social indicators reveal that policy-makers, lawmakers, and academicians are demanding social information that is not limited by purely economic considerations (155). The number of proposals concerning social reporting (or its virtual synonyms social indicators, social accounting and social intelligence) reflect a social movement orientation in which public and private agencies and commissions are joining with individual researchers and academicians in search for a better means of examining social, as opposed

to purely economic, aspects of society (67, 156).

The movement has been strongly promoted by a discontent with the continued use of traditional measures of economic progress (Gross National Product and personal income) not only as measures of economic progress but also as measures of political and social progress. Writers with this orientation note that only a small fraction of the existing statistics tell us anything about social conditions and those that do often point in different directions. Sometimes they do not add up to any meaningful conclusions and thus are not very useful to either the policy-maker or the concerned citizen. The authors of Toward a Social Report, (172) point out that economic indicators are insufficient measures as indicators of the social well-being of the country. They note that it is paradoxical that at a time when economic indicators are generally registering continued progress - rising income and low unemployment - the streets and newspapers are full of evidence of growing discontent. The reason for this paradox may stem from the fact that economic indicators are insufficient for precise assessment of conditions in the total state of the social system, (22, 66, 81, 80, 82, 123, 135, 161, 183). National income statistics leave out most of the things that make life worth living - the learning of our children, the quality of our culture, the advance of science, the compatibility of our families, the liberties and the democratic processes we cherish. They neglect the pollution of the environment, the depredations of crime and the toll of illness (135). Further, all benefits cannot be measured in direct monetary terms, many phenomena cannot be con-

trolled by monetary incentives or constraints alone, and non-economic institutions such as the family are valued (or not valued) for their own sake yet they still have serious consequences of the productivity of the economy (17).

Bauer (17) identifies several deficiencies in our present social statistics: they often do not mean what they purport to mean; there may be no data series for things we are concerned with; they may be out of date; some statistics are not taken with a sufficient number of samples to give adequate information for planning or other action for any unit for less the national level, and many of these statistics cannot be broken down even to the state level; our present series of social statistics do not constitute in any meaningful sense a "system" of data designed to reflect underlying social phenomena which are interrelated in a patterned fashion.

Realization of the inadequacies and flaws in the data we keep about our society has resulted in interest and action on the part of the U. S. Presidents (18, 141), legislators (154), committees in both the private and public sectors (71, 129, 130, 131, 133, 141, 172, 173), and individual researchers.

Perle (139) identifies two groups of persons who are discussing the usefulness of indicators; those who advocate the immediate utility of indicators for a wide class of societal issues both in the public and private sectors, and those who are cautiously optimistic about the eventual use of indicators for societal issues, subsequent to an intensive period of fundamental social science research. The first group

is composed of public and bureaucratic officials as well as academicians who are closely related to the political system; the second group is primarily composed of academics who are interested in understanding the structure and functioning of social systems but who are not intimately related to the political system in a professional sense. This categorization reflects a distinction between social science activists and research-oriented scholars, and the literature they produce is as diverse as their philosophical orientations.

The definition of social indicators

The diversity of opinion regarding social indicators begins with its very definition. The term "social indicator" must be regarded as an elusive concept (156) that is not clearly defined either conceptually or theoretically (100). The most publicized definition of a social indicator is given in Toward a Social Report (172, p. 97).

"A social indicator, . . . may be defined to be a statistic of direct normative interest which facilitates concise, comprehensive and balanced judgments about the condition of major aspects of society. It is in all cases a direct measure of welfare and is subject to the interpretation that, if it changes in the 'right' direction, while other things remain equal, things have gotten better, or people are 'better off'."

Biderman (25) finds this definition restrictive because its emphasis on "normative" interests rules out indicators regarding conditions of society which are important to most of its members but which may have opposite normative significance for members with different interests and values. Further, the definition supports a tendency to think of social indicators as being primarily for knowledgeable use

by policy makers and officials and that they should therefore be indicators of manipulatable conditions. Sheldon and Freeman (156) concur that indicators of "normative interest" are too restrictive because what is relevant today may not be relevant next year. Second, they argue that the requirement that indicators need to be measures of welfare is too confining in that it rules out many variables that may be relevant to an understanding of the indicator.

Others refer to social indicators as some crude measure of overall well-being or a "good quality of life" that attempts to describe with some precision and detail, the condition of society in terms of particular activities and social groups (179), or as an aggregative or representative welfare measure, a statistic that measures the extent to which some social goal or general welfare has been acheived (135). Sheldon and Freeman (156) point out that there is little consensus on defining the attributes of social indicators beyond the notions that they are time-series that allow comparisons over an extended period, and second that they are statistics that can be disaggregated or cross-classified according to relevant characteristics. Land (110) aggrees that the definition of social indicators as cited in Toward a Social Report is too restrictive. On the other hand, he finds the attributes provided by Sheldon and Freeman as not restrictive enough in that they do not distinguish social indicators from other social statistics. Given only these two criteria, he argues, there is little possibility of distinguishing the subset of statistics called 'social indicators' from the set of all social statistics that are available and

disaggregated in time-series form. His definition of indicators places them as components within the social systems model. He proposes that the term social indicators refer to social statistics that are components in a social systems model or some particular segment or process thereof, that can be collected and analyzed at various times, and accumulated into a time-series, and that can be aggregated and disaggregated to levels appropriate to the specifications of the model.

An advantage to Land's definition is that it does not restrict the definition of social indicators only to input variables. A social indicator can be any component in a sociological model of a social system and thus be either "input" or "output" variable. Second, his definition shows that there is a need to devote more effort to the specifications of models of social institutions. There is a need to specify the processes that occur as inputs into our institutions are transformed into outputs, and to estimate empirically the changes that occur in the inputs as a function of the transformations that occur within an institution (111).

Kamrany and Christakes (100) identify three kinds of indicators: absolute indicators, which refer to the measurement of those scientific indices for which substantial agreement among experts has been reached; relative indicators, which refer to indices for which time-series data and cross-comparison data are available and for which no optimum value is available; and autonomous indicators, which refer to those indices which reflect specific social, economic institutional and cultural values of specific regions.

Drewnowski (66) sees four kinds of social indicators: the first and second express the welfare of the population; and third and fourth refer to the process of social development. And Sheldon(155) states that there are three kinds of indicators designed for different uses: (1) problem-oriented or direct policy-oriented indicators which are intended for direct use in policy and program decisions, (2) descriptive indicators which are intended primarily to describe the state of society and the changes taking place within it, and (3) analytic indicators which serve as components of explicit conceptual and causal models of the social system or some particular segment of it.

The systems approach to social indicators

The notion that we should have a "system" of social statistics is spurred by the system of economic indicators which over the past 20 years have become a valuable tool in the guidance of our economy (17). The new Planning-Programming-Budgeting System (PPBS) of the Federal government which was launched in 1965 has been advanced by many as the logical framework in which social accounting and social reporting should be undertaken. Early social indicator research reflects the measurement of "input" as well as "output" data for assessing the quantities and qualities of public services. The intent is that these data are built into a logical structure capable of assessing social costs and benefits and aiding in more balanced decision-making in national policies and programs (180).

Becker and de Brigard (21) use a "relevance tree" or "top-down" approach common to PPBS as the basis of their model. Their hierarchi-

cal model has at its topmost level an entity they refer to as "quality of life" which is made up of a vast array of physical, social and economic human needs. Their model provides a method of examining the public and private resources for satisfying these needs. The lowest level of the hierarchy reflects the greatest amount of specification, and the highest level the greatest amount of permanency. According to Becker and de Brigard, increased specificity makes it possible to formulate more meaningful and less ambigious action items thus making it possible for the decision-maker to focus efforts on a particular need area and to search out the information required to make a decision relevant to the need area. Further, this approach, since it provides increasing levels of detail, makes visible the combination of factors that require consideration and decisions regarding implementation of programs and provides a clearer and more useful method for measuring progress towards goals. Their framework differs from the PPBS orientation in that it focuses on need categories as opposed to means for satisfying needs. Thus, they deal with the need for freedom from the effects of fire damage rather than on the existence, quality, and number of fire trucks.

The Educational Policy Research Center (71) using the variables of input and output as the basis for its model, presents a system of classification for categorizing indicator concepts that suggest how lower level indicators can be aggregated into master indicators within a hierarchically organized schema composed of two main elements, one relating to the individual within the system and the other relating to

the social system itself. This model provides for the development of social accounts in terms of inputs from society and outputs for individuals and groups and is similar to that provided by Becker and de Brigard in that it consists of a series of levels proceeding downward from the most global measures through increasingly more specific indicators to actual data. The highest level of the model, designated as "the general good" represents the complete correlation of society's performance and the individual attainment of society's benefits.

Gross's model (83) attempts to deal with the "selectivity-comprehensiveness paradox" that confronts any effort to establish a comprehensive system of social indicators or social system accounting. This paradox consists of the tension existing between, (1) the necessity that planners and evaluators should concentrate their attention upon a selected number of strategic variables instead of disbursing attention comprehensively and, (2) the need for a comprehensive view as a background for selection; Gross suggests a combination of broad systematic scanning and careful strategic selection and presents a hierarchical model that consists of "grand abstractions" at the topmost level and a middle level of "quantitive indicator concepts". The "grand" (but vague) "abstractions" in his abstraction-specificity pyramid relate to very specific information at the quantitative-indicator concept level. Gross argues that his general systems model can act as a general framework, one which can generate specific operational models that can describe any social unit.

These deductive approaches to model building provide for the

examination of a variety of numerous subindicators as well as for information on the net effect of conditions at the lower levels of the hierarchy. The validity of the information that is synthesized at the upper levels of the hierarchy depends entirely on the extent and accuracy of the material available at the lowest levels of the schema.

Although Sheldon and Moore (157) do not present a graphic model, they reflect a systems approach to rationally calculated policy formation and change. They propose five major rubrics for examining structural changes in American society: (1) the demographic base, (2) major structural components of society, (3) distributive features of society, (4) aggregative features of society, and (5) the meaning of welfare. Among the major structrual components of society they propose investigation of the production of goods and services, the labor force and occupations, knowledge and technology, family and kinship and religion and the polity. Bauer (18) presents no model as such but does suggest the construction of a general information system (a social indicators model), that takes as a point of departure the values, goals, and features considered important in assessing the state and direction of society (a normative orientation). Coleman (46) argues that social indicators must be developed to reflect four variations in subcategories: (1) the data must be evaluated and interpreted at a disaggregated level, (2) data from several indicators must be able to be recombined for a state called "combined conditions" allowing for partial reconstruction of the social unit from separate indices, (3) data must be able to be derived which does not show the whole of a given condition but only that part of which can be attri-

buted to a given cause. This level of variable measurement he calls "controlled indicators for combined conditions" and would show in a single measure, the partial deficits experienced by a given social unit (a combination of outcomes that result from a combination of social conditions).

These models can be distinguished on the basis of whether they deal with the aggregate levels or amounts of various social activities or whether they attempt to determine the distribution of the activities among the various elements of the society. In brief, the distinction is between models of aggregate levels of activities and models of the social distribution of activities (110).

Model building efforts are not without their critics and supporters. Olson (135) feels that social indicators and social reporting are logical extensions of PPBS and other forms of operations and systems analysis. He and Springer (161) state that application of PPBS as it now operates (mainly on a department-by-department or agencyby-agency basis) cannot, by itself, provide all the analysis that is needed for rational policy-making. It can usefully analyze many social problems but cannot take sufficient account of the interdependencies among different levels of government or different sectors of the society. PPBS cannot provide all the analysis needed for rational policy-making because it gives attention only to the activities of the federal government. Duncan (67) agrees by stating that not all issues on which some social report should be made are necessarily subjects for Federal programs and thus a close and fixed relationship between program appraisal and PPBS would be a mistake.

Sheldon and Freeman (156) point out that the development of social indicator models paralleling economic indicators is unfeasible because social indicators have no theory on which to base a definition and specification of interrelationships among the various social systems and because changes in the social realm are of a long-range nature which result in feedback that is in many instances extensively delayed. Thus, models requiring feedback for their implementation and improvement during the progress of the activity they are attempting to measure are not capable of being modified, altered, and manipulated so that benefits of a particular social program can be assured and errors in the direction of the policy corrected. The value of the feedback received within the social policy realm is questioned by Rosenthal and Weiss (147). They suggest that feedback within the social realm is limited because such feedback is a function of the articulativeness and power of the groups whose interests are affected. The more powerful and articulate the group, the greater the certainty of receiving feedback from the group. Less powerful groups may have feedback to offer but since they are not organized or do not realize they are being affected by a program, they do not generate the significant feedback. Thus social feedback may be inaccurate because of its incompleteness.

Weaknesses in specific models have been pointed out by some writers. Duncan (67) identifies as the weakness in Gross' approach the fact that quantifications in the "social" fields do not combine in a simple arithmetic way even in some abstract conceptual sense. Further, although Gross' model explicitly takes into account a multipli-

city of goals and can include a variety of partial models of causeeffect relationships, it only loosely indicates how this can be accomplished (161).

Generalized models such as offered by Gross provide only abstract categories that may sensitize one to social conditions but at the same time confront the researcher with unlimited and often insurmountable problems when attempts are made to explicate and operationalize these concepts into measureable indicators (177). Models that reflect social indicators as elements in a social system (as proposed by Land) do, however, correct the failure of social indicators to demonstrate interrelationships between social phenomena that is necessary for balanced decisions for social action programs (177). Biderman (25) agrees that the social statistics exist at various levels of social organization; the level at which the data are generated, the level at which they are processed, and the level at which the resulting knowledge is disseminated and at which it can have an influence on knowledge and action. The necessity of thinking of the total effect, not just the partial effect of any single programmatic decision or activity recognizes that the social system is just that, a system in which everything relates to everything else (173). Policy-making requires models that recognize these interrelationships.

The approach offered by Coleman provides promise in the initial stages of conceptualization of social indicators in that it focuses first on the concrete empirical level and secondly it attempts to conceptualize factors inherently a part of the social state of individu-

als from various socio-economic positions and population subgroups. Once these basic foundations of empirical measures are developed, it may be possible to work toward a more generalized conceptual model by combining these concrete indicators into more abstract indicators that provide a multi-dimensional profile of indicators and subgroups (177).

Claims and expectations for social indicator use

Diversity of opinion within the social indicator movement is reflected in the variety of claims and expectations for the development of social indicators and a system of social accounting. Gross (81) expresses the need for a system of social accounting designed to assess the priorities and goals of the "Great Society" more adequately. According to Olson (135) social indicators should measure what the national income statistics leave out and a social report should assess the social gains and losses that the national income does not measure. Sheldon (155) states that quantitative social information (indicators) is required for the establishment of social goals and priorities, the evaluation of public programs, and the development of a system of social accounts that could provide guidance among alternative interventions, further our knowledge of the functioning of society and enhance our capability in social prediction.

Springer (161) emphasizes five functions for social indicators: (1) assessing the state of society, (2) assessing the performance of the society, (3) anticipating the future, (4) indicating control
mechansims and, (5) guidance of social knowledge. Bauer (18) urges that social indicators be developed that will measure second-order consequences of technological change in our society, and the United States National Goals Research staff (173) cites the necessity of measuring second- and third-order consequences of various courses of action. Increasingly, they say, we must weigh immediate advantages in one area against long-term disadvantages in other areas of the social system. Thus, social indicators are necessary as tools to increase our capacity to make intelligent choices about the future and provide a system of technics by which we can approach the process of choice in a rational and deliberate way.

The National Commission on Technology, Automation, and Economic Progress (131) proposes a system of social accounts to indicate the social benefits and social costs of investment and services and thereby reflect the true costs of a product. Merrium (120) calls attention to the need for the development of social indices that are predictive as well as descriptive, and Voight (176) points to the need to refine measures of social change and to establish priorities among the various phenomena being observed.

The Social Science Research Council of the National Academy of Science (129) expects social indicators to serve several purposes: (1) they would be warning signals of dangerous or undesirable trends in the nation such as increases in crime or poverty and would call attention to the need for remedial action before the problems reached a critical stage, (2) they could assess the performance of our social

institutions and of special programs or policies established to remedy social ills and to move toward a more ideal society, and (3) they could serve as a basis for more informed and enlightened forecasting and action by both public and private agencies. According to Corning (54), any social indicator should, at minimum, tell us how well we are doing with respect to the basic problem of human survival and reproduction and provide us with a basis for evaluating the relative costs and benefits of various national policies in this regard. Others (71) state that indicators can measure relative progress toward goals by structuring them in terms of levels of attainment.

Duncan (67) concurs with Rice's characterization of the goals of the social indicator movement. Rice (145) states that "social indicators, the tools, are needed to find pathways through the maze of society's interconnections. They delineate social states, define social problems, and trace social trends, which by social engineering may hopefully be guided toward social goals formulated by social planning". (p. 173). Moore and Sheldon (124) are concerned with the use of social indicators for entry into the system to alter the magnitudes, speed or even direction of change in terms of explicit normative criteria. Senator Mondale (123) expects that the development of a social indicator system will provide information on the human conditions in our society allowing us to ward off social disasters and generally keep watch on the social processes in our nation and plan for its orderly development. He further expects a social indicator system to correct the current situation of a large amount of statistical

information that is incoherent in that it bears no readily apparent relationship to other data which has been collected. He expects, further, that a system of social accounts would seek to set up "performance budgets" in various areas to serve as a yardstick for measuring progress of improving the quality of life in this Nation. As such, a system of social auditing or accounting would serve the following purposes: (1) it would sharpen our quantitative knowledge of social needs, (2) it would allow us to measure more precisely our progress toward our social objectives, (3) it would help us to evaluate efforts at all levels of government, (4) it would help us to determine priorities among competing social programs, and (5) it would encourage the development and assessment of alternative courses without waiting until some one solution had been belatedly proven a failure.

Kamrany and Christakes (100) discuss the need for the development of adequate social indicators in order to measure the overall wellbeing of nations. And the United States Department of Health, Education, and Welfare (172), sees a social report with a set of social indicators as satisfying our curiousity about how well we are doing, improving public policy-making by giving social problems more visibility and thus making possible more informed judgments about national priorities and providing insight into how different measures of national well-being are changing, thereby ultimately making possible a better evaluation of what public programs are accomplishing.

Bauer (17) feels that the purpose of having a more adequate in-

formation system about man's state of affairs is to enable more rational action and provide the basis for closer coordination of actions on the part of various people. Bell (22) suggests that the idea of measuring social costs is an important dimension in the efforts to set up social indicators. A second source of interest in social indicators is reflected in the need to get an accurate "fix" on social trends in order to do useful social planning. Land (110) summarizes three recurring claims for social indicators: (1) social indicators can help evaluate specific programs, (2) develop a balance sheet or system of social accounts, and (3) set goals and priorities.

Sheldon and Freeman (156) take issue and challenge most of the claims made by the proponents of social indicators. They feel that there is a need to modulate the promises of the utility of indicators in ways to make them realistic. They feel that the social indicator movement can contribute to improved descriptive reporting, to the analysis of social change, and to the predictions of future social events in social life.

Several major themes permeate the indicator literature regarding their usefulness. They include: (1) improved descriptive reporting on the state of society, (2) the analysis of social trends and social change, (3) assessing the performance of society, (4) anticipating alternative social futures, and (5) social knowledge for societal control. These five themes, obviously have significant interdependencies. Unless there exists good descriptive reporting for the data base, it becomes extremely difficult to analyze trends and social

change, performance assessments yield questionable validity, it becomes almost impossible to anticipate societal futures, and the ability to exercise some measure of control over social processes becomes hopeless. To many observers, our society suffers from information overload, while simultaneously other observers claim we are desperately short of requisite information. Both points of view are probably correct (139).

Quality of life as a social goal

Wilcox and Klonglan (177) identify as one of the stages within the social indicator movement, the tendency to view social indicators as tools to monitor progress toward goals. This perspective has been expressed in two different ways in current literature; one way has been to focus on nationally articulated goals of a general nature (e.g. quality of life). Another expression of this approach has been to focus on the specific goals of agencies and programs (e.g. within education) and to generate indicators that are of direct normative interest to persons responsible for decision-making within these agencies.

Several writers in the field of social indicator research identify "quality of life" as a focus for model-building, definition, point of departure, and goals of social indicators. For these authors, the whole intent of the development of social indicators is to measure "quality of life" and to identify the variables within the social system that either contribute to or detract from the quality of life of

the general population or subgroups within the total population. Thus, Gross (80) in calling for a "real" state of the union message, directs that the President's annual report should not merely set forth a legislative program, it should deal with the quality of American life and our long-range national goals. The critical areas that he identifies as coming under the classification "quality of life" include freedom from discrimination, freedom for political and social participation, civil liberties and the administration of justice, employment and leisure, reduction of poverty, crime, delinquency and "social breakdown", the quality of the urban environment, and production of knowledge. "These important areas," he notes, "are either neglected in the economic report or, as with poverty and education, are treated in offhand, totally inadequate manner." (p. 9).

Olson (135) also presents a multi-faceted "quality of life" index that includes learning, the quality of our culture, the advance of science, the compatibility of our families, the liberties and democratic processes we cherish. Senate Bill S.843, The Full Opportunity and Social Accounting Act (154), reiterates this nation's policy to promote the general welfare "...and encourage such conditions as will give every American the opportunity to live in decency and dignity, and to provide a clear and precise picture of whether such conditions are promoted and encouraged in such areas as health, education and training, rehabilitation, housing, vocational opportunities, the arts and humanities..." (p. 975). Wilson (183) calls for a study of interregional differences in "quality of life" in the United States. He

identifies nine of the eleven domestic goal areas included in the Report of the President's Commission on National Goals published in 1960 as indicators of quality of life (141). Drewnowski (66) calls for indicators that measure the "level of living" but does not specify any variables.

Unlike the foregoing "social maximums" approach to quality of life, Corning's (54) identification is considerably less extensive. Corning says that "quality of life" is a single index - that of the survival chances of the species. And Krieger (108) suggests the use of "quality of life" as a dimension for indicating the state of our society. Like Corning, his concept is uni-dimensional and is identified as the quality of "friendship".

Wilcox and Klonglan (177) question the use of global and abstract measures such as "quality of life" as a conceptual framework for the development of a system of social indicators. They state that there is little doubt that "quality of life" is a universal goal of mankind. However, few, if any, human beings would agree on just what it is that constitutes quality of life. The previously cited definitions of the term bear out their argument. The implication is that the normative orientation and inherent inability to adequately specify the meaning of the term "quality of life" renders it relatively useless as a basis for delineating social indicators of high utility to public policy.

The Educational Policy Research Center (71) present the problems that occur when quality of life concepts and national goals form the

basis of research efforts. They attempted to array the data from <u>To-ward a Social Report</u> in such a way as to yield some sort of "social account" but found that it was impossible to assess where the nation or its segments stand in the attainment of these specified goals. The reasons for this situation, they state, are that the data come from highly disparate sources with no apparent common interpretation base, and that the data are presented in a highly aggregated form. As a result, it is difficult, if not impossible to arrive at a "level of attainment" measure for a given group, a typical citizen, or even for a social function.

Educational attainment as a variable in quality of life

There is considerable support for the idea that this country places a high value on education and the concept of an educated citizenry. An "education" is placed among the variables that contribute to quality of life by several writers.

The authors of <u>Toward a Social Report</u> (172) in their consideration of "generally accepted goals" include a chapter on learning, science and art. Concern for second- and third-order consequences extends to the area of education. For example, the way we structure our educational system will determine the kind of preparation future generations receive and also, to a substantial extent, will shape their attitudes toward the American system itself (173).

Kahn and Wiener (99) centralize the role of education in the basic trend of human society. In their section on education, they

state that the trend of increasing literacy and higher education has a relationship to all other trends in the country. Emphasis on education in the United States opens up possibilities for increased personal creativity and fulfillment, continued rapid economic growth, and perhaps even more important, that of peoples' vocation being interesting, intellectually demanding, and filled with non-monetary rewards. They point to the fact that there can be serious disadvantages as well as advantages in such a trend. "An overemphasis on education can result in shallow intellectualism, an overemphasis on 'book learning', an expansion and prolongation of the adolescent subculture, a meritocracy, excessive theorizing and intellectual parochialism, alienation from one's own culture or subculture, and other alienation from the practical world." (p. 64)

Unresolved problems in social indicator research

A variety of social and methodological problems in the development of social indicators can be identified. Duncan (67) directs attention to the problem of the measurement of social change in the absence of a social theory that provides an analytical framework and enables an understanding of the relationships between and among the items of data that are measured.

On the other hand, there are those who state that theory in the social sciences is rarely sufficient for complete and detailed specification regarding how to accomplish relevant measurements. Thus, many quantities now considered to be well measured became so only

as a result of a long process of trial and error which eventually led to the evolution of a measurement technic and ultimately a standardization of it, even in the absence of social theory. Bell (22) as an advocate of the latter position states that in his opinion those who have approached the problem of social reporting with the strongest theoretical presuppositions have possibly made the least impressive contribution thus far. Others, (177, 179) propose a more inductive approach to the measurement of social indicators which, while not ignoring macro-models, focuses on smaller social systems and upon more concrete conceptualizations of quality of life. Their idea is to work inductively towards larger, more generalized systems as methodological technics are improved. Their approach attempts the development of a system of indicators that provide a sounder empirical and methodological basis than is offered by more abstract discussions and macro-model approaches currently being undertaken.

Gross (83) points to the necessity and to the danger of using "surrogate" measures. Some phenomena cannot be directly quantified. We cannot make direct measures of human satisfactions or of the quality of certain intangible services. But we can get quantitative measures by using, what he calls "surrogates", that is, indirect indicators which serve as quantitative substitutes for, or representatives of, the phenomena we wish to measure. Thus, the price someone pays for something is a surrogate measure of human satisfaction and assumes that there is a linear relationship between the amount of

money spent and the magnitude of the need that is satisfied. Similarly the number of additional university students in a given year is a surrogate of increased educational output. Both these surrogate figures may be of some use. They may be often used and often misused. They will be misused whenever they are taken too seriously. Etzioni and Lehman (73) examine three problem areas surrounding measurement for social planning: fractional measurement, indirect measurement and formalistic-aggregative measurement of collective attributes (e.g. global versus individual characteristics of groups).

Vestermark (175) reflects that social indicators have never had a final, higher-order aggregate to which reference could be made in manipulating indicators. Further, he believes that the approach taken in the social indicator movement has, in fact, interfered with the development of an apical standard because the focus has not been on social problems in the general sense and on their integration and interdependency as problem sets, but rather on specific problems of housing, education, crime and pollution. The result, he states, is that the social indicators available are statistics about conditions and trends in these kind of problem areas.

Bell (22) identifies as a measurement problem within the development of social indicators, the lack of a single lineal social statistical measure by which changes in the state of society can be measured. He feels that until a single meaningful measure comparable to the economic dollar, can be found there is no way to aggregate or to compare activities within the social domain. Bauer (17) identifies

some of the forces that act against the expanded development of a system of social indicators. The first factor relates to the issue of personal privacy. There is concern over whether certain types of personal questions should be asked and whether observation and recording of their behavior are not an invasion of the individual's privacy. Added to this is the concern that the central accumulation of data about individuals may make it possible to control or to harm them.

Bauer's is not an uncommon concern. Sheldon (155) has phrased the question as "Who reports What to Whom, How and How Often, with What Intent and to What Effects?" (p. 429). The question of Who raises issues of public relations, invasion of privacy, and credibility. Social indicators can become an "involved third party" in instances where special interest groups are competing for the same resources. What makes reference to the argument about what are or what should be social indicators, social accounts, or social statistics. Minimally, Sheldon says, we must have quantitative statements about social conditions and social processes, repeatedly available through time, the reliability and validity of which are competently assessed to meet minimum standards. To Whom should the information be made available? According to Sheldon, materials and data should be available to the public, to the Congress, to the President, to social scientists, administrators, and technicians and to all interested persons and analysis and commentary from as many points of view as possible should be solicited. The question of How makes reference to the method of how reports are presented and more basi-

cally how they are developed in the first place. Sheldon thinks that since a great many social conditions and processes will warrant description and that most of these will deal with the distribution and characteristics of persons, families and organizations, the sample survey is likely to be the method of choice. According to Sheldon, the question of How Often tends to have a more or less "natural" answer when the phenomena being measured and the time scale on which it moves is considered. The rhythm of observation and of reporting need not be the same for all measures. Subjects such as crime, health and education require annual reports, while five or ten year cycles of observation may be adequate for other subjects, she believes. The intent of social indicators, according to Sheldon is to enlighten and inform in some broad sense rather than in some narrow operational sense and to provide specific criteria for decisions and evaluation of public programs. Answers to the question of the Effects of social reporting are not possible according to Sheldon. She recognizes that it is possible that social indicators could be used by those persons in power to further their power base. However, the total consequences of the activity cannot be predicted.

Nathan (128) thinks that the responsibility for cataloging our social and economic needs should be lodged with the federal government but planning and policy formation should shift from the national level to sectors and regions at lower levels of the social system. Others feel that it is the federal government's responsibility to provide for increased linkages between bodies of data now routinely

collected (133). This, of course, must go hand in hand with both federal and private efforts to develop the means for protection of privacy and access to data centers should not be allowed unless individual and institutional privacy can be protected. Bell (22) states that it is the role of government to set up a set of social indicators for measuring the performance of the society and in meeting social needs. The task of constructing social indicators is more appropriate to government in Bell's estimation, because the idea of a social report itself is oriented to public policy and necessarily to the evaluation of government programs. Finally, "the responsibility for a social report must effectively be lodged in the government because the government alone has the resources to maintain such a large scale effort and because only a government report sufficiently assured of its independence, has the authority to command attention and become the basis of policy" (22, p. 84).

Like Bell, Mondale (123) supports the idea that data collection and reporting regarding the social well-being of the nation should be lodged with the government. His recommendation is for the establishment of a Council of Social Advisors that would be charged with devising a system of social indicators, appraising government programs and advising the President on domestic social policy. The data from the Council of Social Advisors would in turn become the basis for an annual social report comparable to the economic report submitted by the President. Duncan (67) states that although it must be taken for granted that any substantial social report will rely heavily on

federal statistics and its preparation will require cooperation with federal statistical agencies, this circumstance is hardly decisive as far as the assignment of responsibility for compiling a social report is concerned.

The National Academy of Sciences, Social Science Research Council (129) recommends that legislation be passed to encourage the development of a social indicator system and that the federal government make an annual report on the social aspects of society. At the same time they propose that behavioral and social scientists outside the government begin to prepare the equivalent of an annual social report to the nation in order to identify and expedite work toward the solution of problems connected with the eventual preparation of such a report on an official basis.

Future objectives for social indicator research

A vast amount of the literature on social indicators reflects differing orientations regarding what the next steps in the social indicator movement should be. Sheldon (155) recommends "the development of testable, explanatory models, particularly at the subsystem level" (p. 421). Springer (161) argues that more complete knowledge of cause-effect relationships is needed before effective management of society can occur and before society's managers will be able to work out compromises between conflicting goals. He feels that social indicator models should be developed in line with models of democracy and rooted in a social science that has been developed to serve the needs of the poor as well as the rich and powerful.

Statements by the Social Science Research Council of the National Academy of Sciences (129) reflect that although present knowledge of social science technics and tools are not fully sufficient to the task of serving as a basis for more informed and enlightened forecasting and action, the way to improve knowledge and technical capacity is to make a start - to try out some indicators and to work at improving them. In their estimation, the question of what data will serve as indicators of what states of the social system must be resolved. Others suggest the need to clarify such concepts as "the dignity of the individual" and the need to attain concensus on what is meant by such a concept. Once agreement on the concept is reached, there is the problem of deciding what phenomena in the "real world" represents these abstractions so that measurements can be made.

Kamrany and Christakes (100) feel that the development of a measure of social accounts has been fragmented and restricted to identifying welfare measures. Further, he says, it suffers from lack of a conceptual and theoretical framework. The next step for him, therefore, is to develop social indicators that meet the necessary and sufficient criteria for a theoretical basis. As specific next steps, Kamrany identifies the following: (1) a definition of the quality of life, setting up standards and units of measurement, methods of measurement and developing strategies for the implementation of policies as well as an organizational framework necessary for such a process, (2) the design of an information system for such a social indicator, including data analysis and simulations, (3) the development of a methodology

to accurately estimate costs of the short-falls as well as the costs and anticipated benefits of actually fulfilling existing goals and standards, (4) the establishment of priorities between and among various indicators, (5) the development of a methodology to include qualitative factors into the system, (6) the development of a methodology to provide links between local and national interests, links between physical and non-physical characteristics, and links between specific and general indicators.

Perle (139) identifies the need for better descriptive reporting on the state of society and the necessity of a descriptive data base that is comprehensive, valid, meaningful, and forthcoming on a regular basis. As the most serious problem facing indicator research and utilization Perle centers upon conceptual requirements - what should be measured and why. Perle also feels that we need to redirect our concentration away from aggregative forms of analysis that span the nation. Such an emphasis, he says, has relatively little utility for application in any specific problem area. And finally, Perle states that in order to justifiably realize the promise of indicators, not only is it necessary to suggest apparently brilliant conceptual models, but also to empirically verify them.

Biderman (26) concludes that the only practical objective we can set for ourselves is to take the existing statistical series now available as a point of departure and seek to improve the existing system but at an accelerated rate. He takes a dim view of the possibility of introducing any master plan of social accounting as a unified

package. His contention is that it is only by a hard analytical look at the role of statistics in our society and a cold understanding of why they take the form they do as opposed to some ideal scheme can we proceed to a better system. Bauer (18) suggests the construction of a general information system that takes as its point of departure, the values, goals and features of society that we consider important in assessing the state and direction of society. While such a general system could conceivably miss certain specific impacts of any program, it would, nevertheless, reflect those we regard as important.

The Educational Policy Research Center (71) suggest a more fundamental approach to data collection efforts that over time would generate three levels of social analysis: descriptive social reporting which would eventually lead to the possibility of quantifiable projected social trending, and with the further input of validated systems models, to predictive social accounting. This is the trend they see as the future development of social indicators. Olson (135) feels that the full potential of social reporting requires not only more information but vastly better theories of cause-and-effect relationships as well. Although social reporting will not reach its full potential in the near future, Olson does not feel that initial attempts at it lack usefulness. Bell's (24) emphasis is on the empirical, emphasizing the possibility of attaining useful precise quantitative descriptions of change. He assumes that such descriptions would be accompanied by analysis and possibly by theoretical synthesis and interpretation. Although description without interpretation may

provide a contribution to the development of social indicators, he feels that interpretation without description is fantasy.

Social indicators_summarized

It is apparent that the direction of future research within the social indicator movement will be as varied in its emphases as has been the efforts during the past decade. The recent literature on social reporting shows that three attitudes are widespread: (1) dissatisfaction with the present state of the art in measuring social change, (2) appreciation of the appalling magnitude of the task of effecting significant improvement in that state, and (3) paralysis of our normal ability to take significant action (67). In relation to the last point, there is, according to Bell (24), apparently more interest in "talking about it" than in "doing it". The thrust of his memorandum is to suggest that there are things that are worth doing now, and that we know how to do. These efforts will clearly fall short of all our aspirations but they will bring us closer to our goals than will further exercises in pondering the nature of, or the philosophy surrounding social indicators.

Education in the United States

Past and current trends in education

The American people have set important national social goals to improve the quality of American **life**. The American ideology of equal social opportunities permeates the history of the growth of public education. The widespread belief that mobility may be achieved or status maintained through educational attainment is evident in sociological and political theory. Education is perceived as the social mechanism permitting "meritocracy" and ameliorating the inheritance of social position (162). Educational history in this country reflects the American commitment to the ideal of education for everyone and the conviction that an educated population is essential to an effective democracy, to freedom and to economic growth (45).

In 1960, the President's Commission on National Goals presented proposals and objectives for education for the next 10 to 15 years. The goals covered the entire range of educational interests and indicated the direction for government and private programs. Twenty-five goals and a number of subordinate objectives were specified. Some goals were specific and subject to measureable evaluation, other goals were less subject to numerical assessments. Wilson (182) verbalizes the American hope that public education might make a reality of the Alger legend and also enhance social harmony by a process of cultural homogenization and through the teaching of inter-group tolerance, understanding and respect.

The asserting that public education should promote equal <u>social</u> opportunity commands widespread assent. Coleman et al. (50) however, challenge much of the conventional wisdom of the educational establishment. His "Report" suggests that because inequalities in achievement exist along social class and racial lines, the American

schools are reinforcing social inequalities rather than alleviating them (48, 49). Hanushek and Kain (86) comment on the fact that the best known finding of the Report, that the quantity and quality of school inputs such as facilities, curriculum and personnel have little or no bearing on student achievement and that the home environment and the student's peers are really what count, has far reaching implications for educational policy and at the very least, raises serious questions about the efficacy of the billions of dollars now spent on public education.

The Coleman Report emerged on the American scene during the same period of time when several significant trends were occurring within higher education. These events include: vast increases in enrollments and an accompanying rise in expenditures for higher education (63), a decrease in federal money available to higher education, the expansion of state-wide regional and national planning efforts (35), and the "student movement". These events have caused questions to be raised about the basic values and practices of colleges and universities, have contributed to an increased visibility of higher education, and have resulted in an increased awareness on the part of the public regarding costs, practices and policies within higher education (116).

Education is regarded by some as the magic solution to all our problems in society and because of its known failures in its application to these problems, it has become the butt of criticism and suspicion. Dressel (63) believes that part of the problem in higher edu-

cation results from the varied expectations of general public. Prospective students expect the college or university to provide courses or programs for every interest and every ability; individuals, business, and communities expect institutions to provide them with consultation and services on a no-cost or marginal cost basis. The Federal government and its agencies view colleges and universities as a market from which to purchase research at cut-rate prices. On and off the campus, others would have the institutions of higher education enter into and resolve problems of racial discrimination, pollution, poverty, and over-population. Dressel goes on to say that these differing expectations are encouraged in turn by a lack of clarity among institutions regarding their goals and the goals of higher education generally. Institutions of higher education, collectively and individually, are unclear as to their social purposes.

Recognizing that significant changes are being generated in the American educational system in terms of people, expenditures, activities and innovations, Cohen (45) urges for the development of educational indicators that take into account the variety of goals as well as the changes in definitions and emphases of these goals. He feels that there is a need for both quantitative and qualitative data and that although some quantitative data exists, it discloses little regarding the quality of the educational system or its product. New indicators relating to educational opportunities, the quality of education and resultant human behavior are needed. Cohen's urgings, picked up by legislators and the general public resulted most recently in a demand for accountability of the part of higher education. Although

this demand for accountability produced a resistive reaction on the part of many educators, there is a growing awareness that if educators will not change education, politicians will (70). Institutions of higher education are coming to understand that it is far wiser to be a part of the process of evaluation of their institutions than to be left out of the process. The problems in the development of such an accountability system (or a system of educational indicators) are numerous. They begin with the state of the educational data currently available.

Educational data

The weakness of the data and the lack of reliable and agreed upon measures for the evaluation of higher education are cited by several writers. The literature also reveals that education and assessment means different things to different people. Much of the literature on educational assessment and evaluation is restricted to consideration of evaluation of instructional programs (150). Despite the abundance of other kinds of facts regarding education, they are not sufficiently useable in that they have not been selected or aggregated in manageable form (94). The data available is neither comprehensive nor dependable (170). We have reports on the numbers of schools, buildings, teachers, and pupils and about the money expended. But we do not have sound and adequate information on educational results (75, 170).

Coleman (47) points to the fact that educators have typically

focused on school <u>inputs</u> (per pupil expenditure, class size, teaching preparation, age of textbooks, laboratory facilities, library size, etc.) as measures of the quality of the institutions. While these criteria are ordinarily used in evaluating the quality of a school program, they are not the sole criteria, nor even the principal ones, in his estimation, that the customers of education are interested in. The public is concerned with the outputs of a school, primarily in the form of academic achievement.

Ostar (138) is also critical of this standard for defining institutional quality. He says that what we need is a redefinition of educational quality which focuses on the educational process not the accessories. He goes on to state that quality in education should be defined in terms of how well each institution measures up to its <u>own</u> goals and objectives and what kind of impact it makes on its <u>own</u> students and what kinds of contributions <u>its</u> graduates make to society.

In 1968 Francis Keppel, then Commissioner of Education, noted that the Office of Education was collecting a lot of information about schools but that the information was almost entirely in terms of "inputs" into education rather than outputs from education. To counter this trend the NAEP (National Assessment of Educational Progress) program was designed to assess all knowledges, skills, understandings, and attitudes acquired by students throughout the country as they proceed through the educational scene (184).

The notion that educational assessment revolves around assessing

the students (what they have learned, what level of attainment they have achieved) receives support from Ebel (68) and the APGA (American Personnel and Guidance Association (76). Tyler (170) focuses on educational assessment in terms of furnishing overall information about the educational attainments of large numbers of pupils rather than focusing on individual students, classrooms, schools, or school systems. And Keller's (102) definition of the effectiveness of an educational institution reflects the concept of "value added". For Keller, "effectiveness is a measure of how much a given discrete increment of factual or conceptual material is transferred or added to the student." (p. 81).

During the course of a research effort to devise and list systems for measuring activities in colleges and universities, the National Science Foundation (132) found that cumulative data specifically selected for the purpose of institutional evaluation and maintained over a long period of time in consistent form does not exist. Hough reports (92) that the primary problem in the study of undergraduate education is the lack of consistent and reliable measures of the quality of the outputs of higher education. No inter-institutional comparisons can be made regarding student outcome in relation to students who complete baccalaureate degrees, those who drop out, and those who go on to graduate school. Hawkridge and Chalupsky (90) during a study to identify, describe and analyze programs which have yielded measured benefits of cognitive achievement for disadvantaged children found that data relating to effectiveness of programs, although obtainable, was

scarcely trust-worthy. They report that time after time they were confronted with weak data which were based on after-the-fact evaluation and which had not been analyzed or interpreted adequately.

Ferris (75) states that using goals as the basis for interpreting trends makes social indicators of the educational system a necessary adjunct to educational planning and evaluation. Serious planning for the educational system should always be accompanied by the development and/or use of indicators measuring the degree to which the goals of the plan are achieved.

The concept of goal assessment as a focus for educational evaluation is also supported by Cammack (35). He suggests that a systematic information system could answer such questions such as how well has the institution performed the task it was created to perform? Have the graduates been successful? Is the institution filling both social and economic needs locally, regionally, and nationally? What has been the relationship between program development and costs? What is the history of students who have entered the institution and completed programs successfully? Have resources been allocated according to stated objectives? Have faculty resources been wisely utilized in extending the boundaries of the campus to serve its region? Has competition with other institutions caused wasteful duplication of services? The answers to these questions involve looking at variables such as student populations, the faculty and its characteristics, the educational programs, the physical plant, the sources of income, utilization of facilities, patterns of instruction, and class size.

The issue of educational goals requires further clarification if appropriate social indicators are to be developed for the system. Cohen (45) defines the broader, basic goals of education in terms of developing the individual to his greatest capacity, contributing to his enjoyment of life and widening the range of choices available to him (a "quality of life" concept). Society is thus provided with a politically active and responsible citizenry necessary for a lasting and effective democracy and a healthy economy. Among the more narrowly defined goals he includes the need to provide equality of educational opportunities to all of the nation's citizens and the need to improve the quality of education for all. The interpretation of goals such as Cohen's are varied and the methods for achieving them is a problem that continually arises in the form of identifying and providing "quality education".

According to Dressel (63), institutions need data about the costs of educational programs, the impact of various educational policies, the relationship of student characteristics to academic success, the utilization of space, the effects of administrative decisions, and especially the relationship of expenditures to results. The latter, he feels, can be used to establish institutional priorities rather than having departmental aspiration guide decisions in the allocation of resources.

Dressel's orientation toward evaluation of inputs and outputs and the relationship that exists between these two variables is reinforced by Ferris (75). Ferris is concerned with focusing on the behavior of the system rather than on the behavior of students. He

is concerned with measures of input of which he says we have very few; and measures of output, of which he says we know almost nothing; and measures of the interactions between the two. Ferris, however, adds another dimension to input/output measurements by pointing to the fact that statistical measures across time **n**ot only serve to identify changes in the variable being measured, but also serve to forecast future changes in another variable (e.g. a reduction in freshman enrollment forecasts future reductions in graduate student enrollment).

As the foregoing paragraphs point out, much of the literature related to educational assessment is restricted to inputs or measures of outputs that are related only to the final behavior of the student. Thorough assessment in education requires a broader view. This prospect is not without its problems since some authors are critical of attempts to apply the notion of outputs to education. Brandl (30), for example states that where there are conflicting views or theories of "what is" or "what should be", there can be no agreement on what are the relevant outputs. This, he says, is the situation that exists in education. There are different viewpoints and different theories regarding the educational process, there is no concensus regarding what the appropriate product is, and there is disagreement regarding exactly who does benefit from education. These different views suggest different outputs and who is to say that one viewpoint is correct.

Lelong (112) agrees that definition of the outputs of higher education is largely impossible in any final social or philosophical sense.

Even when there is an agreement on what the final outputs of education are or should be, the final results can rarely be measured quantitatively. Therefore, he says, in developing analytical models, outputs are typically stated in terms of proxies or surrogates which can be quantified and which are presumed to approximate, at least partially, more meaningful but elusive entities. Student credit hours, student contact hours, courses taught, degree awarded, and student years of education, have all been used as proxies for outputs of the instructional function.

The fundamental purpose of educational evaluation, according to Astin and Panos (7) is to produce information which may be used in educational decision-making, that is, those decisions regarding the continuation, termination, or modification of an existing program or the development or possible adoption of some new program. Viewed in this way, every administrative decision is based on the belief in the existence of a causal relationship between some educational objective and a particular means selected to achieve that objective. They recognize three distinct components of the educational system: student inputs (the talents, skills, aspiration, and other potentials for growth and learning that the student brings with him into the educational program), outputs (the ends or objectives of the educational programs, usually expressed at high levels of abstraction such as "the development of the capacity for critical thinking"), and operations (the characteristics of the educational program that are capable of affecting the relevant student outputs). These components, accord-

ing to the authors, inter-relate with each other and the goal of educational decision-making is to select those educational operations that are most likely to maximize the student's performance on the desired outcomes. Astin and Panos' components closely resemble Stake's (163) three evaluative components of antecedents, transactions, and outcomes and as Sutterfield remarks (166), this approach is based on a process that is becoming common within higher education.

Several writers note the need for information concerning educational "operations" and there is agreement that the information that is typically available regarding educational operations is of relatively limited value. A potentially more useful kind of information according to some, would be comparative data based on a comprehensive taxonomy of "education environments." (5, 55, 172). According to these authors, a taxonomy that includes information on operations would permit educators to view the particular set of educational operations within the context of other programs with similar objectives. From a larger perspective, the existence of objective, taxonomic information on several programs permits the educational planner to view the characteristics of an entire educational system in terms of its diversities and similarities and identify gaps in the system.

According to Astin (4), the matter of assessing the outputs of higher education involves two basic problems; that of defining and measuring the relevant output variables, and that of determining the <u>effects</u> of environmental and student output variables. In relation to the second point, Astin states that regardless of how appropriate-

ly the output variables are measured, no management information system is of much use unless the causal connections between environmental variables and output variables are known. Astin and Panos state that to acquire trustworthy judgments about these causal relationships it is first necessary to conduct longitudinal studies that incorporate data on student inputs, student outputs, and college environmental characteristics (8).

There appears to be a growing recognition that causal relationships exist not only between student characteristics and the outcomes of education, but also between the educational operations and the outcomes of education.

Balderson's emphasis (14) links the resources used (inputs) to the results achieved (outputs). Balderson feels that information regarding the outputs of education are required by national and state public policy-makers and resource allocators who are confronted with making major commitments of public funds to the various activities carried on by institutions of higher education. Trustees, presidents and academic decision-makers generally, and the faculty and students within the individual colleges and universities have a need for information pertinent to the decisions they face. Information regarding the outputs of education are also of benefit to the representatives of various public and private clienteles who feel that higher education has an impact on them. Examples of these publics include employers of the trained talent which come from colleges and universities, users of basic and applied research findings which grow from scholarly activity, citizens at large who as parents, taxpayers, and critics dis-

play a kind of fascinated ambivalence about the importance and also the hazards of higher education.

Enthoven (72) identifies the purposes in searching for output measures as: (1) aids in allocation decisions within the institution, (2) aids in evaluating the effectiveness of different teachers, teaching methods, or curriculae, and (3) at the state or national level, aids in broader allocation decisions between higher education and other public programs. Enthoven thus introduces the idea that at levels beyond the single institution, the allocation of resources must ultimately deal with the social values of alternative allocation of resources to a variety of programs for the public good.

In summary, accountability on the part of higher education is necessary to justify continued support from the public. Accountability involves the process of evaluating inputs, operations and outputs at the college or university level, at the system of education level, and at the societal level. It has been suggested that information systems are required to determine exactly what higher education has been doing and what it can be expected to contribute to this society's general quality of life in the future. Expression of this "total systems" point of view is provided by the National Science Foundation (132). The Foundation urges that recognition be given to the fact that information systems at all levels of education must be capable of being intermeshed and that these systems should, in turn, fit into the totality of the scientific community and other comparable communities.

The systems approach in higher education

Many efforts are being exerted in order to overcome the lack of relevant, consistent and accurate data regarding educational institutions. Management information and analysis systems designed to add a new dimension to decision-making (providing the power of fact and reality to the wishes and aspirations of the institution) are being created and tested across the country. It has in fact, become common to speak of information or data systems for higher education. Such references appear to stand for procedures and processes related to the collection of bits of information needed to maintain a highly complex organization such as a college or university (or a number of universities), and more importantly, through a process of analysis to discover reasons why the system operates as it does and the chief factors causing it to operate in such a manner.

The fact that the educational system, either in the form of an individual institution or as a nation-wide system, requires analysis and assessment has resulted in several trends typical in systems analysis. These are: (1) statements of the needs that require satisfaction, (2) definitions of the educational objectives which contribute to satisfaction of the needs, (3) definitions of the limiting constraints which the system must satisfy, (4) generation of many different alternative solutions, (5) selection of the best alternative, (6) implementation of selected alternatives, (7) thorough evaluations of the experimental system, and (8) feedback, upon which modifications are based. The systems approach is a way of looking

at a problem and a way of seeking solutions to it. It is limited to the extent the problem can be described and the ways in which the elements in the system may be manipulated (159). By many, systems analysis is seen as useful in examining higher education in order to ascertain where and how it can become both more efficient and more effective.

Carter (39) comments on the fact that although systems analysis is a useful procedure when applied to appropriate kinds of problems, its proponents advocate an almost universal applicability. According to Carter, the careful application of systems analysis leads to better understanding and a more disciplined approach to the solution of problems. But unless the context within which the problem is being approached is sufficiently flexible so that systems analysis can be applied well, it may not lead to any particularly valuable results. If it is not possible to identify needs, objectives, constraints and alternatives or to select or implement the best alternatives, then neither systems analysis nor any other technic can be particularly helpful in trying to solve educational problems. Systems analysts, many of whom have a background in economics, bring to this examination technics, language, and ideas which have been found useful in business and defense. Use of the typical cost-benefit variety of systems analysis of higher education, especially in its approaches to students and faculty, are clearly attempts to impose upon higher education, a concept of systems derived from studies in industry and the armed services (159).

Several writings reflect the direct application of economic principles to efficient allocation of resources in the educational sector. For example, the Research Program on Systems Analysis for Efficient Resource Allocation in Higher Education is developing a university Program, Planning and Budgeting System (PPBS). This model is a direct application of economic analysis to education and is designed to contribute to the efficient allocation of resources in higher education. The objectives of the PPBS project are: (1) to develop a conceptual approach to the definition of education objectives and to indicate how broad objectives may be translated into operational goals, (2) to develop an educational program structure which will provide a meaningful basis for planning, budget, and management of educational resources by focusing on the basic objectives of higher education, (3) to develop quantitative measures of program output, (4) to develop specific systems and procedures for the annual programming and budgeting process and to define the role of decision-makers at various levels in the process, (5) to provide a system for periodic review of programs in terms of actual and planned results, and (6) to develop procedures and approaches to the introduction of PPBS systems into institutions of higher learning. According to Judy (98) the study of existing planning and budgeting systems has been completed and some preliminary PPBS elements such as program structures, PPBS cycles and information systems have been developed.

Brandl (30) disagrees with the application of PPBS to educational institutions. Such a model is useful, he states, when objec-

tives or outputs are known and the organizational entity is motivated to maximize them. Economists can classify measures and maximize the outputs with which they deal. But, according to Brandl, economics is not much help in determing objectives or outputs and it is misleading in situations where objectives are not maximized. This is clearly the case in higher education where there are numerous competing viewpoints regarding what is going on. Brandl goes on to say that existing evaluation technics such as PPBS were designed for organizations with incentives to efficiently produce agreed-upon products. In contrast, the college and university is in many ways a non-organization where there is no agreement on the product, the independence of individual faculty members is highly valued, and there is no inherent push to maximize.

Hough (92) disagrees with Brandl and supports the use of indicators in education. He makes the assumption that institutions of higher learning are decision-makers in a fashion which makes them directly comparable to business firms whose operations reflect micro-economic theory. Because institutions of education possess clearly specifiable goals and instruments for attaining these goals, and because they operate in environments which constrain them, they are similar to the business and industrial operations in an economic sense. Further, according to Hough, the outputs of education can be viewed in a purely economic sense. That is, from the student's point of view, education will add to his economic rewards in terms of value added; from the public's point of view, educational outputs relate to the direct benefits to the public in terms of institutes, seminars,
training programs and making institutional facilities available to them; from the private industry point of view, educational outputs take the form of reliable sources of employees of a given quality as well as faculty consultants and physical facilities. These are the "production functions" of the educational realm. Thus, institutions of higher learning may be characterized as profit-maximizing institutions insofar as they may restrict their output, raise their prices (costs of admission) and return profits from tuition back into the organization.

Brown's (32) framework for evaluation of the outputs of education is based on the centrality of the notion that the institution acts as the environment through which the input (student) passes through to become an output. The objective of the environment is to add value to the input. The environment consists of human resources (e.g. faculty, administration), physical resources (e.g. buildings), tactics (e.g. teaching methods), and methods of relating resources to inputs (e.g. governance). According to Brown, the net value of the output equals the gross value of the output minus the gross value of the input. The similarity of his model to the Consumer Price Index reflects his economic orientation.

One of the problems with Brown's orientation and formula is its assumption that inputs are standardized. Unlike the area of economics, student inputs into the system are not equivalent to each other. It is known that the ability of different students and their final level of achievement is related to socio-economic variables, sex, race, and individual ability and motivation. These variables, as

well as previous academic experiences have to be taken into consideration when comparisons regarding student output is under consideration.

Model-building in education

Planning, according to Cammack (35) may be done without regard to fiscal implications or it may be focused almost entirely on resource requirements with little regard for the program aspects. There are dangers in either of these orientations. Planning that disregards the fiscal aspects of program development because it tends to be unrealistic, becomes an academic exercise. On the other hand, if the primary design of the plan is fiscal it can overlook program implications and thereby provide no means for innovation and/or future reevaluation. A composite approach in which some attempt is made to bring together the program delimitations and the fiscal projections are reflected in a variety of simulation models. These models provide a method for determining programmatic, fiscal and resource allocation decisions without actually committing the institution to the actuality of the experience.

By definition, a model is a representation of an object or system which is designed to look like or act like the real thing. One type of model typically used in education is the budget model which includes on the income side tuition, gifts and grants, endowments and other income. On the expense side would be instruction, library, administration and physical plant (166). Many colleges still use the budgeting model to decide resource allocation. This concept of

budget-as-planning method is fast becoming obsolete, however, because budgets consider only the fiscal aspects of a college university, the usual budget usually does not plan further ahead than one year, and the budgeting process is usually a cumbersome annual operation lacking the flexibility necessary for examination and comparison of alternatives (104).

Simulation models are often used to project the consequences of specific decisions for change as well as for situations where current trends and practices are simply extended. The use of the system is, however, only as good as the data and relationships that qo into it (166). A simulation model is a mathematical description of the interrelationships of the major functions and processes which occur within the various organizational entities of an institution. These models enable the administrator quickly and precisely to test the effect of change in key factors of a college or university and operation on overall institutional performance. The model can simulate present activities with all their existing facts and constraints or use estimated future facts to simulate future activities. Several large computer simulation models have been developed and there are three that were designed to be "universal" models applicable to a variety of institutions. The three major modeling systems available to colleges and universities are RRPM (Resource Requirement Prediction Model), CAMPUS (Comprehensive Analytical Methods for Planning and University/College Systems), and SEARCH (System for Evaluating Alternative Resource Commitments in Higher Education).

RRPM-1 is concerned primarily with simulating the costs of institutional programs in Higher Education. It is anticipated that later versions will deal with the simulation of the research and public service functions of higher education. According to Gulko and Hussain (85) the development of this system will greatly facilitate the planning and decision-making process although its actual implementation on college campuses will require prior decisions concerning costs of initial installation and maintenance. The cost has been estimated by the developers to run between \$10,000.00 and \$38,000.00 initially and between \$6,000.00 and \$15,000.00 per year for recurring costs. It seems apparent that the smaller college with a limited or non-existent data base and little or no currently available knowledgeable personnel for RRPM and with no computer at its institution will have the greater cost initially as well as on a continuing basis. Further, it appears that RRPM as it is currently constructed is most useful to those institutions which have a variable enrollment, with substantial projected increases (or decreases) in student enrollment, and in which instruction is the dominant activity (143).

CAMPUS (37) is a group of computer-based simulation models for educational institutions which predict resource requirements based on student enrollments at the institutional level, at the departmental level, and at the discipline level. CAMPUS is more flexible than many models in that the administrator can decide at what level of the institution's structure he wants to begin his simulation. The decision is a major one since if he begins his simulation at too high

a level, the model will not produce enough detailed information. However, if he begins at the level of specific courses and builds up a model of his college from there, the time, effort and expense required for the collecting and sorting of so much specific data makes such an application unfeasible (36). Lombus (115) reports that the CAMPUS VII program has provided his small college with more analysis at less cost than expected and has enabled the institution to make confident decisions about program cuts and new emphasis undertaken at a new time of great flex in local and national conditions.

The objective of SEARCH (153) is to give the management of a small college a tool for examining the implications of alternative policy decisions. The inputs of the model are highly aggregated, however. SEARCH can provide estimates of several macro-variables such as departments or majors that would be helpful in deciding on the initial allocation of resources. This model, however, can be quite useful to smaller schools where there is yet little or no formal planning.

Gulko and Hussain (85) comment on the fact that although a number of sophisticated simulation models for higher education have been developed, these models have not been widely implemented at operational levels within institutions of higher education for several pratical reasons. The fact that existing demands on the institution's staff and lack of significant resources for internal management application prevent any serious attempt at implementation of these models on the part of individual institutions. Further, simulation models in higher education are not sufficiently

proven at this time to warrant a level of confidence sufficient to persuade administrators to change their current methods of budgeting and planning.

A variety of other research and evaluation models have come into existence. These models were not developed with the intention that they would be universally applicable within institutions of higher education. Hopkins' (91) Cost Simulation Model (CSM) is based on the fact that students enrolled in one program area of an institution make demands on other departments' resources and that students in both departments make demands on college-wide resources (e.g. the library). His model reflects the linear function of system activity variables on resource requirement variables. His own conclusion is that the collection and processing of data for CSM requires a major investment of time and money on the part of the institution. Further, it is fairly easy to get wrong answers to seemingly welldefined questions by blind application of the model.

Reiner and Robinson (144) have developed and tested a modification of CUES (College and University Environment Scales) that corresponds to institutional statements as a method for gathering information regarding the extent to which the educational institution is achieving its goals. The staff at the Ohio State University Evaluation Center (166) has been engaged over the past several years, in efforts to advance the science of educational evaluation. Their model, CIPP (Content, Input, Process, and Product) identifies four kinds of evaluation parameters; content evaluation (to be used when a project is first being planned), input evaluation (the identification and assessment of relevant capabilities of the institution), process evaluation (as a method of providing periodic evaluation to project managers), and product evaluation (to determine the effectiveness of the project after it has run its full cycle). Worthen (185) comments that although this model is deceptively simple and manageable in theory, such an approach presents the evaluator with the task of making a selection of alternative actions for each decision based on a set of alternatives that are particular to that decision.

Huff (93) supports application of the "Student Flow" model developed by NCHEMS. This model, intended to be implemented once an institution knows its current program costs and outcomes, uses transitional probabilities to forecast the flow of students between majors from one year to the next. The limitations of this model relate to the fact that forecasting student demand is dependent on many uncontrolled social and student variables and unreliable student registration data may affect projections. Caldwell (34) provides a framework within which the concept of input evaluation (the assessment of inputs which an institution is willing or able to invest in order to realize certain outputs) might be viewed and suggests a systematic approach for implementing input evaluation. To end what he calls "impulsive development" and to enable the institution to withstand increasing pressures, Brien (31) advocates an administrative model incorporating a university-wide management information system.

Montor (122) points out that at present there is little information available as to how systems analysis is being used in academ-

ic institutions. Although it can be stated that there is some use, there is no systematic body of knowledge as to how systems analysis has been used and the degree of success achieved. She believes that among the needs of the educational community is a need for a system of transferring knowledge gained through institutional research at one campus to other campuses. In this way the almost total lack of unifying effort to make the results of improvements known to the academic world at large will be eliminated.

In his comments on the modeling exercises employed in higher education, Lelong (112) points out that these models are designed to make possible the optimum use of resources according to a set of carefully specified output objectives for one sector of the institution, or for the entire institution. Therefore, he says, modelbuilding assumes the ability to quantify the desired results of institutional activity at all levels of operation. It also assumes complete knowledge of the relationships between all resource inputs and desired outputs at each level. Further, these models depend upon relationships between inputs, outputs, and production function relationships in order to answer the specific "what if" questions asked of them. Yet knowledge of these input-output relationships depends upon accumulation over several years of vast amounts of empirical data describing actual college operations. Lelong suggests that resource allocation models and similar tools will find their greatest application at top administrative levels in large universities and at the state and national levels. At these levels resource allocation decisions usually refer to larger aggregates.

Models, therefore, can help define relationships among aggregate resource inputs and show the connection to aggregate outputs.

Other methods of educational evaluation and assessment

Other attempts to evaluate the institutions of higher learning include processes known as "institutional studies and surveys". Surveys and studies of higher education's needs and problems may be national, regional, or state-wide in scope or they may pertain only to institutions of a certain type such as liberal arts colleges, land-grant colleges, graduate schools, colleges of business, community colleges, or technical institutes. The studies vary in purpose and are sponsored by many different agencies. Some are primarily collections of statistical data on such items as faculty qualifications, student enrollments, faculty salaries, and student fees. Other studies are analytical in nature and still others focus on the effectiveness or efficiency of certain types of programs or on the adequacy of existing facilities and the need for new ones (95).

An institutional survey or study conducted by an outside agency or group is considered "complete" when it includes at least six of the following areas of investigation: enrollment, organization and administration, finance, programs, faculty physical plant and control and coordination (95).

In contrast to institutional surveys or studies conducted by agencies outside the institution itself, the institutional "selfstudy" refers to the completion of data by those persons directly associated with the institution (65). The purpose of institutional self-study or self-evaluation projects is the re-examination of the philosophy and objectives of the institution, the validation of existing policies and procedures, the improvement of an existing practice, and/or the institution of new practices.

The establishment of state-wide coordinating and governing boards has been based on the perceived need to establish standards among institutions of education. In 1970 there were 17 state governing boards and 27 state coordinating boards. These agencies in varying degrees, require and process data from institutions, review and approve budgets, review and approve new programs, and assign institutional roles.

Lelong (112) identifies two common approaches to resource analysis in higher education, trend analysis and comparative analysis. Trend analysis or time-series, portrays past and estimated future directions of individual variables such as enrollments, faculty members, appropriations, instructional space, budgets, and other operation characteristics. Typically included in trend analysis are pertinent ratios bearing on the deployment of resources such as student/ faculty ratios, space utilization statistics, student credit hours or classroom contact hours per full time equivalent faculty member, or educational and general dollars budgeted per full time equivalent student. A second common form of resource analysis deals not with self-comparisons over time, as does trend analysis, but with comparisons of inputs with outputs among similar units. According to Lelong (112), it usually makes more sense to compare chemistry departments, schools of music, or business administration programs with like units across institutions rather than with each other merely because they are part of the same institution. Again, enrollments, budget, faculty salaries and student/faculty ratios constitute frequent bases of comparative analysis. However, differences in objectives, programs, nature of the students, and nature of the facilities, place severe limitations on the validity and value of the comparisons made within and across institution. Only if the intent and bases of the comparison can be spelled out clearly, are comparitive studies likely to be useful in evaluations of resource utilization.

A problem with making comparisons across similar units is that it allows for the possiblity that information regarding consistent deficiencies in a particular program across institutions will never show up in the data, because the units will be equivalent to each other (e.g. if Career Development programs consistently receive less money than College Parallel programs, the data would show they are equivalent across institutions but would fail to reveal their lower priority).

Trend analysis and comparative analysis can be, and often are, combined and they sometimes point up subtle shifts in resource allocations. These types of analysis, however, exhibit the "sin of half truth"; they are incapable of telling the whole story. Lelong urges that some means of simplification enabling analysts and decision-makers to trace all the major variables of resource flow and resource productivity appears to be indispensable if we are going to improve both the utilization of resources and our capacity to explain

what is being accomplished in higher education.

Education summarized

The literature on educational assessment in the United States reveals a variety of efforts to specify the goals of education in terms that lend themselves to measurement and to establish costbenefits analyses (both economically and socially) regarding the outputs of education. Attempts to broaden the traditional focus on the inputs of the educational system have resulted in the development of a variety of information systems reflecting a systems analysis approach that includes both inputs and outputs. The models developed thus far are limited in applicability and informational value.

Most research related to determining educational benefits centers at the institutional level or at the education system level. There is little consideration of placing educational benefits within a broader social benefits perspective - one that recognizes the interrelationships that exist between that institution and societal activities of a non-educational emphasis.

The Community College

The roles and goals of the community college

The American goal of universal higher education, recently translated into the familiar phrase "equality of educational opportunity"

reflects the normative value that higher education holds in terms of quality of life for the American people. Universal higher education has specific relevance to the development of the community college system.

The community college is an outgrowth of the idea embodied by the junior college. This idea, conceptualized by William Rainey Harper, President of the University of Chicago was to offer out-ofuniversity programs consisting of two years of classwork beyond high school. Those students who successfully completed this work could be accepted by the University of Chicago at the third year college level. At its initial conception stage, the populations to be served (and not served) were essentially the same as those served by the university.

The ideal of providing universal education through the 14th grade, announced officially as a national goal by President Truman's Commission on Education in 1948 and reaffirmed ten years later by President Eisenhower's Committee on Education (114) and in 1964 by the National Commission on Technology, Automation and Economic Progress (131) created the impetus for the development of a unique type of institution. The community college emerged to meet the needs that other institutions could not or would not meet (114) and to respond to the cross-section of Americans who possess a wide spectrum of interests, aptitudes, backgrounds, aims, achievements, and cultural differences who were beginning to demand the exercise of their citizenship rights to higher education (56, 78).

The roles and goals of the community college have been specified by several national committees. In 1972 the American Association of Community and Junior Colleges (3) reaffirmed what has been their mission over the past several decades; to bring the concept of educational opportunity for all even closer to reality, to provide a broad spectrum of programs which will meet the individual needs of all people in the community, and to seek out potential students.

The statement by the National Advisory Committee on the Junior College (130) in 1964 reflects the idea that the community college program should not be so exclusively vocational that it shuts off the extension of cultural horizons or restricts adaptability to change on the part of any segment of the American population. The Committee stated that every two-year curriculum regardless of whether it is vocational in nature should include at least several basic courses in languages, arts, and social sciences in order to guard against "over-specialization" and to assure accommodation to societal changes on the part of the citizenry (130). Gleazer (78) supports the idea that an alternative between technical or general education should not be posed. The two should be interfused in the courses of study offered students. The Carnegie Commission (38) states that community colleges should be available within commuting distance to all persons, throughout their lives. The Commission defines community colleges as comprehensive institutions offering programs with academic occupational and general educational emphases. These institutions, in the opinion of the Commission, should remain relatively small

2-year institutions, should give the full support and status to occupational programs, should maintain an "open-door" policy for all high school graduates, should charge little or no tuition, should provide occupational and personal guidance, should be governed by local boards or at least have local advisory boards, and should be financially supported by federal, state and local governments.

Farris (74) and Roucche and Baker (148) emphasize the role of servicing the needs of students within the community college district. Because these needs are numerous, diverse and change with the changing patterns of the society, the 2-year college, according to Thornton (167) must continuously study the community to learn the educational needs of its constituency and provide courses of two years duration or less that will accomplish socially desirable results.

In 1973 there were 1,141 non-profit community colleges with a combined enrollment of 2.8 million students in the Fall of 1972 (51). Several authors reflect on the amazing growth and development of this unique institution within higher education (16, 56, 77, 88). Barbee (16) expressed the opinion that enrollment in community colleges will continue to skyrocket in the future and Ferris (75) notes that as at least a junior college education becomes more and more prevalent, information on 2-year college will be needed to a greater extent.

The vast array of the demands placed on the institution have served to blurr its image (60), and have prompted several writers

to speculate on the ability of community colleges to become in fact, open-door colleges (77). Moynihan's comments (127) reflect a lack of conviction that the community college will in fact accept the responsibility of providing universal higher education by providing the kinds of educational programs suitable for the heterogeneous population it is intended to serve. Corcoran (53) states that the primary beneficiaries of the community colleges have been middleclass students of average ability who seek an inexpensive and unpressured way to enter higher education or as an easy way to satisfy parental or peer expectations. He questions the belief expressed by the Carnegie Commission and others that by expansion of access to community colleges, the national goal of equal opportunity of education will be achieved. Cohen and Brawer (43) see many problems in the community college being "all things to all people" as it attempts to select those who will go on to 4-year colleges and universities, train workers for industry, maintain custody of young people for a few years beyond high school, and enhance the development of the general population. Cross (56) admits that some community colleges are simply weak copies of traditional higher education institutions and thus, have not broken out of the old mold of traditional higher education.

Supporters of the community college, its concepts and its goals are as numerous as critics. Harper (88) states that the majority of this country's community colleges have lived up to expectations in varied degrees. He states that the community colleges

have had a tremendous impact on the cities in which they are located in terms of meeting educational needs, providing cultural resources, contributing to the health of the economy, and improving inter-cultural relationships. The number of lives, he states, positively affected by the community colleges in these centers number in the millions. Lombardi (114) also states that there are indications that the community college has fulfilled its commitment to educational change. His rationale is based on a comparison of catalogs of 1946 with those of 1973 which reflect the tremendous changes in curricular offerings. And Medsker (117) states that the 2-year college is indeed performing its many functions and some are truly "all things to all people".

The community college as a system within a system

Commonality among community colleges allow it to be conceived of as a distinct system and examined as such. As Gleazer (78) points out: "An overview of community college activity throughout this nation shows the states using a variety of ways to organize and finance community college service. Although no national consensus is apparent, there is enough agreement to suggest a general profile of this ... institution ..." (p. 36). The common elements include: participation in the overall state educational plan, admittance to all students "who can benefit", charging little or no tuition, comprehensive programs, aid to uneducated students of post-high school age, and local control.

The specific program offerings are also well standardized. Community colleges exist to: provide a college parallel program for those wishing to transfer to 4-year institutions, provide a career program for those wishing to enter the job market, provide a program of counseling and guidance, provide a developmental program for those deficient in some academic areas, provide a broad program in adult education, and provide a broad program of community services.

Besides being a system in and of itself, the community college exists within the larger system of education and is both an actor and reactor to activities within that system. Clark's (41) examination of San Jose Junior College in California provides insight as to how this relationship operates. When the community college assumed prime responsibility for vocational education in the area, the vocational programs under high school administration needed to be redefined. Further, the existence of a 4-year institution within the region served by the community college affected, through its admission and retention policies, the number and kind of students that the community college received. If the 4-year institution lowered its entrance requirements or failed only a few students, it could immediately draw students from the community college. If it raised its standards of admission or failed large numbers of students, it could flood the community college with students. Thus, the presence of a 4-year college or university near a community college sharply affects the degree of control the community college has over its size, composition, and duration of its own student body.

The relationship of the community college to other institutions of higher education, is in many instances formalized. In 28 states the activities of the community college are coordinated to varying degrees by a state board responsible exclusively for community colleges within the state or responsible for all higher educational institutions. In five states, community colleges are coordinated or operated by the same board that is responsible for the state universities and in eight states coordination or control is achieved through staff services of the state education department (164).

The fact that the community college exists within the total social system and is influenced by societal pressures is reflected by Cohen (42). He states that community college goals are drawn from sources both extra- and intra-institutional. Whether programs are labeled liberal arts or general education, vocational preparation or community services, goals are influenced by board policies, social pressures, type of students, administrative orientation and a host of other factors. Thus the role and functions of the community colleges are determined normatively by the students, by the state, by the high school district, and the neighboring colleges and universities (41), as well as by a national political ideology.

Since the community college has become in a very short time a significant element on the social scene, it is necessary to determine if the system is fulfilling its promise. Ferris (75) calls for follow-up studies in order to provide a basis for decisions on curriculae and on the quality of instruction at the 2-year institutions.

He goes on to say that since the 2-year institution includes nondegree credit programs, information on the number of enrollees according to type of program could provide a basis for judging how adequate training facilities are relative to the need in industry. Similarily, the number of persons graduated with Arts degrees and the number certified as having completed technical and semi-professional training are needed. With approximately 30% of first-enrollments in 2year institutions, "feeder" relations of 2-year to 4-year institutions have been studied by Knoell and Medsker (105, 106, 107).

Some writers have advanced the idea of a systems approach to the evaluation of community colleges. The American Association of Community and Junior Colleges (3) recommends that community colleges commit themselves to developing management systems for deriving and using responsible, standardized data about resource allocation, how the college programs respond to student needs, and what happens to former students. Roucche and Baker (148) present an operational plan of action for accountability within the 2-year college. According to Barbee (16), the systems approach must be applied in order to meet the challenges of increased efficiency and effectiveness in establishing and meeting institutional goals. This approach will demand a clear definition of goals and objectives, a delineation of constraints, a description of measures for effectiveness, a synthesis of alternative solutions, the establishment of cost elements, cost-effectiveness analysis to establish trade-offs among alternative solutions, and continuing evaluation and feedback. This, he states, is a necessary

process for the solution of problems confronting community colleges now and in the future.

The community college summarized

The community college system shares some of the problems of the larger educational system. The expectations regarding the societal benefits received by the inception of the system are high and varied. Although many persons in the society have been affected by the emergence of the community college, identification and measurement of actual benefits derived has not been accomplished. Therefore, this educational subsystem is taken in this research project as a vehicle for attempting to apply social indicator concepts to the educational system.

Summary of Literature Reviewed

Literature from three sources has been presented. Several parallel efforts are occurring within the areas of social indicator research and education. Writers in these fields are concerned with the need to specify the roles and goals of our institutions and to establish methods of accountability for institutions and programs. In both areas the concept "quality of life" predominates as an ideal toward which institutional activities strive.

Model building based on a systems approach has been a significant activity in both social indicator and educational research. Both

areas have attempted to adapt an economic orientation and found it inappropriate. Both are confronted by a lack of overall theory to guide their actions. Both are attempting to provide a method for accountability and both are confronted with weak data that inhibits research toward that end.

The community college, as the embodiment of equal educational opportunity, ideally provides a route toward "quality of life" for American society. Methods for assessing its actual contribution in extending and broadening educational opportunity have not been determined, although the need has been specified.

The foregoing review presents the possibility that progress and developments in the social indicator movement could help the institution of education and its component branch, the community college, toward the solution of its problems related to evaluation and assessment of benefits derived. It also appears that communication between writers in the areas of education and social indicator research would enhance the efforts of both. The research presented here represents a first step in this direction.

A model has been designed which reflects a social indicator "quality of life" orientation, a hierarchal approach for depicting the interconnections between society's subsystems and a concern for delineating social states, defining social problems and tracing social trends. The model focuses on the educational sub-system of community colleges. It was designed as an instrument for examining the social benefits derived from the existence of community colleges

and is offered as a tool for monitoring that sub-system. The purpose of this research effort is to attempt to determine the feasibility of the model for such use by community college administrators and policy-makers at the local and national levels.

CHAPTER III. METHOD OF PROCEDURE

This section is divided into two parts. The first part presents the process of model construction and the rationale behind its development. The second part presents the procedures used for testing the model including rationale behind selections of variables examined.

The Model

Development of the model

The final form in which the model is presented (from the most abstract global level of social indicators to the lowest level of specific educational indicators) does not reflect the sequence of activity involved in its construction and development. Rather, a more inductive approach as recommended by Wilcox and Klonglan was used (177).

Initial development of the total model began with Figure #3 (Activities of the Community College) depicts the six program areas offered by community colleges. Figures #4 through #9 were developed at the second stage of the model-building effort. This step involved identifying those input and output variables significant to each of the program areas. The input items were fairly easy to determine since the majority of the educational assessment data involves these constructs. Most of the input items, although not all, reflect the data usually accumulated in studies on education. The development of the output variables required specification of significant and

measurable proxies for abstract educational goals such as "learning", "responsible citizenship", and "values".

The final step of the model-building effort involved the development of Figures #1 and #2 which depict the position of the institution of education within the "quality of life" hierarchy and the position of the community college within the educational system.

In its final form the total model reflects the "top-down" approach used by Becker and de Brigard (21). Each subsequently lower level acts as the apex for increasingly more restrictive hierarchies. The topmost level of the total model, "quality of life", reflects Gross's (82) "grand abstraction" level. Subsequent levels become less abstract and consequently lend themselves to measurement.

Beginning with Figure #4, the model specifies the input and output variables for each program area and reflects possible relationships between these variables within the single program area. This allows a variety of inputs into any one program area to be evaluated in terms of its impact on the outputs in that same area. The model does not graphically present the fact that variables in one program area may interact with variables from another program area since such a representation would be unduly cumbersome and difficult to understand. It is the intent that such interrelationships between program areas be accomplished by statistical procedures.

Rationale for the model

Figures #1 and #2 are included in the model in order to clearly show the total rationale behind the evaluation of community college



* From Becker and de Bregard's Taxonomy.

Figure 1: Position of Education in Explication of Quality of Life





Figure 2: Position of Community College within Educational Institution Schema



•



		Age	full-time
		Sex	full-time
	H. S. diploma	Race	full-time
		Soc-Ec Level	full-time
		Aae	full-time
E .		Sex	full-time
er tutio	Transfers from career	Race	full-time part-time
n Oth	programs	Soc-Ec Level	full-time part-time
fron thin]		Age	full-time
sfer	Turne Grue Grue	Sex	full-time part-time
gram	developmental	Race	full-time part-time
Du du	, programs	Soc-Ec Level	full-time part-time
		Age	full-time
		Sex	full-time part-time
Enrolled	G. E. D.	Race	full time part-time
		Soc-Ec Level	full-time part-time
	_	Age	full-time
;		Sex	full-time

	Number	G. E. D.		full time
	Enrolled		Race	- pant time
				full time
		4 4 	Soc-Ec Level	- navt time
				part-time
				full_time
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Age	- part-time
				full-time
		.	Sex	- part-time
		Iransfers from	+ D	full-time
	SC	other LL and	Касе	- part-time
		professional	Soo Followal	full-time
	intr	SCN001S	SOC-EC Level	- part-time
	s i i			
	e sister		Λαο	full-time
	L S		лус	part-time
Students	29		Sex	full-time
Students	÷ ř.	Transfers from	<u> </u>	- part-time
	6	4-year college	Race	full-time
		& university		<u>part-time</u>
			Soc-Ec Level	full-time
				- part-time
			٨	
			Age	
	Enrollment/Com	munity Ratio	Sex	
			Sac Ec Loval	
			SUL-LL LEVEL	
			۵ne	
-		• -	Sex	
	<u>% First Time E</u>	nrollment	- Race	
			Soc-Ec Level	
			0	full-time
			Age	- part-time
			1 Cov	full-time
	No. Jan Tam Tara	L	Sex	- part-time
	Number Employe	<u>a</u>	- Paco	full-time
	5		Nale	- part-time
			. No years teach	1 full-time
			ing experience	- part-time
	i		ing experience	C 1 1 1
) 		Age	tull-time
			,	- part-time
				tull_time

•

		Ane	full-time
		1	- part-time
		Sex	tuli-time
	Number Employed		part-time
	!	Race	TUII-Line
			part-time
	•	No. years teac	h- <u>nant time</u>
		ing experience	part-the
	• •		full_time
		Age	- nart_time
		3	full_time
		Sex	- nart-time
	Staff Retention	-	full-time
		Race	\rightarrow nart-time
			full-time
		No. years teac	h- part-time
		ing experience	
			full-time
		Age	bart-tire
		~	TT THE
	Level of Education	Sex	part-time
		0	full-time
÷		Касе	- part-time
			······································
		A cr o	full-time
		Age	part-time
		Sev	full-time
	Calaviac	JEX	- part-time
	Salaries	Paco	full-time
		Nace	- part-time
		No voars teac	h_ <u>full-time</u>
Faculty		ing experience	<u>part-time</u>
racurcy		ing experience	
1	·	Age	
	Teaching Assignments in	Sex	
	Other Program Areas	Race	·
		No. years teac	no
		experience	
2		High School	lun i vou o i i i i
		4-year college,	university
	Ivne Previous Experience	Student backdro	ouna only

SOC-EC Level

INPUTS

			лус	nart-time
				full-time
			Sex	- nart-time
	Salaries			full_t:::o
			Race	- nant time
				full time
			No. years teach	- nant time
Faculty			ing experience	- part-time
1	,		Arra	
			Aye	
	Teaching Assi	gnments in	Sex	
	Other Program	Areas	Race	
	,		No. years teach	110
			experience	
			High School	
			4-year college/	university
	Type Previous	Experience	Student backgro	ound only
			<u>Other CC/Jr. co</u>	llege
			Other than educ	ation
	Average Toach	ing load	Lecture	
·	Average reach		— Lab/Shop	
			Δαρ	full-time
	•		Age	— part-time
	Eaculty/Studou	at Patio	Sox	full-time
	Facur Ly/Stude		JEX	— part-time
			Pa co	full-time
			nale	— part-time
			(atudant)	full-time
			Age (student)	- part-time
				full-time
		T , , , 7	Sex (student)	- part-time
		Instrumental		full-time
		activities	Race (student)	- part-time
				full-time
			Soc-Ec Level	- part-time
	<u>Faculty/</u>	-	(student)	
	Student			
	Interaction		Age (student)	<u>full-time</u>
			I Ige (Seudene)	<u>- part-time</u>
:			Say (student)	full-time
		Non instrumental	JEA (Student)	- part-time
		non-mstrumental	Pace (student)	full-time

.

.

	Faculty/Stude	ent Ratio	Sex	<u>tull-time</u>
			Race	full-time - part-time
			Age (student)	full-time - part-time
		Instrumental	Sex (student)	- part-time full-time
		activities	Soc-Ec Level	<pre>- part-time full-time - part-time</pre>
	Faculty/ Student Interaction		(student)	full-time
•			Age (student) Sex (student)	part-time full-time
		Non-instrumental activities	Race (student)	full-time - part-time
			Soc-Ec Level (student)	- part-time
		Extent, Specific &	& Measureable Obje	ectives
Instructio	onal Methods	Extent, Self-pace Extent, Use of Aud Extent, Use of Led	dio-visual Aides	
		Extent, Action-ori	ented Experiences	5
:	Laboratories	Degree of access	Total time open Time segment ava per student	ilable
	Classrooms	Number Degree of access Location	-	
Facilities		% related books/%	students in Colle	ge Parailel
	Library	Degree of access	Total time open "Special" librari	PS

	Instructional Methods	Extent, Specific & Measureable Objectives of Curriculum Extent, Self-pace Extent, Use of Audio-visual Aides Extent, Use of Lecture Methods Extent, Action-oriented Experiences
, -	Laboratories	Number Total time open Degree of access Time segment available per student
	<u>Classrooms</u>	Number Degree of access - Location Size
	Library	% related books/% students in College Parallel Total time open Degree of accessSpecial" libraries
	Audio-Visual Aides	Variety Total time open Access Time segment available per student
• • £	Budget (Amount of Total Allotted for Program)	Salaries Equipment Books/Supplies Expenditure per pupil
	Curricular Offerings	Number of courses Time of day offered Correlation of courses with 4-year institutions
	Degree of Openess	Financial aides available full-time students part-time students Test scores required for enrollment
		Age <u>full-time</u> part-time full-time

... + timn

	Allotted for Program)	Expenditure per pupil			
	Curricular Offerings	Number of courses Time of day offered Correlation of courses with 4-year institutions			
,	Degree of Openess Test scores	des available <u>full-time students</u> part-time students required for enrollment			
C O		Age <u>full-time</u> part-time Sex <u>full-time</u>			
L L E	Enrollment/Completion Ratio Apply separate evaluations for: 1) students with H. S. diplomas	Race full-time			
E P	 2) students with G. E. D. 3) transfers from within institution 4) transfers from other 	Soc-Ec Level part-time			
A R A	institutions <u>College</u>	Age Sex Race Soc-Ec Level			
L L E	Application Ratio	Age Sex			
P R		Race Soc-Ec Level full-time			
O G R		Age part-time Sex part-time			
M	Initial GPA at 4-year Institution	Race full-time part-time Soc-Ec Level part-time			
		Age <u>full-time</u> part-time			
		Sex <u></u>			
R			College	Deee	
---	------------	------------------	------------------	--------------	-------------
А			1	Race	
L		Transfer/		SUL-EC LEVEI	
L		Application	n	Δαο	
E	н. Н	Ratio		Age	
L			, University		
Р				JUC-EC LEVET	
R					full time
0				Age	- nart-time
G	ŧ				full_time
R				Sex	
А		Initial GP/	at 1-year		full_time
М		Institutio	n a c + -y e a i	Race	- part-time
		This creative			full-time
				Soc-Ec Level	- part-time
					full-time
	5 5	:		Age	- part-time
				C	full-time
				Sex	- part-time
		Second Sess	Sion GPA at		full-time
	<u> </u>	4-year ins	stitution	Kale	— part-time
	₹ .			See Ee Lovel	full-time
				SUC-EC LEVEL	— part-time
		Transfer		Aaa	full-time
		Success		Age	— part-time
				S S S S	full-time
		Apply separate	One Year		— part-time
		evaluations for:	Une rear	P2 00	full-time
		1) students with		Race	— part-time
	:	H. S. diploma	Ŧ	Sec Ec Lovel	full-time
		2) students with		JUL-EL LEVET	- part-time
		G.E.D.	Į.		
		3) transfers	х 2	Λσο	full-time
	*	from within		Aye	- part-time
	:	institutions		Sov	full-time
		4) transfers	The straight	JEX	— part-time
		from other	Two years	D.c.o	full-time
	ļ.	institutions	non-graduate	Race	— part-time
-		: 1		Soc Ec Loval	full-time
				JUL-LL LEVEL	— part-time

;

	,			full time
			Soc-Eclevel	<u>run-trie</u>
				part-time
:	Turnefer			full_time
	<u>Iranstei</u>		Age	<u>iuni-cime</u>
	Success			part-time
			Sev	full-time
	Apply separate		Sex	part-time
	ovaluations for:	<u>Une Year</u>		full-time
			Race	nant time
	1) students with			parc-cime
	H. S. diploma		Soc Ec Level	<u>tull-time</u>
	2) students with		JUC-LC LEVEL	part-time
	G E D			
	2) therefore			full_time
	3) transfers		Age	Turr-crine
	trom within		·····	part-time
	institutions		Sov	full-time
t.	4) transfers	· -	JEX	- part-time
	from other	lwo years		full-time
	institutions	non-graduate	Race	nart-time
•	Institutions			full time
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Soc-Eclevel	<u>run-line</u>
			1 000 20 20101	part-time
		:		
	Length of			full-time
j.	time at 4-		Age	- nart_time
1	vear i n sti-		ę	full time
	tutions		Sex	- un - une
	caerons	Graduation from		<u>— part-time</u>
	•	A draudactor from	D.2.0.0	full-time
		4-year Institu-	Kace	part-time
OUTPUTS		tion		full_time
	_	τ.	Soc-Ec Level	novit time
				part-time
			A c o	full-time
			Aye	- part-time
				full_time
	:		Sex	nant time
		Graduate school		part-time
		ontry	Bace	tull-time
		enery	huce	— part-time
				full-time
			SOC-EC Level	- nart-time
				£
			Age	TUII-TIME
				- part-time
			Sav	full-time
			_Sex	part-time
		-+ 1 voan		full-time

٠

.

.

-		Soc-Ec Level	- nant timo
			part-time
			full_time
		Age	- nart-time
а.			full time
		Sex	nont time
	Graduate school	<u></u>	full time
	entry	Race	name time
	·		- part-time
		Soc-Ec Level	TUTT-Lime
			- part-time
			Cull time
		Age	Tull-time
			- part-time
		Sex	tull-time
			- part-time
	Final G. P. A. at 4-year	- Race	full-time
	Institution		- part-time
i I		Soc-Ec Level	<u>full-time</u>
			— part-time
		Ane	<u>tull-time</u>
	Louletu to Institution		<u> </u>
		Sev	full-time
		<u> </u>	<u> </u>
;		Race	<u>full-time</u>
		Nacc	<u> part-time</u>
		Soc-Ec Level	full-time
			<u> part-time</u>
Student	-		
Satisfac-		Ade	full-time
tion		nye I	— part-time
		Sov	full-time
	Detention/Envollment Datio	JEA	— part-time
		Paco	full-time
		Nale	— part-time
		Soc Ec Loval	full-time
		SUL-EL LEVEL	— part-time
			······································

	Age
Envollage	Sex
Linorrees	Race
	Soc-Ec Level
1	

Citizenship & Social

		SOC-EC LEVEI	nowt time
Studant		and a start of the	- part-time
Satisfac			full_time
tion		Age	nart-time
CION		ŧ	full-time
		Sex	part-time
Retention/Enr	ollment Ratio		full-time
		Race	part-time
			full-time
		Soc-Ec Level	- part-time
		Age	
	~	Sex	Fan an an Albert
	Enrollees	Race	haranda
	;	Soc-Ec Level	
Citizenship & Social			
Action Behaviors	-	Age	
	Graduatos &	Sex	
	"Drop outs"	Race	
	Drup-outs	Soc-Ec Level	·
		Age	
	Envollens	Sex	
	Enrollees	Race	
Deveti sination (Attendence		Soc-Ec Level	
in Othern Institutional			
Antivition		Age	
ACLIVITIES	Conductor 8	Sex	
	"Duon outo"	Race	
	urop-outs	Soc Ec Lovol	

Soc-Ec Level

Figure 4: College Parallel Program

2

.

	-	Age	full-time
•		PX	full-time
	Vocational		full-time
	1	Касе	part-time
		Soc-Ec Level	part-time
		Aco	_full-time
		Age	part-time
		Sex	- part-time
H. S. diplomas	Technical	Race	full-time
	1		full-time
		Soc-Ec Level	part-time
	;		full.time
		Age	part-time
	:	Sex	full-time
	Semi-		full_time
	professional	Race	part-time
		Soc-Ec Level	full-time
			par c-critic
		Age	full-time
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	full-time
	Vocational	Sex	- part-time
		Race	- part-time
		Soc-Eclevel	full-time
			- part-time
		Δαρ	full-time
			part-time
		Sex	part-time

. 1

1

	GED	Technical		- part-time
	<u>ч. с. U.</u>	reunnicai	Race	full-time
			nace	part-time
			Soc-Ec Level	<u>full-time</u>
				- part-time
				full time
			Age	- nart-time
	5		<u> </u>	full-time
		C	Sex	- part-time
		Seri-		full-time
	:	professional	Race	- part-time
			Soc-Eclevel	full-time
				- part-time
				C 33
	i -		Age	tull-time
Number	•			- part-time
' Enrolled	-		Sex	- nart-time
		Vocational	~ .	full-time
:			Race	- part-time
,			See Ee Lovel	full-time
			SUC-EC LEVEL	- part-time
÷			Age	<u>full-time</u>
				- part-time
			Sex	full-time
	Transfers	Technical		full time
	other CC &		Race	- nart-time
	professional			full-time
	schools		Soc-Ec Level	- part-time
				Normali ar marayan ay na giti nika ana ay ar ana a
			Age	full-time
			r nge	part-time
			Sex	full-time
		Seni-		+ part-time
N I		professional	Race	TUII-time
ĘÕ			1 5	full_time
l tro			Soc-Ec Level	part-time
Students 🖉 🛱				<u> </u>
fer			Ane	<u>full-time</u>
Ir Ir			<u></u>	part-time
ie -			Sev	tull-time

		t t				
		•			0	full-time
					Age	part-time
						full-time
				<u> </u>	Sex	- part-time
		•		<u>Serii -</u>		full-time
		S		protessional	Race	part-time
		EŌ				full-time
	,	lt.			Soc-Ec Level	- part-time
	Students	т <u></u> д				
	1 Judenus	t t				full-time
	;	ns			Age	- part-time
		I .				full-time
		ra			Sex	- nart-time
		다	t.	Vocational		full_time
		0			Race	nant time
	1 1	: :				full time
					.Soc-Ec Level	ull-lime
		r .				- part-time
		1				
	•	i	:		Aae	<u>tull-time</u>
					1	- part-time
	-	:	•		Sev	full-time
			Transford	Tochnical	JUN	— part-time
			from A yoon	rechnicar	+ Paco	full-time
			erola 4-year		nale	part-time
	- · ·		correges a		Con En Loval	full-time
	: .		university		SUC-EC LEVEL	- part-time
					N	full-time
					Age	- part-time
					6	full-time
	ł				Sex	part-time
	•			Semi-	~ _	full-time
	•			professional	Race	- part-time
	- 2 -					full_time
					<u>Soc-Ec Level</u>	- nart_time
	.					parentine
						full time
	:				Age	nart time
						full time
					Sex	- IUII-LIME
ZTH	:			Vocational		part-time
	•				Race	TUII-TIMe
	· · · ·					- part-time
					Soc-Eclevel	full-time
					JUL-LU LEVEI	- part-time

INPL

7	1) E'' A	
			Semi-		- part-time
•	·		nrofessional	Pace	full-time
			proressionar		<u> </u>
				Soc-Ec Level	full-time
	. *			JUC-LC LEVEL	part-time
	1			Λαο	full-time
				Age	— part-time
				Sov	full-time
			Vocational	JEX	— part-time
			vucacionar	- Pace	full-time
				RALE	— part-time
				Soc Ectoral	full-time
				JUC-LC LEVET	— part-time
				Λαο	full-time
				Aye	- part-time
				Sav	full-time
		Turnefore	Technical	JEX	— part-time
		ralling,	rechnical	2200	full-time
		correge		Adle	— part-time
		paratter		Sec Ec Loval	full-time
		program		JUL-LL LEVET	— part-time
				٥n۵	<u>full-time</u>
				Age	<u>— part-time</u>
				Sev	full-time
			Sori.	JEA	<u>— part-time</u>
	50		professional	Pace	full-time
	eg eg		DIOTESSTORAT		— part-time
	16			Soc-Fr Level	<u>full-time</u>
	ES			JUC-LC LCVCT	<u>— part-time</u>
	2 =				
	4. in			Age	full-time
	40			190	<u>- part-time</u>
	₹ e			Sex	full-time
	n S MB		Vocational	<u> </u>	<u>– part-time</u>
	er 5			Race	<u>full-time</u>
	F 2				— part-time
	d			Soc-Ec Level	<u>full-time</u>
	{ .			JUC-LC LEVET	<u>part-time</u>
		8 , 1		Δπο	full-time
	:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		nye	<u>- part-time</u>
				-	full-time

INPUTS

.

1

	m Other College	Seri- professional	Sex Race Soc-Ec Level	full-time part-time full-time part-time full-time part-time
	Transfers fro Program within	Vocational	Age Sex Race	full-time part-time full-time part-time full-time full-time full-time
	Transfers, develop- mental	Technical	Age Sex Race	full-time part-time full-time part-time full-time full-time part-time
	programs	Sori	Soc-Ec Level	full-time - part-time full-time full-time - part-time - part-time
		professional	Race Soc-Ec Level	full-time part-time full-time part-time
	Enrollment/Community Ratio	Age Sex Race Soc-Ec Level Age		
!	% First Time Enrollment	Sex Race Soc-Ec Level		

full-time

~

	Age	<u>full-time</u>
	1-190	- part-time
	Sev	full-time
Somi		- part-time
professional	Dana	full-time
	Kale	- part-time
	Sec Ec Loval	full-time
	JUL-EC LEVET	- part-time

		Enrollment/Community Ratio	Age Sex Race Soc-Ec Level	- - -
- 1	- - - - -	% First Time Enrollment	Age Sex Race Soc-Ec Level	- - -
		Number Employed	Age Sex	full-time part-time full-time part-time full-time
			No. years teach- ing experience	part-time full-time part-time
F :		Staff Retention	Age Sex Race No. years teach-	full-time full-time full-time full-time full-time full-time full-time full-time
• • • • •		Level of Education	Age Sex Race	full-time part-time full-time part-time full-time part-time

•

•

		No. years teach-	
		ing experience	- part-time
		-	
		lao	full-time
•	1	Ауе	- part-time
	2	Sau	full-time
	Ctoff Detention	Sex	- part-time
	Starr Recention	Page	full-time
		Kace .	- part-time
		No uppus topob	full-time
		NO. years teach-	- part-time
	;	ing experience	
			5. 77 Adm.
	•	Age	<u>tull-time</u>
	•		- part-time
	level of Education	Sex	tull-time
			+ part-time
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Race	full-time
	;		- part-time
Faculty		Ane	full-time
	•	1190	+ part-time
		Sex	full-time
	Salaries		<u>- part-time</u>
i i	Jararies	Race	full-time
		Nace	- part-time
	:	No years toach	full-time
	à.	NO. years Leach-	- part-time
		ing experience	
·		100	
2	1	Age	
,	Teaching Assignments in	Sex	
	Other Program Areas	Race	
•		no. years teach	ing experience
:			
		High School	
		4-year college/u	university
1	Type Previous Experience	Student backgrou	und only
		Other CC/Junior	college
		Other than education	ation
;			
	Auguage Teaching Load	Lecture	
с	Average reaching Luad	- Lab/Snop	
		and the second	
		A .	full-time
		Age	1 nart_time

3

í.

С

A R E E

R

Р R O G R A M

1 		: <u></u>	ng experience	part-time	
	Teaching Assignmen Other Program Are	nts in Feas	Age Sex Race No. years teac	hing experien	<u>ce</u>
	Type Previous Expe	erience	High School 4-year college Student backgr Other CC/Junio Other than edu	/university ound only r college cation	
	Average Teaching L	.oad	Lecture Lab/Snop		
	Faculty/Student Ra	atio	Age Sex Race	full-time part-time full-time part-time full-time part-time	
			Age Sex		full-time part-time full-time
	act	rumental livities	Race Soc-Ec I	_evel	full-time part-time full-time part-time
	Faculty/ Student Interaction		Age Sex		full-time part-time full-time
	<u>Non</u> act	instrumen ivities	tal Race	evel	full-time full-time full-time
					- part-time

1

С А R

E R

Ρ R 0 G R

A M S

Extent, Specific & Measureable Objectives of Curriculum



.



	Technical	When offered Number offered Level of obsolescence Amount of general education offered enrollees
Curricular Offerings	Semi-professional	When offered Number offered Level of obsolescence Amount of general education offered enrollees
	OJT_Experience	Nature Length - Variety Time of day offered
	√ocational	Salaries Equipment Books/Supplies Expenditure per pupil
Budget (Amount of Total Budget Al- lotted for Program	Technical	Salaries Equipment Books/Supplies Expenditure per pupil
- -	Semi-professional	Salaries Equipment Books/Supplies Expenditure per pupil
Degree of Openness	Financial Aid Test scores requir	Full-time students Part-time students ed
	Age	full-time part-time full-time

Enrollment/Completion Ratio

:

1

ξ.

Sex part-time

		Juluires
Budget (Amount of	Technical	Equipment
Total Budget Al- lotted for Program		Expenditure per pupil
		Salaries
	Semi-professional	Equipment
		Expenditure per pupil
	Financial Aid	
Degree of Openness	Test scores requir	red

	Age	full-time part-time
	Sex	full-time
Enrollment/Completion Ratio Breakdown according to:	Race	full-time part-time
two-year program	Soc-Ec Level	full-time part-time

		Age
	Vocational	Race
		Soc-Ec Level
OJT Success	Technical	Age Sex
Apply separate		Soc-Ec Level
evaluations for:		
1) Students with	*	Age
H. S. diploma		I Sex
2) Students with	Semi-professional	Race
G. E. D.		Soc-Ec Level
 3) Transfers from other 	er	
institutions		
4) Transfers from with	in	
institution		
		Age
	Duomotional	Sex
	Promocional	Race

* *		
	Vocational	Age Sex
		Soc-Ec Level
		Age
OJT Success	Technical	- Bace
Apply separate		Soc-Ec Level
1) Students with H. S. diploma	•	Age
2) Students with	Semi-professional	Race
G. E. D. 3) Transfers from oth	or	Soc-Ec Level
institutions		
A) Tunnefore from wit	hin	

4) Transfers from within institution

Å.

. . ر ۲۰۰۰

	Promotional		Age Sex Race Soc-Ec Level	
	Initial Salary	Y	Age Sex Race Soc-Ec Level	
Job Success Apply separate evaluations for graduates & non- graduates of the vocational, tech-	Length of Init Placement	tial	Age Sex Race Soc-Ec Level	Age
professional pro- grams		% emp same	loyed in area	Sex Race Soc-Ec Level
		% emp diff	loyed in erent area	Age Sex Race Soc-Ec Level

Age Cav



OUTPUTS

OUTPUTS '

	υίατως		
· •	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	naining in	Sex
		anning in	Race
		rerent area	Soc-Ec Level
			▶
			Age
		· · · ·	Sex
· ·	<u> </u>	litary service	Race
			Soc-Ec Level
			OUC LC LC/CI
	{		Δαρ
			i Sav
	🥰 un	nemployed	Daga
			- Race
			SOC-EC LEVEL
		Aae	
		Sex	
	Into College		
	' Parallel Program	Soc-Foller	
Educational		JUC-LC LC	
Continuation		Λ <u>α</u> ο	
		Age	
Apply separate	Into 4-Year	Dene	
2) Students with	Institution	Race	
I) Students with		SOC-EC LEV	<u>/e1</u>
H. S. dipioma	-		
2) Students with G. E	. D.		
 3) Transfers from other 	er		
institutions			
 4) Transfers from with 	ា រា	Age	
institution	Lovalty to	Sex	
	Loyarty to	Race	
	institution	Soc-Ec Lev	/el
Student	t		
Satisfaction	*	Age	
	Determent of the Constant of The second states	Sex	
•	Retention/Enrolime	nt Race	
	Ratio	Soc-Ec Lev	'el
· ·			
		Ane	
		Sex	
	Enrollees	Race	
		Sac Fe Lou	
		SUC-LC LEV	
Litizenship & Social	· •	N.a.s	
Action Behavior	:	Age	
•		, Sex	

evaluations for" 1) Students with H. S. diploma 2) Students with G. E 3) Transfers from othe	Institution . D. er	Soc-Ec Level
4) Transfers from with institution Student Satisfaction	hin Loyalty to Institution Retention/Enrollment Ratio	Age Sex Race Soc-Ec Level Age Sex Race Soc-Ec Level
<u>Citizenship & Social</u> Action Behavior	Enrollees Graduates & Drop-outs	Age Sex Race Soc-Ec Level Age Sex Race
Participation/ Attendance in Other Institutional Activities	Enrollees Graduates & Drop-outs	Age Sex Race Soc-Ec Level Age Sex Race

Figure 5: Career Programs

.

		Age	full-time
		Sex	full-time part-time
	H. S. diploma	Race	full-time part-time
		Soc-Ec Level	full-time part-time
		Age	full-time
		Sex	full-time part-time
	H. S. "drop-outs"	Race	full-time part-time
		Soc-Ec Level	full-time part-time
Number Enrolled		Age	full-time
		Sex	full-time part-time
	Transfers from other program within	Race	full-time part-time
	Institution	Soc-Ec Level	full-time — part-time
		Age	full-time - part-time
1 	Turne form other	Sex	full-time part-time
	CC or professional	Race	full-time part-time
	5010015	Soc-Ec Level	full-time - part-time
-	Aae		
1		<u>,</u>	

Students

1

•

	- 2 4 2		Sox	full-time
	Transfers from	other	JEX	<u>part-time</u>
	CC or professi	onal	Race	full-time
	schools	0		part-time
			Soc-Ec Level	rui,-time
	4			part-the
Students				
		Age		
	Favollmont/Community Datio	Sex	** <u>***********************************</u>	
	Enrorment/Community Racio	- Race		
		Soc-Ec	<u>Level</u>	
		A		
		Age		
	% First Time Enrollment	- Race		
		Soc-Ec	level	
		Age		
i i	Enrollment in Other	Sex		
	Institutional Programs	- Race		
	The croacterian area graine	Soc-Ec	Level	
				full time
		Age		- part-time
				full-time
		Sex		- part-time
,	Number Employed	- Daga		full-time
		Race		— part-time
		No ve	ars teaching	full-time
:		exper	ience	<u>part-time</u>
		-vine,		
		100		full-time
		Age		part-time
		Sex		full-time
	Teaching Assignments in			- part-time
	Other Program Areas	Race		TUIT-Lime
i	<u>.</u>			full_time
		No. ye	ars teaching	- part-time
		exper	ience	
				full_time
		Age		-inart-time
1				pur c-crine

4		HU. years counting	
i t		experience	<u>pure</u> ente
			E.I. Sime
-		Age	Tull-time
			full_time
?		Sex	- nart-time
	Teaching Assignments in		full-time
:	Other Program Areas	Race	- part-time
1 1 2 2			full-time
	· 1	No. years teaching	- part-time
		experience	
			full time
		Age	-i part_time
	4		full-time
		r Sex	- part-time
	Staff Retention	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	full-time
		Race	- part-time
			full-time
i		No. years teaching	part-time
		experience	
			full-time
		Age	- part-time
;			full-time
ł	Level of Education	Sex	part-time
		D aaa	full-time
		Kace	part-time
Faculty	:		
1	-	High school	
		4-year college/univer	sity
	Type Previous Experience	Student background on	ly
		Other junior college/	
	1 2	Uther than education	
			full time
		Age	I nant time
	;		full_time
- 		Sex	+ part-time
1	Salaries		full-time
: ;		Race	- part-time
:	;		full-time
	3 	No. years teaching	- part-time
		experience	

• ;

full-time

 <u> </u>	_	-	

- Faculty	1		F-4
racurcy	-	High school	
		A-vear college/univer	sity
,	Type Previous Experience	Student background or	
	Type rievious Experience	Other junion college/	
		Other Junior Correge/	
р •	:	Other than education	
			full time
	;	Age	TUTI-CIMe
			- part-time
		Sex	TUII-TIMe
н н	Salaries		- part-time
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Race	tull-time
	:		- part-time
		No years teaching	tull-time
:		experience	<u> </u>
		experience	
•	:		full_time
		Age	- nart-time
			full_time
1		Sex	-+ nart_time
4	Attitude Toward	_	full time
ļ	Developmental Program	Race	part time
			full time
		No. years teaching	nant time
1	1	experience	- part-time
		1 m -	• full-time
		Age	- part-time
	E	Sau	full-time
1	Faculty/Student Ratio	Sex	- part-time
			full-time
-		Касе	- part-time
!	i i		
			full-time
		Age (student)	part-time
1 1 1			full-time
	• · · · · · · •	Sex (student)	- part-time
	Instrumental		full-time
- -	activities	Race (student)	- part-time
			full-time
		Soc-Ec Level	- part-time
с - 7		(student)	purchase
	Faculty/		*
) 1	Student	Ago (student)	full-time
	Interaction	Aye (student)	- part-time

INPUTS





Salaries		
Budget (Amount of Tetal Equipment		
Budget (Allottod for Program) Books/Supplies		
Expenditure per	pupil	
Number of Cours	es	
Time of Day Off	ered	
Curricular Offerings Extent of "Curr	icular Overlap" (co-enroll-
ment in curric	ulum of another i	nstitution
program)		
	For full-time	students
Degree of Openness/Financial Aldes available	- For part-time	students
	L	
	۸ – .	full-time
	Age	- part-time
		full-time
	Sex	- part-time
Enrollment/Completion Ratio	D	full-time
	Касе	- part-time
		full-time
	Soc-Ec Level	- part-time
		and a fight of the second s
		full-time
	Age	part-time
		full-time
	Sex	- part-time
Transfer to College Parallel Program	_	full-time
	Race	- nart-time
		full-time
	Soc-Ec Level	- nart_time
		par c-criac
		full_time
	Age	nont time
		full time
	Sex	Turr-cime
Transfer to Career Developmental Program		- part-time
<u> </u>	Race	TUII-TIME
) <u></u>	- part-time
	Soc-Ec Level	TUII-TIME
		— part-time
		£
	Age	TUII-time
		<u>part-time</u>
	Sav	tull-time

50V

4

.

			Sex	rurr cinc
	Transfer to College Parallel	Transfer to College Parallel Program		
		·····	Race	tull-time
	1		Nuce	<u> </u>
,	• •		See Fe Lovel	full-time
			SOC-EC LEVEL	- part-time
	:			
				full_time
			Age	nant time
				par l-line
			Sex	TUII-time
	Transfer to Career Developmen	tal Program	}	— part-time
	Transfer to career beveropmen	cul i logi un	Paco	<u>full-time</u>
			Nace	part-time
			C	full-time
			SOC-EC Level	- part-time
				full_time
			Age	nant time
				full time
			Sex	<u>turi-time</u>
	Transfer to Other Professiona	1 School		- part-time
		Race	full-time	
			nucc	<u> </u>
			Sec Ec Loval	full-time
TC			, SUC-EC LEVET	- part-time
12				····
			_	full-time
			Age	- part-time
				full time
			Sex	rurr-time
i		Lovalty to		part-time
i		Institution	Race	TUII-time
				- part-time
1			Soc-Ec Level	full-time
1			JUL-LU LEVET	— part-time
	Student Satisfaction			
1	***************************************	-	8	full-time
		ł	Age	- part-time
i				full_time
		÷	Sex	nant time
1		Retention/		full time
		Enrollment Ratio	Race	turi-time
1				- part-time
			Soc-Ec Loval	full-time
•			JUL-LU LEVUI	part-time
1				
-10 QF U			Age	
{			, Sex	
1	Fnrolle	105 C		

OUTPUT

ŀ,

	•		· Sov	I ULI - CINC
		1	JEX	- part-time
		Loyalty to		full-time
		Institution	Race	- part-time
				full-time
			Soc-Ec Level	- nart-time
	Student Satisfaction			pure erne
	Student Satisfaction			full_time
		à	Age	- nart-time
				full time
		:	Sex	nont time
		Retention/		- par c-cime
I		Enrollment Ratio	Race	Turi-Lime
			·····	- part-time
			Soc-Eclevel	full-time
				- part-time
			Age	
1		Envolloos	Sex	
		r Linoriees	Race	
			Soc-Ec Leve	9]
	Citizenship Behavior			
		7	Age	
;			Sex	
į		Graduates & "Drop-outs"	Race	
ł			Soc-Ecleve	2]
ĺ		<i>'</i>	٩n	
			Sov	
i		Enrollees	Baco	
			Sac Ec Louis	<u>.</u>
	De tisinstian/	•	SUC-EC LEVE	<u></u>
Į	Participation/		A a a	
	Attendance in	•	Age	
	Institutional	Graduates & "Drop-outs"	Sex	
	Activities		Kace	
			Soc-Ec Leve	21

ŀ

Figure 6: Developmental Programs

i.

. •





•		- касе	
	1	Soc-Ec Level	
* :	:		
		Age	
		Sex	
_	% First Time Enrollment	Bace	
1		Sac Ec Loval	
1 1		SUC-LC LEVET	
•			
			£
		Age	Tull-time
• •			- part-time
:		Sex	full-time
	Number Employed	Jex	→ part-time
•	Rumber Emproyed	Pace	full-time
		Face	- part-time
1			full-time
•		No. years teach-	- nart-time
:		ing experience	pur o ornio
;	i f		
:		Age	full-time
		Aye	- part-time
	:		full-time
:	i	Sex	- part-time
	Staff Retention		full_time
		Race	- nart_time
			full_time
· • • • • •	; ;	No. years teach-	navt time
Faculty	2 4	ing experience	- part-time
	í	C	
		•	full-time
	1 1	Age	- part-time
- 1	1	· •	full-time
i	Level of Education	Sex	nart-time
4 4 4			full_time
•	: :	Race	nont time
	1		par c-cime
			C. 11
1 •		Age	<u>tull-time</u>
		<u></u>	part-time
		Sex	full-time
	Calamian		part-time
	Salaries	Daga	full-time
	• • •	касе	part-time
			full-time
		No. years teach-	+ part-time
	i	ina experience	

No. years teach-ing experience

• • •	•	Age		full-time
•	Level of Education	Sex		full-time
		Race		full-time part-time
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Age		full-time part-time
:	Salaries	Sex	- 	part-time
		Race		part-time
:		No. year ing expe	<u>rs teach-</u> erience	part-time
	Faculty/Student Ratio	Age Sex Race		
	, Teaching Assignment in Other Program Areas	Age Sex Race No. year	rs teachin	g experience
	Type Previous Experience	High Sch 4-year c Student Other CC Other th	nool ollege/un backgroun /Junior c nan educat	iversity d only ollege ion
-	Average Teaching Load	Shop/Lab Lecture)	
	Amount Interaction with "Dayt Staff"	ime	Administ Counselo College staff Career P staff Developm Program Communit	rators rs Parallel rogram ental staff y Service

INPUTS

1

.

A D U

T



	Instrumental activities	Race (student) Soc-Ec Level (student)
Student Interaction	Non-instrumental activities	Age (student) Sex (student) Race (student) Soc-Ec Level (student)
Instructional Methods	Extent, Specifi Objectives of C Extent, Self-pa Extent, Use of Extent, Use of Extent, Action-	c & Measureable urriculum ce Audio-Visual Aides Lecture Method oriented Experience
	Library Bookstore	Hours of operation Extent of facilities open
	Food Service	Vending Non-vending
Availability of "Evening Hours" Services & Facilities	Physical Educat Facilities	on Extent of facilities available
	Admissions/Finar Counseling Servi	ces Extent Type
"Evening Hours" Outreach	Type of Offerir Tocation in Dis	gs trict
Budget (Amount of Total B Allotted for Prog	udget	Salaries Equipment Books/supplies Expenditure per pupil

0 N

٠.

	1		IUUU ULIVIUL		+ Non-venaing
	:	Ausilshility of "Evening	1		han an a
	1 1 1	Hours" Services &			Hours of operation
		Facilities	Physical Educa Facilities	tion	Extent of facilities available
			Adminations /Fin	omoial Air	
		: 1.	Admissions/Fin	ancial Alc	162
			Counseling Ser	vices	Extent
	÷		Turne of Office		
	•	"Evening Hours" Outreach	Location in D	istrict	
	•	• • •			
				Salaries	
		Budget (Amount of Total E	Budget	- Books/su	it Ipplies
	:	Allotted for Proc	gram)	Expendit	ure per pupil
	: :		Extent, Libera	1 Arts Cur	riculum
		Curriculum	Extent, Career	Developme	ent Curriculum
			Extent, "Leisu	re-time" C	urriculum
				Aao	
	• • •	Dogrees Awarded		Sex	
	• • •	Degrees Awarucu		- Race Soc-Ec L	evel
	1 			<u> </u>	
				Age Sex	
	;	Job Promotions			ovol
•	-			JUC-EC L	<u>CYCI</u>
				Age	
		Initial Career Placements	5	Race	
				Soc-Ec L	evel

	4 5		JUL-LU LLILI
	1 -		Age
	lat Duamations		Sex
	JOD Promotions		- Race
			Soc-Ec Level
	<u>.</u>		·····
			Age
			Sex
	Initial Lareer Pl	acements	Race
			Soc-Ec Level
	· · ·		
AUTDUTC			Age
UUIPUIS			Sex
	Citizenship & Social Action		- Race
	Benavior		Soc-Ec Level
	T		
			Age
		To have a high free man	Sex
	Development of New Interest Groups		Race
			Soc-Ec Level
ļ			Age
4 1 1	Dentioinstion Att	andance in Other	Sex
ġ	Participation-Acc	tivition	Race
ļ	Institutional AC	LIVILIES	Soc-Ec Level
			Age
			Sex
			Race
1		Institution	Soc-Ec Level
-	Student		
•.	Satisfaction		Age
		Detention (Envollment	Sex
		Recention/Enroliment	Race
		Katio	Soc-Ec Level




С

0

M M

U

Ν

Tv



С

0

M M

U

Ν

¥

S

R

Ε

S

	Lico of On Compus	1	SOC-EC Level
	Escilitios		
	racificies		Age
		Meeting	Sex
		Rooms	Race
		•	Soc-Ec Level
	2) •		
	(Age
	1 1 1	Athletic	Sex
	!	Facilities	Race
			Soc-Ec Level
OUTPUTS	1 1 1		
······································			Age
	Community Attenday	200 2+	Sex
	College Activiti		Race
	Correge Activitie	22	Soc-Ec Level
			Age
	Use of Outreach Fa	acilities	Sex
	by Community		Race
			Soc-Ec Level
			Age
	Use of Outreach Pi	rograms	Sex .
	by Community		Race
			Soc-Ec Level
			Age
	"Influence" Attemp	<u>ts Made</u>	Sex
	by Community		Race
			Soc-Ec Level
		-	.
	Involvement in Com	<u>Type of Inv</u>	volvement
	munity Problem So	u- Number of	statt involved
	tions	Level of St	LATT INVOIVED



			Age	full-time
	Profess	ional	Sex	full-time
		Tonur	Race	<pre>+ part-time full-time + part-time</pre>
Number Employed			Age	full-time part-time
	Para-pr	ofessional	Sex	full-time
			Race	full-time - part-time
Staff/Student Ratio			Professi	onal
			Para-pro	fessional
				Age
•		College	Parallel	Sex
		students		Race
i i		- - -		SOC-EC LEVEL
				Age
		Career P	rogram	Sex
		students		Race
		l		Soc-Ec Level
activ	nental ities			Age
		Developm	ental	Sex
		Program		Race
		students		Soc-Ec Level
				Age
1		Adult Ed	ucation	Sex
1		students		Race
				Soc-Ec Level
Staff/				
Student				
Interaction				_



Aae

	1		students		касе
	1				Soc-Ec Level
	* ,	Instrumental			
		activities	·		Age
	с. С.		Developmenta	1	Sex
			Program		Race
			students		Soc-Ec Level
		•			
			1		Age
		ł	Adult Educat	ion	Sex
		4 4	students		Race
	1	é			Soc-Ec Level
	Staff/				
	Student				
	Interaction				
	li l				Age
	1		College Para	11e1	Sex
	· ·		students		Pace
	•	:	•		Soc-Ec Level
		i	:		
	:				Age
			Career Progr	am	Sex
			students		Race
	1	Non instrumon	1		Soc-Ec Level
		tol antivition	÷		
		Lat activities	Davalanmanta	1	Age
C+-++			, Deveropmenta	i	Sex
Stall			students		- Race
•			SLUUCILS		Soc-Ec Level
			•		Age
			Adult Educat	ion	Sex
			students		Race
					Soc-Ec Level
		· ·			
			Age		
		Professional	Sex		
•			Race	<u> </u>	
·		:	No.	years	experience
	Staff		-		
	Retention	.	Age		······································
		Para-professiona	1 Sex		
			Race	2	

1 1	Age
Adult Education	Sex
students	Race
	Soc-Ec Level



G

Knowledge of transfer requirements to 4 year institutions



Careal Counceling

G U I		Level of "Currency"	<pre>Knowledge of transfer require- ments to 4 year institutions</pre>
A N C E			<pre>Knowledge of current occupa- tional trends and require- ments</pre>
& C O U N S E L I N G		Student Orientation Testing Educational Placement Job Placement General Counseling	Duration Nature Frequency Type Result-sharing with students
	Services	Financial Aid Follow-up Hours of Operation Consultation with Facult Veterans Affairs	
	Amount of Non-	-counseling Assignments	Recruitment Teaching Discipline
	Facilities	Amount of Space Type of Space Centrality Within Instit Ease of Student Access	ution
:			, ,

	Extent of Services	Student Activities Financial Aid Follow-up Hours of Operation Consultation with Fau Veterans Affairs	culty	
	Amount of Non-cour	seling Assignments	Recruit Teaching Discipli	ne
	Facilities	Amount of Space Type of Space Centrality Within Ins Ease of Student Acces	stitution SS	
	Students Seen Per	Academic Year	Orientation Testing Educational Place Job Placement General Counselin Student Activitie Financial Aids	ment g s
Λιιτριιτς			College Parallel	Age Sex Race
		% Completion fof Program	Career	Age Sex Race Soc-Ec Level
			Developmental	Race

Ψ.



Figure 9: Guidance and Courseling

outputs. This research effort attempts to apply suggestions made by Land (111) thereby expanding the usual orientation for evaluation and assessment in education. The approach taken here places the costs and contributions of the community college within the total societal schema. That is, although the activity of evaluating institutions and systems of education is not unique, the consequences of findings derived from this type of research is intended to take on more significance.

There has been to this researcher's knowledge no attempt to specifically apply social indicator concepts to any subsystem within the educational system, nor for that matter, to the institution of education per se. The decision to select the community college as the initial linkage is based on the fact that community colleges possess what few other educational institutions do - a clearly stated purpose and specified goals that can be measured at the national. institutional, and programmatic level. This fact is seen to be significant since most writers indicate that specified goal statements are prerequisites for the development of any systems analysis effort. Thus, the stated goals of the community college, as presented in Figure #3, form the basis for the remainder of the model. The second reason for selecting the community college as the institution for study is based on the widespread agreement that this institution is specifically designed to contribute to the overall "quality of life" of this country.

The model was developed with the idea that assessment of the

overall community college goals as well as specific program goals is possible by use of the variables presented. For example, the accessibility of the institution for all persons is part of the college's <u>raison d'etre</u>. A measure of accessibility is reflected in the variable "enrollment/community ratio" which compares the total college district population in terms of age, sex, race, and socioeconomic status with the student population along the same dimensions. Since it is possible that only one program area in the college is made "accessible" to all members of the community, enrollment/community ratios are included for all the six program areas, thus allowing for evaluation regarding the extent of the "open-door".

Evaluation of the overall community college goal of providing a "comprehensive program" can be effected by comparisons between programs within the same institution on such input variables as faculty salaries and the amount and type of facilities allocated to the different program areas. Information sought in this regard attempts to determine whether a single institution (or whether community colleges across the country) are emphasizing one program area to the detriment of another or whether institutional commitment is consistent across all program areas.

The model contains variables often used in other evaluative and descriptive studies of educational institution (as well as variables not so commonly used). This strategy has been adapted in order to clarify that the application of social indicator concepts adds new meaning to the traditional accumulation of educational data. Appli-

cation of the social indicator concept allows a traditional educational statistic to be conceived of as either an input variable, an output variable, or both an input and an output variable. For example, a student entering the College Parallel program of a community college is an input variable to that institution and to that program. The student transfer to a 4-year institution is an output variable for the community college and an input variable for the 4-year institution. Other inputs into the community college such as the student/faculty ratio are thought to affect the nature of the community college output. Thus the student/faculty ratio provides an example wherein one input variable (the students) interacts with another input variable (the faculty) to produce an output (graduate) of a particular quality. Further, the application of social indicator concepts imposes a prediction and systems approach to educational data collection that is necessary for a meaningful national accounting system.

The purpose of the model is to discover those output variables that directly and indirectly relate to specific input variables. Once these relationships are established, it is possible at both the local and national level to predict and to manipulate desired outcomes of the institution or the system. Since it is unknown at this point which variables interrelate, it is probable that many of the input and output variables included in this model will have no relationship to each other. The purpose of testing the model is to determine if in fact, the predicted relationships do exist.

As a final point, recognition must be given regarding the normative nature of the model. Arguments in anticipation of this cri-

ticism have been previously offered in this paper. It is sufficient here only to point out that the community college system <u>is</u> well established in this country. The further decisions to continue, discontinue or change the stated goals or methods of operation of the system snould be responsibly based on an evaluation of whether the goals as currently stated are being met. If the goals are being met, the next step would be to determine if their effect coordinates with the goals of other educational subsystems and whether the combined effect of the total system of education contributes to the national goal for achievement.

The model as presented is an attempt to provide such an evaluation system. This research effort is conceived as a starting point.

Testing the Model

The college programs to be studied

The two program areas of College Parallel and Career Development have been selected as the focus of this research. These programs have been selected from the six areas depicted in Figure #3 because a major portion of institutional resources are directed toward their development and maintenance. Further, since the colleges selected for study began operation during the base year of this study (1968) or immediately prior to that year, it was expected that these programs would be more completely developed than the other four program areas and would therefore be more adequate sources for data collection.

Hypotheses to be tested

Four major hypotheses regarding the model as a useful instrument for determining social benefits derived from community college programs were presented in Chapter I. The viability of the model will be evaluated indirectly by testing a series of sub-hypotheses directly related to each major hypothesis. Since test of the model involves use of the null hypothesis, the major hypotheses are restated here in that form, as are the sub-hypotheses associated with them

<u>Major Ho. 1</u> The model presented is not a feasible tool for visualizing direct input-output relationships between those resource variables going into specific program areas of a single community college and the results coming out of that program area.

To test this major hypothesis, the following sub-hypotheses will be tested:

- Ho. 1.1 There is no significant relationship between student/faculty ratios in the College Parallel and Career Development programs and the number of students who complete these programs.
- Ho. 1.2 There is no significant relationship between student/faculty ratios in the College Parallel programs and the number of students who apply from College Parallel programs to 4-year institutions.
- Ho. 1.3 There is no significant relationship between student/faculty ratios in College Parallel programs and the number of students who transfer to 4-year institutions.
- Ho. 1.4 There is no significant relationship between student/faculty ratios in College Parallel programs and the length of time students from College Parallel programs remain at 4-year institutions.
- Ho. 1.5 There is no significant relationship between student/faculty ratios in Career Development programs and the type of initial job placement of Career

Development students.

Ho. 1.6 There is no significant relationship between student/faculty ratios in Career Development programs and the type of current job placement of Career Development students.

The variable of student/faculty ratio represents a traditional input measure offered by educators as criteria for determining the quality of an educational program. It is generally accepted that the lower the student/faculty ratio, the better the education offered. Program completion rates represent often-used output criteria for the value of educational programs. Since the intent of the College Parallel program is to prepare students for transfer to 4-year institutions, the number of students who apply and transfer to these institutions, and the length of time students remain at these institutions represent significant measure of the college as a "feeder" institution. Job placement, both initial and current, constitute output measures of the benefits derived by both the student and the community from the career **tra**ining offered at the community college.

<u>Major Ho. 2</u> The model is ineffective as a tool for evaluating the extent and direction in which community college goals are being achieved at the community college district level.

To test this major hypothesis, the following sub-hypotheses will be tested:

Ho. 2.1 There is no significant difference in the age, sex, race, and socio-economic distribution of students enrolled in College Parallel programs and the age, sex, race, and socio-economic distribution of the community college district.

Ho. 2.2 There is no significant difference in the age, sex, race, and socio-economic distribution of students enrolled in Career Development programs and the age, sex, race, and socio-economic distribution of the community college district.

This hypothesis attempts to determine the extent of college program accessibility to the various sub-groups residing in the community college district. Age, sex, race and socio-economic level are commonly used parameters for classification of sub-populations and community totals along these lines are readily available.

<u>Major Ho. 3</u> The model is not an effective tool for determining if institutional emphasis on a single program exists at the local college level.

To test this major hypothesis, the following sub-hypotheses will be tested:

- Ho. 3.1 There is no significant difference in the age, sex, race, and socio-economic status and number of high school graduates of students enrolled in College Parallel programs and the age, sex, race, socioeconomic status and number of high school graduates of students enrolled in Career Development programs.
- Ho. 3.2 There is no significant difference in the student/ faculty ratios of College Parallel programs and the student/faculty ratios of Career Development programs.
- Ho. 3.3 There is no significant difference in the salaries received by faculty in College Parallel programs and the salaries received by faculty in Career Development programs.

The quality of the inputs allocated to each program area provides the focus of these hypotheses. Differences in the amount and quality of resources (either student or faculty) directed into each of the program areas may provide reasons for findings that reflect differences between the outputs of these programs.

<u>Major Ho. 4</u> The model presented is not a useful tool for evaluating the extent and direction to which community college goals are being achieved at the national level.

To test this major hypothesis, the following sub-hypotheses will be tested:

- Ho. 4.1 There is no significant difference among the three institutions in the age, sex, race, and socio-eco-nomic status of students enrolled in College Paral-lel programs.
- Ho. 4.2 There is no significant difference among the three institutions in the age, sex, race, and socio-eco-nomic status of students enrolled in Career Devel-opment programs.
- Ho. 4.3 There is no significant difference among the three institutions in the age, sex, race, and socio-eco-nomic status of students transferring to 4-year institutions from College Parallel programs.
- Ho. 4.4 There is no significant difference among the three institutions in the age, sex, race, and socio-eco-nomic status of Career Development students currently holding jobs in the field in which they were trained.

The purpose behind these hypotheses is to determine whether the generalized statements being offered regarding the inputs and outputs of community colleges across the nation are based on similarities among the colleges. To this end, several of the parameters involved in assessing relationships that exist within individual institutions in previous hypotheses are used to determine the existence commonalities among the three colleges.

The base year

The Fall semester of 1968 was selected as a base year. Selection of this year allows a student sufficient time to enroll as a freshman in the College Parallel program at a community college, follow a program of full-time enrollment from the community college to a 4-year institution and graduate from that institution at the end of the Spring session, 1972. Since the literature (106, 107) reveals that the community college transfer students often suffer a "setback" upon transfer to a 4-year institution, thus delaying the "normal progression sequence" of a 4-year college education, an additional year was added to the anticipated date of graduation. If some students enrolled in 1968 did progress at a slower pace and graduate from the 4-year institution any time during the 1972-73 school year, the data necessary for this research would still be available. Allowing sufficient time for College Parallel students to transfer and graduate from a 4-year institution also allows enough time for a student enrolled in a Career Development program to graduate and enter the labor market. Thus, data necessary for evaluating the outputs of this program area would also be available.

Sample selection

Selection of the student sample posed somewhat of a problem because of the large differences in the enrollments of the three schools involved. The method of systematic sampling was utilized. Forty full-time students (students enrolled in 12 or more hours) from each

of the two program areas of College Parallel and Career Development from each of the three institutions was drawn for a total student sample size of 240. A student was included in the sample if he or she was enrolled in 12 or more hours at the third week of the semester regardless of whether the student reduced his or her course-load during the semester and thereby lost full-time student status.

A faculty sample was also selected from each institution. A faculty member was included in the sample if he or she taught half-time or more in either the College Parallel or Career Development program.

Collection of data

Collection of data required site visits to each institution by the researcher. Prior to visiting the colleges, two data sheets were developed, one for students and one for faculty, in order to facilitate and guide data collection (see Appendix).

The student data sheet is divided into three sections: the first is a general section that applies to all students enrolled in the college, the second section (items #14 through #16) applies to those students who were enrolled in the College Parallel program. The third section (items #17 through #21) applies to those students enrolled in the Career Development program. Although item #5 of the student data sheet is labeled SES (socio-economic status) its reference in this study is only to the sources of financial assistance available to the student during his or her enrollment at the community college. It is recognized that this information provides only an <u>indication</u> of socioeconomic status and does not completely reflect the intent of the variable as presented in the model.

Data for item #1 through #13 were obtained from information in the students' official record held by the college (with the exception of items #5 and #11). The remainder of the data sheet was completed through telephone conversations between the researcher and, in most instances, the parent of the student. The method of telephone survey was used in order to derive 100% sample return from a small sample rather than to base findings on a large sample n with fewer data returns.

Data on faculty included information on the age, sex, race, salary and teaching assignment. These data were also obtained at the time of the site visit. Information regarding the populations served by the community college was obtained from the 1970 Census Report.

Treatment of the Data

The various statistical treatments used in this study are dictated by the nature and extent of the data collected. Only two program areas at three institutions are under consideration. Part of the information sought relates to a comparison between college district populations and college enrollments. In these instances, the chi square goodness of fit test is applied using the .05 confidence level. In other instances, comparisons between the two program areas within a single institution and comparisons of college programs among the

three colleges are the focus on investigation. In these instances the chi square test of independence at the .05 level of confidence is used. The only exception to this procedure occurs in the analysis of faculty salaries. Data were, in this case, transferred to keypunched IBM cards and tests were computed for the .05 level of confidence.

In some instances the data do not lend themselves to statistical analysis and the data are therefore presented in the form of histograms and frequency counts.

An attempt will be made in this study to determine if a significant relationship exists between the following input and output items: student/faculty ratios in the College Parallel program and the number of students in that program that apply and transfer to 4-year institutions and the length they stay at the receiving institution; student/ faculty ratios in the Career Development programs and the number of students in that program whose initial and current job placement is consistent with their training at the community college. The model will be judged as a useful tool if such relationships can be shown to exist, e.g. if higher student/faculty ratios are related to lower completion rates, lower transfer rates, fewer graduates from 4-year institutions, and fewer instances where initial and current job placement are consistent with college training.

Further an attempt will be made to determine if the enrollment in either or both the College Parallel and Career Development programs reflect the community college district population in terms of age,

race, and socio-economic level. The model will be judged as a viable tool for determining the extent and direction of community college benefits if such comparisons can be made.

Comparisons of the age, sex, race, socio-economic and previous educational level of students enrolled in College Parallel and Career Development programs as well as salary levels of faculty in each program area allow for determining if the model contains useful variables for pointing out the existence of program area emphasis within individual colleges.

The above comparisons reflect an orientation toward "within college" evaluation. Analysis of selected input and output variables across the three institutions in order to determine if similarities and differences among community colleges can be made visible by use of model parameters. If such comparisons can be made, the model will be considered an adequate tool for estimating differential achievement of community college goals at the national level.

CHAPTER IV. FINDINGS

The report of the findings of this research is arranged into two major sections; the first section includes general descriptive data on the three colleges as they existed in the Fall of 1968; the second section includes the data and their analysis. The sequence of data analysis follows the order in which the major hypotheses were presented in Chapter I. In each instance the major hypothesis and the related sub-hypotheses are presented. The relevant data are presented, followed by concluding remarks regarding the major hypothesis under consideration at that point.

ì

There are two broad aspects to the findings of this study. They reflect the two major categories of scientific investigation, generating hypotheses and testing hypotheses. The findings related to the first major hypotheses are concerned with the generation of hypotheses. Specifically, the data analysis related to this major hypothesis is concerned with determining whether trends can be established between the effect of an input variable (student/faculty ratio) on several output variables. The existence of trends would provide the basis for generating more specific hypotheses and for more rigorous study involving many colleges or involving time-series studies on a few colleges.

Major hypotheses 2, 3, and 4 represent the scientific category of testing hypotheses. Parametric and non-parametric statistics are used to reject or fail to reject the major and

sub-hypotheses.

General Descriptive Data

Harper College

William Rainey Harper Community College district is located in Cooke and Lake counties, Illinois. The college serves the townships of Elk Grove, Wheeling Palantine, Schaumberg, Barrington, and Cuba. The college opened its doors for the first time in September, 1967. During its first year of operation, classes were held in two high schools located within ten miles of each other and within fifteen miles of its present location. In the Fall of 1968, another high school was added and for that year, classes were held in these three high schools from 4:30 p.m. until 10:30 p.m. Monday through Thursday.

In the Fall of 1968, the student population numbered 3,735. Approximately half the students were enrolled full-time. Many of the students enrolled at Harper College were transfer students from 4-year colleges and universities and often enrolled at Harper on academic probation from their original school.

Harper Community College reflects the orientation of a 4-year institution to a greater degree than any of the three community colleges visited by this researcher. The cover of its 1968 catalogue is titled "William Rainey Harper <u>College</u>" (emphasis mine) and the sweatshirts available for sale in the bookstore in 1973 are printed "Harper College". The faculty hold the same ranks as found at 4-year institutions (instructor, assistant professor, associate professor, and professor) and are referred to by their rank. The college has three tuition schedules; residents (students living within the college district) paid \$8.00 per semester hour in 1968, non-residents (students residing in Illinois but outside the college district) paid \$43.50 per semester hour, and out-of-state students paid \$55.00 per semester hour. The 1968 application fee was \$10.00, the activity fee was \$10.00, the graduation fee was \$10.00, laboratory fees were \$5.00, a late registration fee was \$5.00, and the charge to change a course was \$3.00.

Harper College in 1968 (as well as today) offered three degrees: the Associate in Arts (A.A.), the Associate in Science (A.S.), and the Associate in Applied Science (A.A.S.). The A.A. and A.S. degrees are primarily for students desiring to transfer to 4-year institutions. The A.A.S. is primarily for those in two year career programs. A non-degree Certification Program also offered training for job entry. Graduation requirements were well-specified: a minimum of 60 semester hours of credit, a minimum grade point of 2.0, two hours of credit in physical education, satisfactory completion of Political Science 201, a math standard score of 14 or higher on the ACT test, enrollment at Harper College during the semester in which graduation requirements are completed, and fulfillment of the "degree group requirements" consisted of Communication Skills, Social Sciences, Science or Mathematics, and Humanities. Every student enrolled in one of the degree programs listed above had to complete at least six hours from each of the first two groups, eight hours from the third

group (A.S. degree candidates had to complete 20 semester hours from this group), and at least six hours in the fourth group.

In 1968 the college offered fourteen degree programs in the vocational area, two certificate programs and college parallel courses in eight areas of study including business, education, engineering, humanities, medicine, natural sciences, mathematics, and social sciences.

Harper College currently occupies a several acre site in Palantine township. The master plan, devised in 1968, calls for a total of twelve buildings and 10,000 students by 1975.

Cuyahoga Community College (Tri-C)

Cuyahoga Community College is made up of two campuses, the Metropolitan Campus which is located in the St. Vincent area of downtown Cleveland (and which is the focus of this study) and the Western Campus located in the Parma-Parma Heights area. The Metro campus began occupying its facilities in the Fall of 1968. The total enrollment for the college for the Fall quarter of 1968 was 14,889. Of these, 9,894 students were enrolled at the Metro Campus. Approximately 33% of the students were enrolled on a full-time basis (this is a considerably lower percentage than the other two colleges visited).

Two degree programs were offered at Tri-C; an Associate in Science (A.S.) and an Associate in Arts (A.A.). Unlike Harper College, the A.S. is not intended as a college transfer program. It is com-

parable to Harper's Associate in Applied Science degree and is intended to prepare students to enter the labor market directly upon graduation from the college.

Unlike the other two colleges visited, Tri-C's emphasis appears to be (at least in terms of academic offerings) in the area of Career Development. Within the A.S. degree program, twenty-one vocationaltechnological majors were offered in 1968. The offerings included a degree in building construction, dental hygiene, electrical-electronic technology, fire technology, industrial supervision, law enforcement, library technology, mechanical technology, medical assisting, nursery school assisting, nursing, and business. Within the business curriculum there were ten areas of specialization from a degree in business with a concentration in accounting to a degree in business with a concentration in wholesaling. Tri-C has by far, the most developed and extensive Career Development program of the three colleges visited by this researcher.

The College Parallel program was not as extensive as at the other colleges in this study. Four university parallel majors were offered in business administration, arts and sciences, engineering, and education.

Tri-C considers itself a comprehensive community college and states that there are requirements within the arts and sciences curriculum for Career Development students. However, the requirements are rather "loose" and are not specified in the student catalogue.

Another distinction between Tri-C and the other two schools

visited is the attendance record of the students enrolled. Tri-C is definitely an "easy in - easy out" institution. The students at Marshalltown and Harper were usually enrolled in consecutive semesters or quarters until graduation. If they left the college prior to graduation, they usually did not return. Students at Tri-C, however, maintain a sporadic attendance rate. In 1968, for example only 50% of the enrollment was classified as "continuing students", 40% of the students were new that year, and 10% were classified as "returning students". As a consequence, it takes the "average" Tri-C student three years to graduate.

Marshalltown Community College

In the Spring of 1966, Marshalltown Community College broadened its goals and objectives from its original founding purpose to include vocational and technical education, student personnel services, community services, and vocational education for persons who have academic, socio-economic or other handicaps. It was at this point that the college became a "community college". Marshalltown Community College is part of a state system of community colleges and vocational-technical institutes. It is one of two institutions of higher education in Merged Area VI Community College District in Iowa. Area VI includes twenty-two high school districts within Hardin, Marshall, Poweshiek, and Tama counties. It serves students whose residences are within Area VI as well as outside the Area. Its facilities and programs are most readily accessible to the students

of Marshalltown and the surrounding area of a 35 mile radius, thus a large portion of the student body comes from this central Iowa area.

Marshalltown Community College offers three degree programs: an Associate in Arts (A.A.), an Associate in Science (A.S.), and an Associate in Applied Science (A.A.S.) and non-degree Certificate Programs in dental assisting, auto mechanics, machine trades, and clerical training. The A.A. and A.S. degree programs are designed as College Parallel; the A.A.S. and Certificate programs are considered career programs.

The Fall 1968 enrollment was 1,148. Eighty-six percent of the student body was enrolled as full-time students. All but 100 of the students were enrolled in the College Parallel programs. Of the 100 students in Career Development programs, 61 were enrolled in the A.A.S. programs and 39 were enrolled in the Certificate programs. Most of the students enrolled in the Fall of 1968 were first-year students, 68% of the students were residents of Area VI, 31% of the student body came from outside the area.

Students enrolled in the A.A. program were required to complete thirty hours of general studies, students enrolled in the A.S. programs were required to complete seventeen hours of general studies, and students enrolled in the Certificate programs had no general studies requirements.

The facilities used by Marshalltown Community College consisted of six buildings, three of which comprised the "main campus" and three

which were considered "off campus". One of the off-campus buildings, the Vocational-Technical Building, housed the programs offered in the A.A.S. and Certificate programs. This separation of facilities served to separate the student body population on the basis of curriculum. This situation will soon be remedied. In 1968, 200 acres of land was purchased south of Marshalltown for a new campus. As of 1973, facilities have been built to house the vocational-technical programs. The college administration plans to move the rest of the student body to that site within the next year.

Admission to college

According to Harper's 1968 student catalogue, all high school graduates were eligible for admission. Non-graduates 18 years of age or over could be admitted if they "demonstrate the capacity and maturity to benefit from the program". Admission to Cuyahoga Community College was open to all high school graduates as well as to nonhigh school graduates who were 21 years of age or older who were able to "demonstrate capability of college level performance". Persons under 21 years of age who had not completed high school were generally not considered eligible for admission to Tri-C. Students seeking an A.A. degree or an A.S. degree from Marshalltown were required to meet essentially the same entrance requirements as those in other institutions of higher education in the state of Iowa. For unconditional admission, a student must have graduated from an accredited high school. Persons beyond the age of compulsory high school attendance who did not have a high school diploma could apply for conditional

admission to this regular program or could be admitted to the "basic skills" program. Any person beyond the age of compulsory school attendance could be admitted to a non-transfer training course regardless of whether or not she or he held a high school diploma.

Data Analysis

Major Ho. 1

The model presented is not a feasible tool for visualizing the existence of relationships between those resource variables going into specific program areas of a single community college (inputs), and the results coming out of that program area (outputs).

To test this major hypothesis, the following sub-hypotheses were tested:

- Ho. 1.1 There is no relationship between student/ faculty ratios in the College Parallel and Career Development programs and the number of students who complete these programs.
- Ho. 1.2 There is no relationship between student/ faculty ratios in College Parallel programs and the number of students who apply from College Parallel programs to 4-year institutions.
- Ho. 1.3 There is no relationship between student/ faculty ratios in College Parallel programs and the number of students who transfer from College Parallel programs to 4-year institutions.
- Ho. 1.4 There is no relationship between student/ faculty ratios in College Parallel programs and the length of time students from College Parallel programs remain at 4-year institutions.

- Ho. 1.5 There is no relationship between student/ faculty ratios in Career Development programs and the type of initial job placement of Career Development students.
- Ho. 1.6 There is no relationship between student/ faculty ratios in Career Development programs and the type of current job placement of Career Development students.

Rigorous statistical analysis of the above statements is not possible because this pilot study produced data on only three schools and used only one year as an information base. Consequently the data for each of the two program areas acquired are presented in table and histogram form to show the existence and/or non-existence of trends regarding the relationships of interest at each of the three institutions. Table 2 and Figure 10 represent the comparison between student/faculty ratios in the College Parallel programs for each of the three colleges. The schools are ordered in the table and on the graph according to size of student/faculty ratio.

College	Student/faculty ratio in College Parallel program	College Parallel completions (n=40 per school)
 Marshalltown	23:1	25 students
Tri-C	41:1	23 students
Harper	66:1	22 students

Table 2. Comparison of student/faculty ratios and College Parallel completions







Table 3 and Figure 11 represent the comparison between student/ faculty ratios in the Career Development programs for each of the three colleges.

College	Student/faculty ratio in Career Development program	Career Development completions (n=40 per school)
Marshalltown	6.25:1	25
Tri-C	14:1	22
Harper	15:1	13

Table 3. Comparison of student/faculty ratios and Career Development completions



Figure 11. Student/Faculty Ratios and student completions for Career Development

Tables 2 and 3 and Figures 10 and 11 show that as student/faculty ratios increase in both program areas, there is a slight decrease in the numbers of students who complete the community college program. This inverse relationship appears to be greater in the Career Development program than in the College Parallel program.

Table 4 and Figures 12a and 12b reveal no apparent relationship between student/faculty ratios in the College Parallel programs and the number of students who apply to 4-year institutions. There does appear to be a relationship between student/faculty ratios and number of students who transfer to 4-year institutions and number of students who graduate from 4-year institutions in that as the student/faculty ratio increases, the number of students who transfer and graduate decreases. There is no consistent trend in the comparisons between student/faculty ratios and length of time transfer students remain at 4-year institutions.
Table 4. Comparison of student/faculty ratios with student post-college behaviors

College	Student/faculty ratio in C.P.	No. students who apply to	No. students who transfer	Leng	th of ti	me at 4	-year i	nstitution
	program	4-year insti- tution	to 4-year in- stitution	l yr	. 2 yrs.	3 yrs.	4 yrs.	graduate
M'town	23:1	29	23	5	4	0	0	15
Tri-C	41:1	21	21	4	1	0	2	14
Harper	66:1	26	20	1	4	2	2	10





Figure 12a. Student/faculty ratios and number of students who apply and transfer to 4-year institutions



Figure 12b. Student/faculty ratios and student length of stay at 4-year institutions

Table 5 and Figure 13 reveal no apparent relationship between student/faculty ratios in Career Development programs and the type of job placement that occurs immediately after leaving the community college. The same situation exists in relation to current job placement as shown in Table 6 and Figure 14.

College	Ratio	Employed same area as train- ing	Further train- ing in same area as train- ing	Empl o yed different area from training	Training in differ- ent area from train ing	Military -	Unemployed
M'town	6.5:1	16]	10]	12	0
Tri-C	14:1	17	9	10	1	2	Ja
Harper	15:1	8	10	14	2	6	0

Table 5. Comparison of student/faculty ratios in Career Development programs with initial placement of Career Development students

^a Married female with children.



Figure 13. Student/faculty ratios and initial placement of Career Development students

College	Ratio	Employed same area as train- ing	Further train- ing in same area as training	Employed different area from training	Training I in differ- ent area from train- ing	Military -	Unemployed
M'town	6.5:1	12	3	18	0	1	6 ^a
Tri-C	14:1	18	3	12	1	١	5 ^b
Harper	15:1	8	4	22	1	1	4

Table 6. Comparison of student/faculty ratios in Career Development programs with current placement of Career Development students

a 3 are married females with children. b 1 is married female with children.



Figure 14. Student/faculty ratios and current placement of Career Development students

The model suggests a relationship between student/faculty ratios and the output variables presented above. A summary of the findings related to sub-hypotheses 1.4 through 1.6 is presented in Table 7.

Table 7. Summary of findings for Ho. 1.1 through 1.6

Sub-ho.	College Parallel Program	Career Development Program
1.1	reject null hypothesis	reject null hypothesis
1.2	partially reject null hy- pothesis	(not applica b le)
1.3	reject null hypothesis	(not applicable)
1.4	partially reject null hy- pothesis	(not applicable)
1.5	(not applicable)	partially reject null hy- pothesis
1.6.	(not applicable)	partially reject null hy- pothesis

Examination of the data provide some evidence to support the rationale that lowering student/faculty ratios in these program areas will affect the immediate and the future behaviors of students in terms of meeting the program goals of the college. The data partially reject major hypothesis 1 in its null form. The model does show the existence of possible trends between the input variables of student/faculty ratio and the output variables that reflect direct benefits to students of the academic training they receive at the community college.

Major Ho. 2

The model is not effective as a tool for evaluating the extent and direction in which community college goals are being achieved at the community college district level.

To test this major hypothesis, the following sub-hypotheses were tested:

- Ho. 2.1 There is no significant difference in the age, sex, race, and socio-economic distribution of students enrolled in College Parallel programs and the age, sex, race, and socio-economic distribution of the community college district.
- Ho. 2.2 There is no significant difference in the age, sex, race, and socio-economic distribution of students enrolled in Career Development programs and the age, sex, race, and socio-economic distribution of the community college district.

In order to test these hypotheses, it was first necessary to determine the age, race, sex, and socio-economic distributions for the community college districts involved in this study. The percentage rates for each of the above parameters at the district level provided the basis for determining the expected distributions in each of the two college programs under study for a sample of 40 students.

Marshalltown Community College District

The following data were drawn from the Summary Manpower Indicators for CAMPS Area VI provided by the Office for Planning and Programs and is based on the 1970 Bureau of Census data. <u>Total population</u> The total population for Iowa Area VI in 1970 was 102,274.

<u>Racial distribution</u> The racial distribution for Iowa Area VI was 98.8% Caucasian and 1.2% non-Caucasian. The number of students expected in each program area based on a sample of 40 students is 39.5 Caucasian and .5 non-Caucasian.

<u>Socio-economic distribution</u> 33.4% of the district population was classified as poverty or "near-poor" (annual income of \$3,000.00 per year); 65.1% of the district population was classified as middle income (annual income of \$3,000.00 to \$15,000.00); and 1.5% of the district population was classified as high income (\$15,000.00 plus annual income). The number of students expected in each program area was: high income: 0.6, middle income: 26.04, and low income 13.36.

As previously stated, item #5 on the Student Data Sheet is only an "indication" of student socio-economic level. In order to compare data collected with the socio-economic breakdown of the district population, students were assigned to a socio-economic level on the following basis: students who received no financial assistance from home and did not live at home were classified as low income; students who received financial assistance from home or who lived at home and who provided part of their own college expenses either through employment or loans were classified as middle income; students who were not employed either part-time during the school year or during the summer and who lived at home were classified as high income.

Sex distribution Of the population 17 years of age and older, 49.9% was male and 52.1% was female. The number of students expected

in each program area was 19.16 male and 20.84 female.

Age distribution 33.6% of the total district population was 17 years of age or below, 31.2% of the district population was 18 to 45 years of age, and 35.2% was 45 years of age or older.

Since the college is designed to serve the district population of post-high school age, a more complete analysis of this age range is provided in Table 8. Also included in the table are the number of students by age expected in each college program based on the district percentage rates for each age category and a sample of 40 students, and the frequencies actually observed in each college program.

Age groups	Percentages of district population	No. of students expected in each program (based on n=40)	No. observed in College Paral- lel program	No. observed in Career Development program
18-24 25-34	15.0% 16.7%	6.U 6.6	38 2	38 2
35-44 45-54 55-64 65 and over	15.2% 16.6% 15.6% 20.9%	6.0 6.6 6.2 8 4	0 0 0	0 0 0

Table 8. Marshalltown: District and college distributions by age

Marshalltown findings

The test of the sub-hypotheses was accomplished by use of the chi square goodness of fit test. Comparisons were made between the college sample for each program area and the college district population parameters presented. Yates correction for continuity was applied to data on race and sex.

Comparisons of observed and expected frequencies based on distributions by sex reveal a chi square value of 6.063 for the College Parallel program and a chi square of 39.136 for the Career Development program. Since these values are greater than the table value of 3.841 for one degree of freedom at the .05 level of confidence, null hypotheses 2.1 and 2.2 regarding sex distribution are rejected. Both the College Parallel and Career Development programs enrollments at Marshalltown fail to reflect the sex distribution of the district. The data regarding the enrollment by sex points out the extreme under-representation of females (7) in the Career Development program.

A comparison of observed and expected frequencies based on socioeconomic status of students in the College Parallel and Career Development programs reveals chi square values of 151.116 and 7.015 respectively. Since these values are greater than the table value of 5.991 for two degrees of freedom at the .05 confidence level, null hypotheses 2.1 and 2.2 regarding socio-economic distribution are rejected. The program enrollments at Marshalltown do not reflect the socio-economic distribution of the district. The College Parallel data reflects the significant under-representation of middle income students in favor of high income students.

Statistical examination of data based on race would be of dubious validity since the district population provided an expected non-Caucasion frequency of less than 5. There were no non-Caucasians enrolled

in either of the college programs at Marshalltown. Since the expected enrollment of non-Caucasians was .5, the college does reflect the district in regard to racial distribution and null hypotheses 2.1 and 2.2 regarding race are not rejected.

Statistical comparison of student enrollment and community population based on age is unnecessary since several student age categories contain no observed frequencies. The Marshalltown student sample reveals enrollments concentrated in the 17-24 age range (38 students in each of the programs) and only a few students in the 25-34 age range. The College Parallel sample contained no students over 30 years of age and the Career Development program contained only one student older than 30. It is obvious that the college programs at Marshalltown do not reflect the age distribution of the district. Null hypotheses 2.1 and 2.2 regarding age are rejected.

A summary of the Marshalltown findings related to sub-hypotheses 2.1 and 2.2 are presented in Table 9.

Sub-ho.	College Parallel Program	Career Development Program
2.1 and 2.2 (age)	reject null hypothesis	reject null hypothesis
2.1 and 2.2 (sex)	reject null hypothesis	reject null hypothesis
2.1 and 2.2 (race)	null hypothesis not re- jected	null hypothesis not re- jected
2.1 and 2.2 (socio-eco- nomic level)	reject null hypothesis	reject null hypothesis

Table 9. Summary of Marshalltown findings for Ho. 2.1 and 2.2

Cuyahoga Community College District (Tri-C)

The following demographic data were obtained from the 1970 Bureau of Census Handbook.

Total population The total population of Cuyahoga county in 1970 was 1,721,300.

Racial distribution The racial distribution of the district was 81.5% Caucasian and 18.5% non-Caucasian. Based on this distribution and a sample size of 40 for each program area, it was expected that student enrollments would include 32.6 Caucasian and 7.4 non-Caucasian in each program area.

<u>Socio-economic distribution</u> 50.2% of the district population was classified as poverty or near-poor (annual income of \$3,000.00 or less); 44.5% of the population was classified as middle income (annual income of \$3,000.00 to \$15,000.00); and 5.3% of the population was classified as high income (annual income of \$15,000.00 or more). Based on these percentages, it was expected that of the students sampled, 2.12 would fall in the high income category, 17.8 would fall in the middle income category, and 20.08 would fall in the low income category.

<u>Sex distribution</u> Of the population 18 years of age and older, 46.3% was male and 53.7% was female. The expected frequencies in each program area were 18.52 male and 21.48 female.

<u>Age distribution</u> 33.2% of the district population was 17 years of age or below, 34.0% was 18 to 45 years of age, and 32.8% was 45 years of age or older. Again, more complete analysis of the population 18 years of age and older is presented. Table 10 presents the expected numbers of students for each program area based on the district population percentages for each age category and the frequencies actually observed in each college program.

Table 10. Tri-C: District and college distributions by	/ ag	ge
--	------	----

Age groups	Percentages of district population	No. of students expected in each program (based on n=40)	No. observed in College Paral- lel program	No observed in Career Development program
18-24	16.0%	6.4	36	37
25-34	17.6%	7.0	3	2
35-44	17.2%	6.8	1	0
45-54	19.4%	7.7	0	1
55-64	15.1%	6.0	Ō	0
65 and over	14.7%	5.8	Ō	0

Tri-C findings

Presentation and analysis of data for Tri-C follows the same sequences as for Marshalltown. The test of both sub-hypotheses was accomplished by using the chi square goodness of fit test between the Tri-C sample for each program area and the college district population parameters cited. Yates correction for continuity was applied to data on race and sex.

Comparison of observed and expected frequencies based on sex distribution reveal a chi square value of .568 for College Parallel program enrollments and a chi square value of 5.089 for the Career Development program. Since the table value of 3.841 for one degree of freedom at the .05 level of confidence is greater than the computed College Parallel value and less than the computed Career Development value, the data fail to reject the null hypothesis 2.1 regarding sex but does reject hypothesis 2.2 regarding sex. Enrollment in the College Parallel program at Tri-C does reflect the distribution of the district according to sex but the Career Development program does not. Enrollment in the Career Development at Tri-C is 52.2% male and 47.8% female.

A comparison of observed and expected data frequencies based on the socio-economic level of students in the College Parallel program reveals a chi square value of 16.125. Analysis of the Career Development program enrollment on this parameter reveals a chi square value of 19.898. Both of these values are significantly larger than the table value of 5.991 for two degrees of freedom at the .05 level of confidence as well as the table value of 13.815 at the .001 level of confi-

dence. Null hypotheses 2.1 and 2.2 that the college programs reflect the socio-economic status of the college district are rejected. In both program areas, the low socio-economic class is under-represented, making up only 22% of the student populations.

Evaluation of college enrollments according to racial distribution was possible since both programs were expected to enroll more than five non-Caucasians. A comparison of observed and expected frequencies based on racial distribution reveal a chi square value of 3.424 for the College Parallel program and a chi square value of 2.065 for the Career Development program. Since both these figures are below the table value of 3.841 at the .05 level of confidence for one degree of freedom, the data fail to reject null hypotheses 2.1 and 2.2 regarding race; both programs at Tri-C reflect the racial distribution of the college district.

As with the Marshalltown data, statistical comparison of student enrollment and community population on the basis of age is unnecessary. The sample data reveal that student enrollments are highly concentrated in the 18-24 year age range. College Parallel enrollment included three persons in the age category 25-34 and one person in the age category 35-44 years. Career Development program enrollment included two persons in the 25-34 year age range and one person in the 45-54 age range. It is apparent that neither the College Parallel nor the Career Development programs reflect the age distribution of the district. Null hypotheses 2.1 and 2.2 regarding age are therefore rejected.

A summary of the Tri-C findings related to sub-hypotheses 2.1 and 2.2 are presented in Table 11.

Sub-ho.	College Parallel Program	Career Development Program
2.1 and 2.2 (age)	reject null hypothesis	reject null hypothesis
2.1 and 2.2 (sex)	null hypothesis not re- jected	reject null hypothesis
2.1 and 2.2 (race)	null hypothesis not re- jected	null hypothesis not re- jected
2.1 and 2.2 (socio-eco- nomic level)	reject null hypothesis	reject null hypothesis

Table 11. Summary of Tri-C findings for Ho. 2.1 and 2.2

Willaim Rainey Harper Community College District

The following demographic data were obtained from the 1970 Bureau of Census data.

<u>Total population</u> The community college district includes the townships of Elk Grove, Shaumberg, Palantine, Barrington, and Cuba. The total population of the district is 259,507.

<u>Racial distribution</u> The racial breakdown of the district is 99.99% Caucasian and .01% non-Caucasian. It was expected that there would be no non-Caucasian students enrolled in the college.

<u>Socio-economic distribution</u> 28.9% of the district population was classified as poverty or near-poor (annual income of \$3,000.00 or less); 63.6% of the population was classified as middle income (annual income of \$3,000.00 to \$15,000.00); and 7.8% was classified as high income (annual income of \$15,000.00 or more). Based on these percentages, it was expected that of the students sampled, 3.12 would fall in the high income category, 25.32 would fall in the middle income category, and 11.56 would fall in the low income category for each program area.

<u>Sex distribution</u> Of the population 18 years of age and older, 49.7% was male and 50.3% was female. The expected frequencies in each program area were 19.88 male and 20.12 female.

<u>Age distribution</u> 40.8% of the district population was 17 years of age and below, 41.1% was 18 to 45 years of age, and 18.1% was 45 years of age and older. Further analysis of the population 18 years of age and older is provided below. Table 12 also presents the numbers of students expected in each age group for each program based on district age percentage rates and student sample size of 40 for each program and the frequencies actually observed.

Age groups	Percentages of district population	No. of students expected in each program (based on n=40)	No. observed in College Paral- lel program	No. observed in Career Development program
18-24	15.3%	6.12	39	38
25-34	24.3%	9.72	1	1
35-44	25.9%	10.36	0	0
45-54	18.8%	7.52	0	0
55-64	9.0%	3.60	0	1
65 and over	6.7%	2.68	0	0

Table 12. Harper: District and college distributions by age

Harper College findings

Presentation and analysis of data follows the same form as before. The test of both sub-hypotheses was accomplished using the chi square goodness to fit test between the Harper College sample for each program area and the college district population parameters cited. Yates correction for continuity was applied to the data on race and sex.

Comparison of observed and expected frequencies based on sex distribution reveal a chi square value of 17.163 for the College Parallel program and a chi square value of 12.314 for the Career Development program. Since these values are considerably larger than the table value of 3.841 for one degree of freedom at the .05 confidence level and the table value of 10.827 at the .001 level of confidence; null hypotheses 2.1 and 2.2 regarding sex are rejected. Enrollment at Harper College does not reflect the district population in that the female enrollment numbers only 7 in the College Parallel program and 9 in the Career Development program.

A comparison of observed and expected data frequencies based on socio-economic level of students in both programs reveal a chi square value of 11.609 for College Parallel and 6.441 for Career Development. Since these values are larger than the table value of 5.991 for two degrees of freedom at the .05 level of confidence, null hypotheses 2.1 and 2.2 regarding socio-economic level are rejected. Enrollments in both programs fail to adequately represent the low socio-economic population of the district. The College Parallel program is less representative than the Career Development program.

Statistical evaluation of data based on race would be of little validity since no non-Caucasians were expected to be enrolled in either program at Harper College. Since the observed enrollment of non-Caucasians was also zero, it must be concluded that the college does represent the community in this regard. The data fail to reject null hypotheses 2.1 and 2.2 regarding race.

As was the case with the other two colleges, enrollments at Harper College failed to represent the total age distribution of the district. Student enrollments in both programs again reflect an emphasis on the 18-24 year age category. Null hypotheses 2.1 and 2.2 regarding age are rejected.

A summary of the Harper findings related to sub-hypotheses 2.1 and 2.2 are presented in Table 13.

Sub-ho.	College Parallel Program	Career Development Program
2.1 and 2.2 (age)	reject null hypothesis	reject null hypothesis
2.1 and 2. 2 (sex)	reject null hypothesis	reject null hypothesis
2.1 and 2.2 (race)	null hypothesis not re- jected	null hypothesis not re- jected
2.1 and 2.2 (socio-eco- nomic level)	reject null hypothesis	reject null hypothesis

Table 13. Summary of Harper findings for Ho. 2.1 and 2.2

Major Ho. 2

The data presented are based on parameters and relationships expressed in the model devised by this researcher. The foregoing findings reflect the direction and extent that the College Parallel and Career Development programs "reach" the community populations. Statistical analysis of data was possible except in those instances where college enrollments provided data frequencies of zero. In these instances, conclusions relating to the sub-hypotheses were unambiguous.

The null hypothesis that the model is not an effective tool for evaluating the extent and direction in which community college goals (programs) are being achieved is rejected. The model does provide a method of determining whether or not the entire college district is being directly served by these two program areas under study.

Major Ho. 3

The model is not an effective tool for determining if institutional emphasis on a single program exists at the local college level. The test of this major hypothesis involves testing several sub-hypotheses. The first is as follows:

Ho. 3.1 There is no significant difference in the age, sex, race and socio-economic status and number of high school graduates of students enrolled in College Parallel programs and the age, sex, race, socio-economic status and number of high school graduates of students enrolled in Career Development programs.

The test of the hypothesis according to sex distribution made use of the chi square test of independence. Comparison of males and fe-

males enrolled in each of the two college programs at Marshalltown yield a chi square value of .154. Since this value is less than the table value of 3.841 using one degree of freedom at the .05 level of confidence; null hypothesis 3.1 regarding sex is not rejected with the conclusion that students are enrolled in college programs independent of sex.

Students were classified into the three socio-economic categories of high, medium and low on the same basis as was done in the testing of major hypothesis two and a chi square test of independence was computed on College Parallel and Career Development student enrollments. The computed chi square values are 5.016 for Marshalltown, 1.454 for Tri-C and 3.058 for Harper. These values are less than the chi square value of 5.991 using two degrees of freedom at the .05 confidence level; null hypothesis 3.1 regarding socio-economic level are not rejected and it must be concluded that students enroll in both college programs independent of socio-economic level.

Examination of the racial distribution of students enrolled in each program reveal that the total sample of students in both programs at Marshalltown and Harper were Caucasian. A chi square test of independence using the Yates correction for continuity was computed on the racial distribution of students enrolled in the College Parallel and Career Development programs at Tri-C. The analysis produces a chi square value of .058 which is less than the table value of 3.841 using one degree of freedom at the .05 level of confidence. The conclusion is that students enroll in both college programs independent of race and null hypothesis 3.1 regarding race is not rejected.

The age of students enrolled in each program was reclassified to reflect in four categories, student enrollment for ages 18, 19, 20 and 21-30. Because a sufficient number of students aged 17 were enrolled in the College Parallel program at Marshalltown, that additional age category was added. A chi square test of independence was computed on student enrollments according to these age categories. The computed chi square values are 12.136 for Marshalltown, .134 for Tri-C and 4.036 for Harper. The table value of 9.488 for four degrees of freedom at the .05 level of confidence is less than the computed value of the Marshalltown data. The table value of 7.815 for three degrees of freedom at the .05 confidence level is greater than the computed values for the Tri-C and Harper data. Thus null hypothesis 3.1 regarding age is not rejected for the latter two colleges but is rejected for Marshalltown. The expectation that students are enrolled in college programs independent of age is upheld for Tri-C and Harper but not for Marshalltown.

Examination of the students who were high school graduates reveal that of the total 120 students sampled, only five were not high school graduates. Of these, three were enrolled in the College Parallel program and two were enrolled in the Career Development program; two were enrolled at Marshalltown and three were enrolled at Tri-C. Since more than 95% of the sample had high school diplomas and those students who did not were nearly equally distributed between the two programs and among the three colleges; null hypothesis 3.1 regarding high school graduates is not rejected. A summary of findings related to sub-hypothesis 3.1 is presented in Table 14. •

Sub-ho.	Marshalltown	Tri-C	Harper
3.1 (age)	reject null hypothesis	null hypothesis not rejected	null hypothesis not re- jected
3.1 (sex)	null hypothesis not re-	null hypothesis not	null hypothesis not re-
	jected	rejected	jected
3.1 (race)	null hypothesis not re-	null hypothesis not	null hypothesis not re-
	jected	rejected	jected
3.1 (socio-	null hypothesis not re-	null hypothesis not	null hypothesis not re-
economic level)	jected	rejected	jected
3.1 (high school graduate)	null hypothesis not re- jected	null hypothesis not rejected	null hypothesis not re- jected

Ho. 3.2 There is no significant difference between the student/faculty ratios in the College Parallel program and the Career Development program.

In order to test this hypothesis, the students and faculty assigned to each college program were combined to form the classification "College Personnel" for each of the two program areas. This was possible since neither a student nor a faculty member was counted in more than one of the two college programs. Classification of the data is shown in Table 15.

College/Program	<u>College</u> Students	ersonnel Faculty	Totals	Student/Faculty Ratios
Marshalltown:				
College Parallel	896	39	935	23:1
Career Development	100	16	<u>116</u> 1051	6.5:1
Tri-C:				
College Parallel	1990	4 8	2038	41:1
Career Development	1219	82	<u>1301</u> 3339	14:1
Harper:				
College Parallel Career Development	1519 340	23 23	1542 <u>363</u> 1905	66:1 15:1

Table 15. College Personnel

A null hypothesis was tested for statistical significance using the chi square test of independence. The computed chi square values are 17.575 for Marshalltown, 31.340 for Tri-C, and 34.126 for Harper. These values are significantly greater than the table value of 3.841 at the .05 level of confidence and 10.827 at the .001 level of confidence, using one degree of freedom. Null hypothesis 3.2 is therefore rejected. It must be concluded that assignment of faculty is not independent of college program.

Ho. 3.3 There is no significant difference in the salaries received by College Parallel faculty and the salaries received by Career Development faculty.

The test of this hypothesis made use of the pooled t test computed between the mean salaries for the faculties for each program area at each of the three colleges. Since the number of faculty members assigned to each program was unequal at each college except Harper, F tests were conducted to determine homogeneity of variances. The mean salaries, computed F values, table F values and computed t values for each program comparison for each college are presented in Table 16.

Tab	le ˈ	16.	Facult	ty sa'	laries
-----	------	-----	--------	--------	--------

College/Program	Mean Salary	Computed F values	T a ble values for F at .05	Computed t values
Marshalltown College Parallel Career Development	9,332.58 9,280.75	.0119 2.6049	^F 1,53=4.02	2.005
Tri-C College Parallel Career Development	10,614.33 11,100.12	2.6049	F _{1,128=3.92}	1.613
Harper College Parallel Career Development	10,289.34 10,784.25	.6162	F1,44=4.06	2.008

All computed t values are less than the table value of 6.314 for one degree of freedom at the .05 confidence level. The data reveal that there is no significant difference between the salaries paid to College Parallel faculties and salaries paid to Career Development faculties at the three colleges. The data fail to reject null hypothesis 3.3.

The findings that only two items of program emphasis exist supports the contention that the colleges do not, for the most part, favor one college program to the detriment of the other in the variables tested. Use of the model provided insight into those areas where program emphasis did and did not exist. Thus, the foregoing data provides evidence to reject major hypothesis 3 in its null form. The model is an effective tool for determining if institutional emphasis on a single program exists at the local college level.

Major Ho. 4

The model presented is not a useful tool for evaluating the extent and direction to which community college goals are being achieved at the national level.

The test of this major hypothesis involves testing several subhypotheses; the first two are:

- Ho. 4.1 There is no significant difference among the three institutions in the age, sex, race and socio-economic status of students enrolled in College Parallel programs.
- Ho. 4.2 There is no significant difference among the three institutions in the age, sex, race and socio-economic status of students enrolled in Career Development programs.

As was previously determined in the second hypothesis, the age distribution of students enrolled in the college programs rarely exceeds the age category of 18-24 years. Test of sub-hypotheses 4.1 and 4.2 made use of the four age categories established in hypothesis 3.1 and are presented in Table 17 and 18 along with frequency counts of enrollments in each of the program areas. Since Marshalltown's College Parallel program, but not its Career Development program, included a number of 17year-olds, that age is included accordingly. Persons over 30 years of age were eliminated in the analysis of data.

College	17-18	19	20	21-30	Totals
Marshalltown	24	6	6	4	40
Tri-C	16	17	5	2	40
Harper	11	13	6	9	39
Totals	51	36	17	15	119

Table 17. Number of students enrolled in College Parallel programs by age

College	17-18	19	20	2130	Totals
Marshalltown	15	19	1	4	39
Tri-C	14	10	9	6	39
Harper	11	13	7	8	39
Totals	40	42	17	18	117

Table 18. Number of students enrolled in Career Development programs by age

Chi square tests of independence computed on ages of students for each program area yield values of 14.788 for the College Parallel programs which is greater than the table value of 12.592 for six degrees of freedom at the .05 confidence level and 1.279 for the Career Development programs which is less than the table value of 12.592. The data, therefore reject hypothesis 4.1 but fail to reject hypothesis 4.2 regarding age. There is a difference among the three colleges regarding the age of students in the College Parallel program but not in the Career Development program.

Frequency counts of the number of students enrolled in each program for each college by sex are presented in Tables 19 and 20.

College	Male	Female
Marshalltown	26	14
Tri-C	21	19
Harper	33	7
Totals	80	40

Table 19. Number of students enrolled in College Parallel programs by sex

Table 20. Number of students enrolled in Career Development programs by sex

College	Male	Female
Marshalltown	26	14
Tri-C	29	11
Harper	31	9
Totals	86	34

Chi square tests of independence computed for each program area yield values of 8.192 for the College Parallel programs which is larger than the table value of 5.991 for two degrees of freedom at the .05 confidence level. Null hypothesis 4.1 regarding sex is rejected. Computation of chi square for the Career Development programs yield a value of 1.563 which is less than the table value of 5.991 for two degrees of freedom at the .05 confidence level, and fails to reject null hypothesis 4.2 regarding sex. Thus, although there is no significant difference among the three colleges regarding the distribution of students by sex in the Career Development program, there is a significant difference among the schools in the College Parallel programs.

Frequency counts of the number of students enrolled by socioeconomic status are presented in Tables 21 and 22.

College	High Income	Middle Income	Low Income
Marshalltown	10	16	14
Tri-C	6	25	9
Harper	3	35	2
Totals	19	76	25

Table 21. Number of students enrolled in College Parallel programs by socio-economic level

College	High Income	Middle Income	Low Income
Marshalltown	6	26	8
Tri-C	4	30	6
Harper	1	33	6
Totals	11	89	20

Table 22.	Number of students	enrolled in	Career	Development	programs
	by socio-economic	level		•	

The data were analyzed using the chi square test of independence. The computed values are 4.500 for the College Parallel programs and 4.757 for the Career Development programs. Since neither value is as large as the table value of 9.488 for four degrees of freedom at the .05 level of confidence, the data fail to reject null hypotheses 4.1 and 4.2. Enrollment by socio-economic in both college programs is consistent across the three institutions studied.

Since only one school produced data involving non-Caucasian enrollments, hypotheses 4.1 and 4.2 regarding race cannot be tested statistically. The conclusion can be drawn however, that the colleges are not similar in terms of the racial distribution of their student bodies, thus rejecting null hypotheses 4.1 and 4.2 regarding race.

A summary of the findings related to sub-hypotheses 4.1 and 4.2 is presented in Table 23.

Sub-ho.	Comparisons among Colleges
4.1 (age)	reject null hypothesis
4.1 (sex)	reject null hypothesis
4.1 (race)	reject null hypothesis
4.1 (socio- economic level)	null hypothesis not rejected
4.2 (age)	null hypothesis not rejected
4.2 (sex)	null hypothesis not rejected
4.2 (race)	reject null hypothesis
4.2 (socio- economic level)	null hypothesis not rejected

Table 23. Summary of findings related to sub-hypotheses 4.1 and 4.2

Ho. 4.3 There is no significant difference among the three institutions in the age, sex, race and socio-economic status of students who transfer to 4-year institutions from the College Parallel programs.

The data related to this hypothesis was examined in the same manner as for the two previous hypotheses. The total sub-sample size is smaller (64) in this analysis since only those students who transferred to 4-year institutions is being considered. The age distribution of students who transferred to 4-year institutions from College Parallel programs from each of the three institutions is presented in Table 24.

College	17-18	19	20	21-30	Totals
Marshalltown	15	4	2	2	23
Tri-C	4	9	3	5	21
Harper	7	9	4	0	20
Totals	26	22	9	7	64

Table 24. Age distribution of students who transferred to 4-year institutions

Computation of the chi square test for independence yield a value of 15.411 which is greater than the table value of 12.592 for six degrees of freedom at the .05 confidence level. The data reject null hypothesis 4.3 regarding age. It must be concluded that there is a significant difference among the colleges in the age distribution of students transferring from their institutions to 4-year colleges and universities.

The sex distribution of students who transferred from the College Parallel programs of the three institutions to 4-year institutions is presented in Table 25.
Male	Female
15	8
13	8
18	2
46	18
	Male 15 13 18 46

Table 25. Sex distribution of students who transfer to 4-year institutions

Computation of the chi square test for independence yield a value of 4.673 which is less than the table value of 5.991 for two degrees of freedom at the .05 confidence level. The data fail to reject null hypothesis 4.3 regarding sex. It must be concluded that there is no difference among the colleges in the sex distribution of students transferring from their institution to 4-year colleges and universities.

The socio-economic distribution of students who transferred from the College Parallel programs of the three institutions to 4-year institutions is presented in Table 26.

College	High Income	Middle Income	Low Income
Marshalltown	7	10	6
Tri-C	3	14	4
Harper	1	19	0
Totals	11	43	10

Table 26.	Socio-economic distribution of students who transfer from)m
	College Parallel programs to 4-year institutions	

Analysis of the data reveal a computed chi square value of 13.640 which is greater than the table value of 9.488 for four degrees of freedom at the .05 confidence level. Null hypothesis 4.3 regarding socioeconomic levels is therefore rejected. The conclusion is that there is a difference among the three institutions in the socio-economic level of students who transfer from their colleges to 4-year institutions.

Again, statistical comparisons among the schools regarding the distribution of non-Caucasions who transfer to 4-year colleges and universities cannot be accomplished statistically. Since four of the 21 students who transferred to 4-year institutions from Tri-C were non-Caucasian, it can be concluded that there is a difference among the institutions in this regard and null hypothesis 4.3 regarding race is rejected.

A summary of the findings related to sub-hypothesis 4.3 is presented in Table 27.

Sub-ho.	Comparisons among Colleges
4.3 (age)	reject null hypothesis
4.3 (sex)	null hypothesis not rejected
4.3 (race)	reject null hypoth e sis
4.3 (socio- economic level)	reject null hypothesis

Table 27. Summary of findings related to sub-hypothesis 4.3

Ho. 4.4 There is no significant difference among the three institutions in the age, sex, race and socio-economic level of Career Development students who are currently employed in the field in which they were trained.

The data related to this hypothesis was examined in the same manner as in hypothesis 4.3. The sub-sample size in this instance is 38 and represents those students who currently hold work positions in the field in which they received training at the community college in 1968. The age distribution of these students is presented in Table 28.

College	17-18	19	20	21-30
Marshalltown	6	6	0	0
Tri-C	4	5	4	5
Ha rpe r	3	2	٦	2
Totals	13	13	5	7

Table 28. Age distribution of students currently employed in original field of training

Analysis of the data yield a chi square value of 8.834 which is less than the table value of 12.592 for six degrees of freedom at the .05 confidence level. The data fail to reject null hypothesis 4.4 regarding age. It must be concluded that there is no institutional difference in the age distribution of students who continue to work in the field for which they were trained.

The sex distribution of students who are currently employed in their field of training is presented in Table 29.

College	Male	Female
Marshalltown	10	2
Tri -C	9	9
Harper	5	3
Totals	24	14

Table 29. Sex distribution of students employed in original field of training

Computation of the chi square test for independence yield a value of 3.443 which is less than the table value of 5.991 for two degrees of freedom at the .05 level of confidence. The data fail to reject null hypothesis 4.4 regarding sex. It must be concluded that there is no significant difference in the sex distribution of students who continue employment in their field of training.

The socio-economic distribution of students currently employed in the field of their original training is presented in Table 30.

College	High Income	Middle Income	Low Income
Marshalltown	3	7	2
Tri-C	4	12	2
Harper	1	6	1
Totals	8	25	5

Table 30. Socio-economic distribution of students currently employed in original field of training

Data analysis reveals a chi square value of .845 which is less than the table value of 9.488 for four degrees of freedom at the .05 level of confidence. Null hypothesis 4.4 regarding socio-economic levels is not rejected. The conclusion is that there is no significant difference among the three colleges in the socio-economic distribution of students who continue to be employed in the field for which they were trained.

Statistical comparisons among the colleges regarding the distribution of non-Caucasians who continue employment in their field of training cannot be statistically accomplished. Since four of the 18 students from Tri-C who continue to be employed in their original area of training are non-Caucasian, it can be concluded that there is a difference among the schools in this regard and null hypothesis 4.4 regarding race is rejected.

A summary of the findings related to sub-hypothesis 4.4 is presented in Table 31.

Sub-ho.	Comparisons among Colleges
4.4 (age)	null hypothesis not rejected
4.4 (sex)	null hypothesis not rejected
4.4 (race)	reject null hypothesis
4.4 (socio- economic level)	null hypothesis not rejected

Table 31. Summary of findings related to sub-hypothesis 4.4

The purpose of major Ho. 4 is to determine whether or not there is sufficient commonality among community colleges to validate the practice of combining data from all these colleges and presenting the benefits derived from their existence in aggregated form at the national level. Although data on the inputs and outputs of Career Development programs are similar enough to make aggregated data at the national level a valid indicator of goal attainment of community colleges, such is not the case for data on College Parallel programs

Use of the parameters indicated in the model has shown the extent and direction of goal attainment across the three institutions. Major hypothesis 4 in its null form is therefore rejected. CHAPTER V. DISCUSSION, RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

The purpose of this research effort was not to determine whether or not particular community college were or were not performing the tasks they have been assigned. It was instead, an effort to determine whether or not the model devised by this researcher is a viable tool for determining the extent of the benefits derived from community college programs. Some interesting facts have been discovered regarding the colleges themselves. Perspective is lost, however, if this information is not related back to the model.

The organization of this chapter follows the sequence established in Chapter IV. Discussion is directed toward each major hypothesis and its concomitant sub-hypotheses. General comments regarding use of the model are presented immediately thereafter, followed by recommendations for further research and final conclusions.

Discussion

Major Hypothesis 1

The first major hypothesis is concerned with determining the relationships that do and do not exist between resources directed into program areas of community colleges and the outputs of those programs. This pilot study concentrated on the input variable of student/faculty ratio. This variable was selected because it is a measure traditionally offered by educators as criteria and evidence for "good" educational

programs. It is recognized that the outputs of program completion, application and transfer to 4-year colleges and universities, length of time students remain at 4-year institutions, and type of initial and current job placement, constitute only limited representations of the total outputs of the educational process. They do, however, relate directly to community college goals and can be measured. This research effort attempted only to establish justification for further research based on the presence or absence of relationship "trends" between student/faculty ratios and these several output variables. The conclusion is that there is some evidence that trends do exist between these variables. However, "complete" relationships between student/ faculty ratios and output variables were not always observed. For example, doubling the student/faculty ratio (from 6.25:1 to 14:1) did not result in significantly reducing the number of students who completed the program. The same lack of completeness was found in the relationships that were found between student/faculty ratios and the number of students who transferred to 4-year institutions and student/faculty ratios and the number of students who graduate from 4vear institutions.

Comparison of student/faculty ratios to the type of employment the student holds immediately after attending the community college and from 2-4 years after graduation produced findings from which no relationship trends could be determined. It is quite possible however, that the type of employment students engage in after completion of a community college training program is related more to the demands of

the job market than to the adequacy of training.

Note should also be made of the percentages of full-time and parttime students within each of the two program areas at Tri-C. Approximately one-half of the students enrolled in the College Parallel program were full-time students whereas, only one-third of the students enrolled in the Career Development program were enrolled full-time. Since only the full-time students were counted in the student/faculty ratios, two-thirds of the Career Development student population was not included in the data. Thus, the student/faculty ratio reported for Tri-C's Career Development program may be a distortion of the situation as it really existed. That is, the actual ratio may be higher than reported since the efforts of a large number of full-time Career Development faculty are probably required to serve the needs of the relatively large part-time Career Development student body.

Summary of the data related to testing the first major hypothesis (Table 7) shows that the model completely reflects relationships between student/faculty ratios and two of the six output variables and reflects partial relationships between student/faculty ratios and the other four output variables. There is, therefore, some support for use of the model in visualizing the relationship between these inputs and outputs of the community college.

Major Hypothesis 2

The second hypothesis involves identification of those populations within the community who receive direct benefits from the commu-

nity college in terms of enrollment in either the College Parallel or Career Development programs. In every instance, it was discovered that community college enrollments reflect almost completely the traditional college-aged student (from 18-22). Despite the fact that a major portion of the population in every college district was over 30 years of age, the college programs failed to represent the over-30 age group in their enrollments.

The "expected" number of students by age category for each college program is presented in Tables 8, 10, and 12. The expected value is a function of the percentage of the total district population in that age category and a student sample of 40. This method applied equal probability of enrollment by age group and questions can be raised regarding whether this approach is realistic. First, it would be expected that a greater percentage of the district population over 30 years of age already have college degrees than does the population aged 18-24. Secondly, since the percentage of "degree-holders" would probably be different in each college district, completely accurate expectancies according to age group would have to be determined for each district.

Comparison of the sex distribution in the college districts and the student bodies resulted in rejection of the null hypothesis in every instance but one. With the exception of the enrollment in the College Parallel program at Tri-C, the female population was significantly under-represented in college enrollments. This trend existed to a greater degree within the Career Development programs than within the College Parallel programs. Examination of the district population en-

rolled in the two programs according to socio-economic groupings resulted in rejection of the null hypothesis in every instance. With only one exception (the College Parallel program at Marshalltown), the low socio-economic group of the community was not reflected in the college enrollments. The College Parallel program at Marshalltown underrepresented the middle income students in favor of the high income students. Both programs at Tri-C failed to enroll the expected number of low income students and further, as the college in the district with the highest percentage of low socio-economic persons, it did not enroll the greatest number of low income students. The results of this finding may be significantly influenced by the criteria imposed by this researcher on the determination of socio-economic level of students. This research classified a low income student as one who received no financial assistance from home including the benefits of living at home. It may be that transportation facilities to and from the college were more available to Tri-C students than to Marshalltown or Harper students with the consequence that low income students attending Tri-C did live at home but were classified as middle income. It is also possible that the classification is accurate.

Examination of the benefits derived to community populations based on race was somewhat limited in this research project because the samples from two of the colleges contained no non-Caucasian students. Since the same college districts contained few if any non-Caucasians, the null hypothesis was not rejected.

The model has provided a method for determining which of the various

sub-populations within the community were being served directly by the College Parallel and Career Development programs. Statistical analysis of the data derived is possible except in those instances where college enrollments provide zero frequencies. In such instances (for example, the data regarding the age of the population served) conclusions are unambiguous.

Major Hypothesis 3

The third major hypothesis attempts to determine if examination of selected variables indicate a program emphasis within any of the three colleges. The data were examined to determine if there was a substantially greater enrollment in either of the two college programs of students in any one age, sex, race, or socio-economic category. The conclusion in every instance was that students enroll in both college programs independent of sex, socio-economic level and race. The expectation that students enroll in the College Parallel and Career Development programs independent of age is upheld for Tri-C and for Harper but not for Marshalltown. The Marshalltown data reflect the fact that a significantly greater number of 19-year-olds were enrolled in the Career Development program than in the College Parallel program (19 versus 6) and a greater number of 17 and 18-year-olds were enrolled in the College Parallel program than in the Career Development program.

It is possible that these data reflect the age at which students graduate from high school and the nature of their past educational

experiences rather than any program emphasis on the part of the college. That is, it is possible that students who graduate from high school at an earlier age also have a more "successful" high school experience and this fact prompts them to pursue higher education in its traditional, liberal arts form (as represented by the College Parallel program). Students inclined toward Career Development programs may experience less success academically at the secondary level, are older at high school graduation, and are inclined toward job training rather than traditional higher education.

The finding that almost the entire sample consisted of high school graduates prevented the type of analysis required by hypothesis 3.1. Since all the colleges essentially "required" a high school diploma for entrance into either program area examined, it is expected that most of the students enrolled would have fulfilled this requirement. The finding therefore, that there is no difference between the college programs in the number of students who are high school graduates is more a function of general admission policies than college program emphasis, and in fact, contributes to equalizing the inputs into the two program areas.

The hypothesis (3.2) that there was no difference between the college programs in student/faculty ratios was rejected at all three colleges. It can be observed in Table 15 that students are enrolled in the College Parallel and Career Development programs on approximately a 9:1, 1,5:1 and 5:1 basis reflecting higher enrollments in College Parallel programs. The faculty is assigned to the College

Parallel and Career Development programs on approximately a 2:1, 1.7:1 and 1:1 basis which reflects that a lower proportion of faculty are assigned to each College Parallel student than to each Career Development student. The conclusion is that faculty assignments are not independent of college program and favor the Career Development pro-It is apparently the general practice, at least among these gram. three colleges, to maintain a lower student/faculty ratio in Career Development programs than in College Parallel programs. The practice may be based on the assumption that the type of training involved in Career programs requires close supervision by faculty. It is interesting to note, however, that the "returns" are no greater for the Career Development programs than for the College Parallel program. As was pointed out in the findings of the first major hypothesis, an equal or lower number of students complete the Career Development program than the College Parallel program.

Attention is called to the College Parallel enrollment for Harper as presented in Table 15. Of the total full-time student population at Harper, 617 were designated as "unclassified" by the college in that they were not officially enrolled in either college program. Since these students were taking at least 12-13 credit hours and represented a significant use of college resources, they could not be discarded in the analysis of the data. Their numbers are included within the College Parallel program because the majority of their course work was in the area of "general studies" which is similar to the College Parallel curriculum. The relationships presented in the model point to areas of program emphasis as well as to areas in which no college program emphasis exists. Thus, there is evidence that the model is an effective tool for determining if institutional emphasis exists at the local college level. When it is discovered that a single type of emphasis exists across all community colleges (as was the case with student/faculty ratios) the data can legitimately be aggregated at the national level as an indicator of community college performance.

Major Hypothesis 4

The purpose of major hypothesis 4 is to determine whether or not there is sufficient commonality among community college inputs and outputs to support the current practice of combining and presenting data pertaining to them in aggregated form at the national level.

Differences in the age, race, and sex of students enrolled in the College Parallel programs of the three colleges were found. Only one of the colleges enrolled students who were non-Caucasian. Marshalltown's enrollment of 17 and 18-year-olds in the College Parallel program was greater than its combined enrollment for the remaining three age groups while the other two colleges showed a more equal distribution in their enrollments according to age. One of the colleges had a nearly equitable enrollment in its College Parallel program according to sex distribution while the other two colleges had enrollments that significantly favored males.

Differences in the students enrolled in the Career Development programs across the three colleges were found only in regard to race. Similarities were found in the ages of students enrolled in Career Development program areas significantly favored males at all three institutions.

The sample data reveal a commonality in the students enrolled in both College Parallel and Career Development programs according to socio-economic level. Both programs at all three colleges had an enrollment that was highly concentrated in the middle income range.

Thus the only input variable common to both college programs that justifiably lends itself to aggregation across colleges is enrollments on the basis of socio-economic level. There is no other input variable for which College Parallel data may be aggregated. Career Development data may be aggregated on the additional input variables of age and sex.

Differences regarding the outputs of the three colleges were also discovered. The students who transferred from the College Parallel program from the three colleges were dissimilar in terms of age, socio-economic level and race. It is consistent with the previous findings that the college that enrolled the greater number of 17 and 18-year-olds would also provide a greater number of this age category as transfer students to 4-year colleges and universities. Comparison of the students who transfer to 4-year institutions based on socio-economic status reveal that one of the colleges provided transfers that were almost completely from the middle income class while

another college provided nearly equal numbers of transfer students from all three socio-economic levels.

The single commonality among the outputs of the College Parallel program relates to the sex distribution of students who transfer to 4-year institutions. At least two out of every three community college transfer students are male.

The only difference in the outputs of the Career Development programs of the three colleges was again related to race. Similarities existed in the age, sex, and socio-economic level of students currently employed in the field for which they were trained.

Thus, aggregation of College Parallel output data appears to be valid only in relation to the sex of transfers to 4-year institutions. There is also sufficient commonality fo the age, sex, and socio-economic level of Career Development students who continue employment in their field of training to justify aggregation of this data at the national level.

Use of the parameters indicated by the model has made visible several similarities and several dissimilarities that exist in the inputs and outputs of the community colleges under study here. The data have pointed out which of the inputs and outputs of community college programs may be accurately aggregated and applied to all community colleges. The model has also pointed to those parameters which may be common to only a few community colleges. Reports regarding these latter variables, if stated in generalized terms as applying to all community colleges in the nation will result in misin-

formation concerning the nature of the community college as it exists as a single unit.

Total evaluation of the model as a useful tool for use by administrators and policy-makers at the local and at the national level must include analysis of the ease with which it can be used. The telephone survey method is a time-consuming process when data is sought on students who were enrolled at the institution five years previous to the time the research is being conducted. In order to attain a sample size of 40, it was necessary to attempt contacts with from 20% to 50% additional students than was required. This fact in itself, may have distorted the results of this research. That is, it is possible that upwardly mobile and the low income class are represented in those contact attempts which were unsuccessful and the majority of successful contacts are representative of a less mobile middle class. Since the socio-economic status of students was determined in the course of the interview, this fact cannot be verified.

Since follow-up contact by telephone is dependent on information regarding the parent's name and address, this information on the student's admission form is vital. One college studied retains no information on parents in the student's permanent record. Contact with parents is therefore more time-consuming since a process of elimination using the local telephone directory must be used. It is assumed, however, that general use of the model would involve follow-up attempts that are closer in time to student enrollment dates and some of the above problems would therefore be eliminated. The telephone survey is an inexpensive method of research if the research is on an on-site nature,

and it does provide a fairly rapid way of collecting a great amount of follow-up data.

The Student Data Sheet contains five racial categories and it was anticipated that these data would be compared to Bureau of Census data along these lines. However, the Bureau of Census provides no racial data on American Indians per se. Further, the Spanish American group is counted in the Caucasian group in some states rather than separately identified. When this group is identified, it often includes blacks and other races. Because of the foregoing, classification by race in this research is limited to Caucasian and non-Caucasian. Further, it was expected that racial and ethnic affiliation of the student populations would be available within the student records. Such was not the case in all instances. Marshalltown had within its permanent student record, a photograph of the student and thus, categorization of the student by race could be fairly accurately determined. Harper and Tri-C have no racial data on the students they enroll. It was necessary therefore, to acquire racial data at these two colleges in the course of the telephone interview. It appears that racial data is becoming more difficult to acquire.

Final remarks must include comments regarding the relationship of the findings of this research project to the larger system of education is shown in Figure #2 of the model. It has been shown that the kinds of inputs received by community colleges are affected by the high schools and 4-year institutions with which they interact. At Marshalltown for example, the freshman class was younger than were the

freshman classes at Harper and Tri-C. This was due to the fact that one-fourth of the students had graduated from high school by the time they were 17 years old. As a further consequence, Marshalltown transferred a younger age group than the other two colleges, to 4-year institutions. It was also noted earlier in this paper that Harper students were often transfers on academic probation from their original 4-year college. They entered Harper, for the most part, as second year students and planned to stay long enough to raise their grade point averages.

The relationship of community college activities to other social institutions, as depicted in Figure 1, is also relevant. It was discovered that the three colleges studied "reach" the same population in terms of age. Although one of the goals of the community college is to reach all members of the community, it is apparent that, with few exceptions, the focus of each college has been at the population aged 18-30. This type of information is significant in terms of activities on the part of other agencies within the local community college district. If the community college does not serve the middleaged and elderly in the community, other agencies must gather forces and exert efforts toward this end.

Recommendations for Further Research

It has been pointed out that the College Parallel and Career Development programs of the colleges studied serve only the young per-

sons in the district. It may be that each of the colleges has determined previously that some other program area offered by the college will serve the older populations in the community. This premise requires investigation of the age groups being served by the other program areas shown in Figure #3 of the model. If it is the intent of the colleges to serve the different populations in the community with different program areas, this orientation should be clearly stated, both within the confines of the institution and the larger community. This step, the specification of goals and objectives in relation to each college program is necessary for complete and accurate assessment of the contributions of the community college system and requires cooperative research efforts on the part of these institutions.

Other research efforts need to be directed toward standardizing the terminology used by community colleges. As was pointed out in the beginning of the Findings section, the college degree of Associate in Sciences means a college transfer program at two of the institutions, and career job training at one of the institutions. Thus data accumulation and reporting regarding the inputs and outputs of the A.A.S. degree program would result in the accumulation of different kinds of data at the different schools.

There is also a need for standardizing the kind of data collected on students among the colleges across the nation. In examining the data available at each of the colleges, it was discovered that there is a vast amount of information collected by each of the colleges. The nature of the information is different at each college, and repre-

sents responses to requests made by state or national agencies or by the researchers at the individual colleges. Since the same information is not available at all colleges, it cannot be used as a basis for comparative research among several institutions. Research that focuses on determination of the type of data collected by community colleges across the nation is necessary for complete evaluation of the system.

The relationships that exist among the different educational subsystems as shown in Figure #2 in the model is also a relevant area for research. It has been shown that the kinds of inputs received by community colleges are affected by the high schools and 4-year institutions within the district. At Marshalltown for example, the freshman class was younger than the freshman classes at Harper and Tri-C. This was due to the fact that one-fourth of the students had graduated from high school by the time they were 17-years-old. As a further consequence, Marshalltown transferred a younger age group than the other two colleges, to 4-year institutions. It was also noted earlier in this paper that Harper students were often transfers on academic probation from their original 4-year college. They entered Harper, for the most part, as second year students and planned to stay only one year in order to raise their grade points.

It is recommended that the several questions raised by the findings presented here, be further researched. For example, the whole area of the socio-economic levels represented by the student bodies at community colleges would constitute a major research effort in and of itself, since full determination of socio-economic status involves

parameters of occupation, housing, educational level as well as annual income.

Another area of research would involve identification of the training that students who continue to be employed in their field of training receive. It may be possible that the community colleges are training some students to perform work tasks for which there is no need in the community. A finding of this nature would require re-evaluation of the Career Development program in terms of the benefits derived both by the students who engage in the training program and by the employers within the community who have a need for trained personnel.

It is recommended that the nature of the data that are being accumulated in aggregate form at the national level be re-evaluated to determine those variables for which this is a legitimate practice and those for which it is not. The result of this differentiation would be the development of sources of information in which data remain in its disaggregated form and is therefore more reliable than the same data in aggregated form.

It is recommended that relationship presented in Figures #6, #7, #8, and #9 of the model be examined and tested in a manner similar to that used in this research. Also research should be conducted regarding the relationships presented in Figures #4 and #5 but not tested in this research project.

It is recommended that the model presented here be shared with educators with the idea that there may exist individual research efforts that have been directed toward investigation of some of the

model parameters. Thus, findings from other research projects could possibly confirm or discount the models viability.

It is recommended that models similar in orientation to the one presented here be developed for other educational subsystems (e.g. the systems of elementary and secondary education, private and public 4-year colleges and universities).

It is recommended that the input parameter of high school graduates be eliminated from Figure #4 and #5 of the model. Since colleges consistently require a high school diploma of applicants into the College Parallel and Career Development programs, the variable is ineffective for differentiating between college programs and among institutions.

Final Conclusions

The outputs of education are elusive. This research has studied only the manifest functions and benefits derived by the existence of the community college in American society. The latent functions such as a "holding pen" for young men and women or "sorting and selecting" agency that occurs as an integral part of the institution have not been measured. Further, the fringe benefits such as a "better self-understanding" or a "broader world view" have not been considered here. The model contains variables other than those examined in this research project which may be more sensitive to identification and measurement of these kinds of educational benefits. Further, the variables selected for study here revealed few differences between the two college programs. Other variables in the model may prove to be more effective indicators of program area differences.

The conclusion of this research is that the model is a potentially useful tool for determining the benefits of community college programs and that there is some validity for applying a social indicator model to educational subsystems.

It can be further concluded that some relationships in the model do not emerge in a pilot study that includes only a small student sample and a small sample of institutions. An example of such a situation is that related to hypothesis 1. In these instances, in-depth research efforts are necessary.

CHAPTER VI. SUMMARY

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study is twofold; the first is to present a conceptual model developed by this researcher as one alternative for assessing the benefits derived from community college programs. The second purpose is to test selected relationships from the model in order to determine its feasibility as a tool for policy and decision-making at the local college level and at the national level.

Description of the Model

The model consists of nine figures based on a "quality of life" orientation that begins with an abstract global level of social indicators and proceeds to the lowest level of specific educational indicators. Thus, the model reflects the "top-down" hierarchical approach often used in systems analysis whereby each subsequently lower level acts as the apex for increasingly more restrictive hierarchies.

Figures #1 and #2 of the model depict the position of the institution of education within the "quality of life" hierarchy and the position of the community college within the educational system. Figure #3 depicts the six program areas offered by community colleges in this country. Figures #4 through #9 identify those input and

output variables significant to each of the program areas. Most of the input items, although not all, reflect the data usually accumulated in studies on education. The development of the output variables required specification of significant and measurable proxies for abstract educational goals such as "learning", "responsible citizenship", and "values".

Design of the Study

Data for this research effort was gathered from the official files of Marshalltown Community College, a rural college in central Iowa; from William Rainey Harper Community College, located in a Chicago suburb; and from Cuyahoga Community College (Metro Campus), located in downtown Cleveland. Forty full-time students (students enrolled in 12 or more hours) from each of the two program areas of College Parallel and Career Development enrolled during the Fall of 1968 at each of the three institutions was systematically drawn for a total student sample size of 240. The faculty sample included all instructors who taught halftime or more in either the College Parallel or Career Development program.

Four major hypotheses were tested inferentially by testing a series of sub-hypotheses directly related to the major hypothesis under consideration. The major hypotheses are:

<u>Major Hypothesis 1</u> The model presented is a feasible tool for visualizing the existence of relationships between those resource variables going into specific program areas of a single community college (inputs) and the results coming out of the program area (outputs).

<u>Major Hypothesis 2</u> The model is effective as a tool for evaluating the extent and direction in which community college goals are being achieved at the community college district level.

<u>Major Hypothesis 3</u> The model is an effective tool for determining if institutional emphasis on a single program exists at the local college level.

<u>Major Hypothesis 4</u> The model is a useful tool for evaluating the extent and direction to which community college goals are being achieved at the national level.

Findings

In order to test the first major hypothesis, an effort was made to determine if a relationship exists between the input variable of student/faculty ratio and the College Parallel output variables of program completion, application and transfer to a 4-year college or university, and length of stay at the 4-year institution. A similar effort was made in relation between the student/faculty ratio in the Career Development program and program completion, and the type of initial and current job placement of Career Development students. Examination of the data provide some evidence to support the rationale that lowering student/faculty ratios in these two program areas affects the immediate and the future behavior of students in terms of meeting the program goals of the college. Complete relationships between the input variable of student/faculty ratio and the output variables were not always observed. For example, doubling the student/ faculty ratio did not result in significantly reducing the number of students who completed either program. The findings indicate that the model "completely" reflects the relationship between student/faculty ratio and college program completion rate and between student/faculty ratio and College Parallel transfer rate. The model points to the existence of possible trends between student/faculty ratio and application by College Parallel students to 4-year institutions, length of time these students remain at 4-year institutions and the type of initial and current job placement of Career Development students. There is, therefore, some support for use of the model in visualizing the relationship between these inputs and outputs of the community college.

Test of the second major hypothesis requried a comparison between enrollment in the College Parallel and Career Development programs and the community population along the parameters of age, sex, race, and socio-economic level. In every instance, it was discovered that community college enrollments reflect almost completely the traditional college-aged student (from 18-22). In every instance but one, the female population was significantly under-represented in college enrollments and with only one exception, the low socio-economic group of the community was not reflected in the college enrollments. Comparison between college enrollments and community population according to race was limited in this research project because the samples from two of the colleges contained no non-Caucasian students. Since the same college districts contained few if any non-Caucasions, this finding is not surprising. Thus, the model provides a method

for determining which of the various sub-populations within the community are being served directly by the College Parallel and Career Development programs.

The third major hypothesis was tested by comparing the inputs of the two college programs within a single institution. The input items included the student characteristics of age, sex, race and socioeconomic level, student/faculty ratios, and faculty salaries. Examination of the data reveal that, with only one exception (age, in the College Parallel program at one college) there was no difference in the characteristics of students enrolled in the College Parallel programs and those enrolled in the Career Development programs. Findings related to the assignment of faculty to the two college programs reveal that in every instance, a lower student/faculty ratio exists in Career Development programs than in College Parallel programs. The data further reveal that there is no significant difference between the salaries paid to College Parallel faculties and salaries paid to Career Development faculties. The model, thus provides an effective tool for determining if institutional emphasis on a single program exists at the local college level.

Inter-institutional comparisons provided the basis for testing major hypothesis four. Specifically, comparisons among the institutions were made to determine if the colleges were similar with respect to: student enrollments in the College Parallel and Career Development programs (inputs), students who transferred to 4-year institutions (outputs), and students who are currently employed in the field in which they were trained (outputs). The findings reveal a difference among the three colleges in the age, sex, and race of student enrollments but no significant difference in the socio-economic level of student enrollments. Further, differences among the colleges were found in the age, race and socio-economic status of students transferring to 4-year institutions, but not in the sex of the transferring students. No institutional differences were found in the age, sex or socio-economic level of students who continue to be employed in the field for which they were trained at the college. Thus, use of the parameters indicated by the model has made visible several similarities and several dissimilarities that exist in the inputs and outputs of the community colleges under study. Although data on the inputs and outputs of Career Development programs is similar enough to make aggregated data at the national level a valid indicator of community college goal attainment, such is not the case for data on College Parallel programs. Use of the parameters indicated in the model has shown the extent and direction of goal attainment across the three institutions.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Agocs, Carol. Social indicators: Selected readings. The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 388 (March, 1970), 127-132.
- 2. American Council on Education. Report of the Council. Higher Education and National Affairs, 22 (March 30, 1973), 7.
- American Association of Community and Junior Colleges. Assembly report. Presented at the annual meeting of the American Association of Community and Junior Colleges, Warrenton, Virginia, November 30-December 2, 1972.
- Astin, Alexander W. Measuring student outputs in higher education. The Outputs of Higher Education: Their Identification, Measurement and Evaluation. Edited by Ben Lawrence, George Weathersby, and Virginia W. Patterson. Boulder, Colo.: WICHE, 1970.
- 5. Astin, A. W. The College Environment. Washington: American Council on Education, 1968.
- 6. Astin, A. W. Who Goes Where to College. Chicago: Science Research Associates, Inc., 1965.
- 7. Astin, Alexander and Panos, Robert J. The evaluation of educational programs. Educational Measurement. 2nd ed. Edited by Robert L. Thorndike. Washington, D. C.: American Council on Education, 1971.
- Astin, Alexander W., and Panos, Robert J. The Educational and Vocational Development of College Students. Washington, D. C.: American Council on Education, 1969.
- 9. Astin, A. W. and Panos, R. J. A national research data bank for higher education. Educational Record, 48 (1966), 5-17.
- Astin, A.W., Panos, R. J. and Creager, J. A. National norms for entering college freshmen-Fall, 1966. ACE Research Reports. Washington, D. C.: American Council on Education, 1967.
- 11. Astin, A. W., and Panos, R. J. and Creager, J. A. A program of longitudinal research on the higher educational system. ACE Research Reports. Washington, D. C.: American Council on Education, 1966.

- 12. Baier, Kurt, and Rescher, Nicholas. Values and the Future. New York: The Free Press, 1969.
- Baird, L. L. Family income and the characteristics of collegebound students. ACT Research Reports. Iowa City: American College Testing Program, 1967.
- 14. Balderson, Frederick E. Thinking about the outputs of higher education. The Outputs of Higher Education: Their Identification, Measurement, and Evaluation. Edited by Ben Lawrence, George Weathersby, and Virginia W. Patterson. Boulder, Colo.: WICHE, 1970.
- 15. Banathy, Bela. Instructional Systems. Belmont, Calif.: Fearon Publishers, 1968.
- 16. Barbee, David E. A Systems Approach to Community College Education. New York: Auerbach Publishers, Inc., 1972.
- Bauer, Raymond. Social indicators: or working in a society which has better social statistics. Planning for Diversity and Choice. Edited by Stanford Anderson. Cambridge, Mass.: M. I. T. Press, 1968.
- Bauer, Raymond, ed. Social Indicators. Cambridge, Mass.: M. I. T. Press, 1966.
- Beal, George M.; Brooks, Ralph M.; Wilcox, Leslie D.; and Klonglan, Gerald E. Social Indicators: Bibliography I. Report No. 92, Department of Sociology, Iowa State University, Ames, January, 1971.
- 20. Beals, Ernest W., Changing criteria for community college transfers. National Association of College Admissions Counselors Journal, 16 (May, 1971), 22-23.
- 21. Becker, Harold S. and de Brigard, Paul. A Framework for Community Development Action Planning, Vol II: Study Procedure, Conclusions, and Recommendations for Future Research. Institute for the Future (Middletown, Conn.) Report R-19, February, 1971.
- 22. Bell, Daniel. The idea of a social report. The Public Interest, 15 (Spring, 1969), 72-84.
- 23. Bell, Daniel The year 2000--the trajectory of an idea. Daedalus, 96 (Summer, 1967), 639-652.

- 24. Bell, Daniel. Memorandum to members of the commission on the year 2000. The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 333 (March, 1965), 2-3.
- 25. Biderman, Albert D. Information, intelligence, enlightened public policy: functions and organization of societal feedback. Policy Sciences, 1 (1970), 217-230.
- 26. Biderman, Albert D. Social indicators and goals. Social Indicators. Edited by Raymond A. Bauer. Cambridge, Mass.: M. I. T. Press, 1966.
- 27. Bird, Grace V. Preparation for advanced study. The Public Junior College. Fifty-fifth Yearbook of the National Society for the Study of Education. Part 1. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 1965.
- Bowles, Samuel. Planning Educational Systems for Economic Growth. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1969.
- 29. Bowles, Samuel. Equal Educational Opportunity. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1969.
- 30. Brandl, John E. Public service outputs for higher education: an exploratory essay. The Outputs of Higher Education: Their Identification, Measurement and Evaluation. Edited by Ben Lawrence, George Weathersby, and Virginia W. Patterson. Boulder, Colo.: WICHE, July, 1970.
- 31. Brien, Richard H. The managerialization of higher education. Educational Record, 51 (Summer, 1970), 273-280.
- 32. Brown, David G. A scheme for measuring the output of higher education. The Outputs of Higher Education: Their Identification, Measurement, and Evaluation. Edited by Ben Lawrence, George Weathersby, and Virginia W. Patterson. Boulder, Colo.: WICHE, July, 1970.
- 33. Buckley, Walter. Sociology and Modern Systems Theory. Englewood Cliffs, N. J.: Prentice-Hall, 1968.
- 34. Caldwell, Michael S. An approach to the assessment of educational planning. Educational technology, 8 (October 15, 1968), 5-12.
- 35. Cammack, Elvin F. Long-range planning. Institutional Research in the University. Compiled by Paul L. Dressel and associates. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, Inc., 1971.

- 36. CAMPUS: Lets college set level of simulation. College and University Business, 53 (November, 1972), 35-36.
- 37. Campus VII. College and University Resource Planning: A Management Tool for Calculating Operating Costs, Program Costs, Facilities Requirements. New York: Systems Research Group, Inc., 1971.
- 38. Carnegie Commission on Higher Education. Report of the Commission. The Open-Door Colleges, A Special Report and Recommendations. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Co., June, 1970.
- 39. Carter, Launor F. The systems approach to education: Mystique and reality. Educational Technology, 9 (April, 1969), 22-31.
- 40. Churchman, W. West. R² on E: some suggestions for research on the role of research in higher education. The Outputs of Higher Education: Their Identification, Measurement and Evaluation. Edited by Ben Lawrence, George Weathersby, and Virginia W. Patterson. Boulder, Colo.: WICHE, July, 1970.
- 41. Clark, Burton. The Open-Door College: A Case Study. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., 1960.
- 42. Cohen, Arthur M. Defining instructional objectives. Systems Approaches to Curriculum and Instruction in the Open-Door College. Occasional Report No. 9. B. Lamar Johnson, editor. Los Angeles: University of California, School of Education, January, 1967.
- Cohen, Arthur M., and Brawer, Florence B. The community college in search of identity. Change Magazine, Winter, 1971-72, pp. 55-59.
- 44. Cohen, Wilbur J., Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare. Social indicators: statistics for public policy. The American Statistician, 22 (October, 1968), 14-16.
- 45. Cohen, Wilbur J., Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare. Education and learning. The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 373 (September, 1969), 88-96.
- 46. Coleman, James S. The methods of sociology. A Design for Sociology: Scope, Objectives and Methods. Monograph No. 9 in a series sponsored by the American Academy of Political and Social Sciences. (April, 1969), 86-114.
- 47. Coleman, James S. Evaluating educational programs. a symposium. The Urban Review, 3 (February, 1969), 6-8.
- 48. Coleman, James S. The concept of equality of educational opportunity. Equal Educational Opportunity. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1969.
- 49. Coleman, James S. A brief summary of the Coleman report. Equal Educational Opportunity. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1969.
- 50. Coleman, James S.; Campbell, Ernest Q.; Hobson, Carol J.; McPartland, James; Mood, Alexander M.; Weinfield, Frederic D.; and York, Robert L. Equality of Educational Opportunity. National Center for Educational Statistics. Washington, D. C.: Government Printing Office, 1966.
- 51. Community and Junior College Directory. Washington, D. C.: American Association of Community and Junior Colleges, 1973.
- 52. Cooley, W. W. and Becker, S. J. The junior college student. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 44 (January, 1966), 464-469.
- 53. Corcoran, Thomas B. The coming slums of higher education. Change Magazine, September, 1972, pp. 30-35.
- 54. Corning, Peter A. Can we develop an index for quality of life? Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Association for Advancement of Science, Philadelphia, Pa., December 30, 1971.
- 55. Creager, J. A., and Astin, A. W. Alternative methods of describing characteristics of colleges and universities. Educational and Psychological Measurement, 28 (Autumn, 1968), 719-734.
- 56. Cross, K. Patricia. The quiet revolution. The Research Reporter. University of California, Berkeley: The Center for Research and Development in Higher Education, 4 (1969), 1-4.
- 57. Cross, K. Patricia. The Junior College Student: A Research Description. Princton, New Jersey: Educational Testing Service, 1968.
- 58. Cross, K. P. Beyond ability. The Research Reporter. University of California, Berkeley: The Center for Research and Development in Higher Education, 2 (1967), 3-5.

- 59. Cubberly, Ellwood P. The History of Education. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Co., 1920.
- 60. Denison, Edward F. Why Growth Rates Differ: Postwar Experience in Nine Western Countries. Washington, D. C.: The Brookings Institute, 1967.
- 61. Denison, Edward F. Sources of Economic Growth in the United States and the Alternatives Before Us. New York: The Committee on Economic Development, 1962.
- 62. Dewey, John. Experience and Education. New York: Collier Books, 1938.
- 63. Dressel, Paul L. Major problems in higher education. Institutional Research in the University. Compiled by Paul L. Dressel and associates. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, Inc., 1971.
- 64. Dressel, Paul. The essential nature of evaluation. Evaluation in Higher Education. Compiled by Paul L. Dressel and associates. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Co., 1961.
- 65. Dressel, Paul L. and Lorimer, Margaret F. Institutional self-evaluation. Evaluation in Higher Education. Compiled by Paul L. Dressel and associates. Boston: Houghton Mifflin., 1961.
- 66. Drewnowski, Jan. The practical significance of social information. The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 393 (March, 1971), 82-91.
- 67. Duncan, Otis Dudley. Toward Social Reporting: Next Steps. New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1969.
- Ebel, Robert L. Assessing national assessment. CAPS Capsule, 3 (February, 1970), 2-4.
- 69. Ebel, Robert L. Some measurement problems in a national assessment of educational progress. Journal of Educational Measurement, 3 (Spring, 1966), 11-17.
- 70. Educational Opportunity and Political Realities. New York: Academy for Educational Development, Inc., 1965.
- 71. Educational Policy Research Center. Toward Master Social Indicators. Research Memorandum EPRC-6747-2. SRI Project 6747. Stanford Research Institute, Menlo Park, California, 1969.

- 72. Enthoven, Alain C. Measures of the outputs of higher education: some practical suggestions for their development and use. The Outputs of Higher Education: Their Identification, Measurement and Evaluation. Edited by Ben Lawrence, George Weathersby, and Virginia W. Patterson. Boulder, Colo.: WICHE, July, 1970.
- 73. Etzioni, Amitai and Lehman, Edward W. Some dangers in valid social measurement. The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 373 (September, 1967), 1-12.
- 74. Farris, Theodore. The community college-for whom, for what? Urban Review, 4 (September, 1969), 20-27.
- 75. Ferris, Abbott L. Indicators of Trends in American Education. New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1969.
- 76. Findley, Warren G. To know or not to know: that seems to be the question. CAPS Capsule, 3 (Winter, 1970), 2-3.
- 77. Gleazer, Edmund J. The community college issue of the 1970's. Educational Record, 51 (Winter, 1970), 47-52.
- 78. Gleazer, Edmund J. Jr. This is the Community College. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Co., 1969.
- 79. Gleazer, E. J. Jr. An introduction to junior colleges. American Junior Colleges. 7th ed. Washington, D. C.: American Council on Education, 1967, 3-30.
- 80. Gross, Bertram M. Let's have a real state of the union message. Challange, 14 (May/June, 1966), 8-9.
- 81. Gross, Bertram M. The social state of the union. Trans-action,
 3 (November/December, 1965), 14-17.
- 82. Gross, Bertram M. The state of the nation: social systems accounting. Social Indicators. Edited by Raymond Bauer. Cambridge, Mass.: M. I. T. Press, 1966.
- 83. Gross, Bertram M. The State of the Nation: Social Systems Accounting. New York: Tavistock Publications, 1966.
- 84. Gross, Bertram and Springer, Michael. A new orientation in American government. The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science. 371 (May, 1967), 1-19.
- 85. Gulko, Warren W. and Hussain, K. M. A Resource Requirements Prediction Model (RRPM-1): An Introduction to the Model. NCHEMS Technical Report No. 19, October, 1971.

- 86. Hanushek, Eric A., and Kain, John F. On the value of equality of educational opportunity as a guide to public policy. On Equality of Educational Opportunity. Edited by Frederick Mostellar and Daniel P. Moynihan. New York: Random House, 1972.
- 87. Harlacher, Ervin L. California's community renaissance. Junior College Journal, 34 (April, 1964), 14-19.
- 88. Harper, W. J. The community and junior college: an overview. Peabody Journal of Education, 48 (July, 1971), 257-261.
- 89. Harvey, James. The counseling approach at Harper College. Junior College Journal, 38 (October, 1967), 38-40.
- 90. Hawkridge, David F. and Chalupsky, Albert B. Evaluating educational programs: a symposium. The Urban Review, 3 (February, 1969), 8-10.
- 91. Hopkins, David D. P. On the use of large-scale simulation models for university planning. Review of Educational Research, 41 (August, 1971), 467-478.
- 92. Hough, Robbin R. The outputs of undergraduate education. The Outputs of Higher Education: Their Identification, Measurement and Evaluation. Edited by Ben Lawrence, George Weathersby, and Virginia W. Patterson. Boulder, Colo.: WICHE, July, 1970.
- 93. Huff, Robert; Haight, Michael; Beatty, George; Young, Michael; Manning, Charles; Johnson, Richard; Clark, David; Collard, William; Busby, John; and Neward, Kathleen. The Concept of Instructional Program Planning and Budgeting: Implementation of NCHEMS Planning and Management Toools at California State University, Fullerton. Boulder, Colo.: NCHEMS, August, 1972.
- 94. Introduction: now where do we go? The Outputs of Higher Education: Their Identification, Measurement and Evaluation. Edited by Ben Lawrence, George Westhersby, and Virginia W. Patterson. Boulder, Colo.: WICHE, July, 1970.
- 95. Jamrick, John X. and Dressel, Paul L. Surveys and studies of higher education needs and problems. Evaluation in Higher Education. Compiled by Paul L. Dressel and associates. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Co., 1961.

- 96. Johnson, B. Lamar. Islands of Innovation Expanding: Changes in the Community College. Beverly Hills: Glencoe Press, 1969.
- 97. Johnson, B. Lamar. Islands of Innovation. Occasional Report No. 6. UCLA Junior College Leadership Program. University of Calif., Los Angeles: School of Education, March, 1964.
- 98. Judy, Richard W. Systems Analysis for Efficient Resource Allocation in Higher Education. A Research Progress Report. Toronto: Institute for the Quantitative Analysis of Social and Economic Policy, University of Toronto, January, 1970.
- 99. Kahn, Herman and Wiener, Anthony J. The Year 2000. London: The Macmillan Co., 1967.
- 100. Kamrany, Nake M., and Christakis, Alexander N. Social indicators in perspective. Socio-Economic Planning Sciences, 4 (June, 1970), 207-216.
- 101. Katzman, Martin T. Assessment of current systems versus inventing new educational technics. CAPS Capsule, 3 (Winter, 1970), 4-5.
- 102. Keller, John. Higher education objectives: measures of performance and effectiveness. Management Information Systems: Their Development and Use in the Administration of Higher Education. Boulder, Colo.: WICHE, 1969.
- 103. Kittleson, Howard M. An education production function--a framework for inquiry. Journal of Industrial Teacher Education, 6 (Summer, 1969), 43-52.
- 104. Kornfeld, Leo L.; Farris, Robert G.; and Olson, David N. Simulation models: technic for judging the what ifs. College and University Business, 53 (November, 1972), 31-37.
- 105. Knoell, Dorothy M. and Medsker, Leland L. From Junior to Senior College: A National Study of the Transfer Student. Washington, D. C.: American Council on Education, 1965.
- 106. Knoell, D. M., and Medsker, L. L. Articulation Between Two-Year and Four-Year Colleges. USOE Cooperative Research Project No. 2167. Berkeley: Center of Research and Development in Higher Education. University of California, 1964.

- 107. Knoell, D. M., and Medsker, L. L. Factors Affecting Performance of Transfer Students from Two- to Four-Year Colleges: With Implications for Coordination and Articulation. USOE Cooperative Research Project No. 1133. Berkeley: Center for Research and Development in Higher Education, University of California, 1964.
- 108. Krieger, Martin H. Social Indicators for the Quality of Individual Life. Working Paper No. 104. Institute of Urban and Regional Development, University of California, Berkeley, February, 1971.
- 109. Land, Kenneth C. On the definition of social indicators. Paper presented at the Population Association of America, Washington, D. C., April 1971.
- 110. Land, Kenneth C. On the definition of social indicators. The American Sociologist, 6 (November, 1971), 322-325.
- 111. Land, Kenneth C. Social indicators. New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1970. (Mimeographed).
- 112. Lelong, Donald C. Allocating and utilizing resources. Institutional Research in the University. Compiled by Paul L. Dressel and associates. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, Inc., 1971.
- 113. Lesser, Gerald, and Stodalsky, Susan S. Equal opportunity for maximum development. Equal Educational Opportunity. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1969.
- 114. Lombardi, John. The open-door college: a commitment to change. Systems Approached to Curriculum and Instruction in the Open-Door College. Occasional Report No. 9. Edited by B. Lamar Johnson. Junior College Leadership Program. Los Angeles: University of California, School of Education, January, 1967.
- 115. Lombus, William. CAMPUS VII helped small college plan for future while it had one. College and University Business, 53 (November, 1972), 37-39, 54.
- 116. Mason, Thomas. Developing and using information systems. Institutional Research in the University. Compiled by Paul L. Dressel and associates. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, Inc., 1971.
- 117. Medsker, Leland L. The Junior College, Progress and Prospect. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Co., 1960.

- 118. Medsker, L. L., and Trent, J. W. The Influence of Different Types of Public Higher Institutions on College Attendance from Varying Socioeconomic and Ability Levels. USOE Cooperative Research Project No. 438. Berkeley: Center for Research and Development in Higher Education, University of California, 1965.
- 119. Medsker, L. L., and Trent J. W. Facto, Affecting College Attendance of High School Graduates from Varying Socioeconomic and Ability Levels. USOE Cooperative Research Project No. 438. Berkeley: Center for Research and Development in Higher Education, University of California, 1965.
- 120. Merrium, Ida C. Discussion of Moore and Sheldon paper. Paper presented at the 125th annual meeting of the American Statistical Association, September 8-11, 1965.
- 121. Merwin, Jack C. The progress of exploration toward a national assessment of educational progress. Journal of Educational Measurement, 1 (Spring, 1966), 5-10.
- 122. Montor, Karel. Systems analysis in higher education. AEDS Journal, 4 (March, 1971), 85-95.
- 123. Mondale, Walter F., Senator. New tools for social progress. Progressive, 31 (September, 1967), 28-31.
- 124. Moore, Wilbert E., and Sheldon, Eleanor Bernert. Monitoring social change: a conceptual and programmatic statement. Paper presented at the 125th annual meeting of the American Statistical Association, September 8-11, 1965.
- 125. Morris, Bill, and Hubbard, John. COPES: a measure of success. Community and Junior College Journal, 43 (May, 1973), 29-31.
- 126. Morton, B. L. Perspective from a state coordinator of higher education. Educational Record, 51 (1970), 296-300.
- 127. Moynihan, Daniel Patrick. The impact on manpower development and employment on youth. Universal Higher Education. Edited by Earl J. McGrath. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1966.
- 128. Nathan, Robert R. Social planning for economic abundance. Economic Progress and Social Welfare. Edited by Leonard H. Goodman. New York: Columbia University Press, 1966.

- 129. National Academy of Sciences, Social Science Research Council. Report of the Council. The Behavioral and Social Sciences: Outlook and Needs. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall Inc., 1969.
- 130. National Advisory Committee on the Junior College. Statement by the Committee. A national resource for occupational education. Washington, D. C.: American Association of Junior Colleges, December, 1964.
- 131. National Commission on Technology, Automation and Economic Progress. Report of the Commission. Technology and the American Economy. Washington, D. C.: Government Printing Office, 1966.
- 132. National Science Foundation. Systems for Measuring and Reporting the Resources and Activities of Colleges and Universities. Report of the Foundation. NSF 67-15. Washington, D. C.: Government Printing Office, 1969.
- 133. National Science Foundation. Knowledge into Action: Improving the Nation's Use of the Social Sciences. Report of the Special Commission on the Social Sciences of the National Science Board. Washington, D. C.: Government Printing Office, 1969.
- 134. Olmstead, Richard. Integration and transcendence: conflicting models in higher education. Teachers College Record, 72 (February, 1971), 443-448.
- 135. Olson, Mancur, Jr. The plan and purpose of a social report. The Public Interest, 15 (Spring, 1969), 85-97.
- 136. Olson, Mancur, Jr. An agenda for the development of measures of progress of a racial or ethnic group. Working paper, U. S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare, February 6, 1968.
- 137. Orlans, Harold. Educational and scientific institutions. Daedalus, 96 (Summer, 1967), 823-832.
- 138. Ostar, Allan W. Quality: how is it really measured? College and University Business, 54 (May, 1973), 24ff.
- 139. Perle, Eugene D. Editor's introduction. Urban Affairs Quarterly, 6 (December, 1970), 135-143.
- 140. Prapas, Thomas, and Stearns, Stephen. Educational wastelands: the upper-division colleges. Social Policy, 2 (May/June, 1971), 15-17.

- 141. President's Commission on National Goals. Report of the Commission. Goals for Americans. New York: Prentice-Hall, 1960.
- 142. Quittenton, R. C. Career oriented education. Canadian Vocational Journal, 6 (December, 1970), 4-11.
- 143. RRPM: Tames wildly fluctuating enrollments. College and University Business, 53 (November, 1972), 32-33.
- 144. Reiner, John R., and Robinson, Donald W. An approach to goal statement evaluation. The North Central Association Quarterly, 44 (Fall, 1969), 241-245.
- 145. Rice, Stuart A. Social accounting and statistics for the great society. Public Administration Review, 27 (June, 1967), 169-174.
- 146. Richards, J. M., Jr., and Braskamp, L. A. Who goes where to junior college. ACT Research Reports. Iowa City: American College Testing Program, 1967.
- 147. Rosenthal, Robert A., and Weiss, Robert S. Problems of organizational feedback processes. Social Indicators. Edited by Raymond Bauer. Cambridge, Mass.: M. I. T. Press, 1966.
- 148. Roucche, John E., and Baker, Geroge A., III. Accountability in the community college must come from within the institution. College and University Business, 53 (October, 1972), 9, 13-14.
- 149. Rourke, Francis E., and Brooks, Glenn E. The managerial revolution in higher education. Administrative Science Quarterly, 9 (September, 1964), 154-181.
- 150. Saupe, Joe L., and Dressel, Paul L. Evaluating outcomes of instruction. Institutional Research in the University. Compiled by Paul L. Dressel and associates. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, Inc., 151-173.
- 151. Schultz, T. W. Education and economic growth. Social Forces Influencing American Education. Edited by Nelson B. Henry. Chicago: National Society for the Study of Education, 1961.
- 152. Selecting and Retention of Students in California's Public Institutions of Higher Education. Sacramento: California State Department of Education, 1961.

- 153. SEARCH: Give small college the broad view on decisions. College and University Business, 53 (November, 1972), 34.
- 154. Senate Bill #S.843. The Full Opportunity and Social Accounting Act of 1967. Washington, D. C.: Government Printing Office, 1967.
- 155. Sheldon, Eleanor Bernert. Social reporting for the 1970's. Federal Statistics. Volume 2. Report of the President's Commission. Washington, D. C.: Government Printing Office, 1971.
- 156. Sheldon, Eleanor Bernert, and Freeman, Howard E. Notes on social indicators: promises and potential. Policy Sciences, 1 (Spring, 1970), 97-111.
- 157. Sheldon, Eleanor Bernert, and Moore, Wilbert E. Toward the measurement of social change: implications for progress. Economic Progress and Social Welfare. Edited by Leonard H. Goodman. New York: Columbia University Press, 1966.
- 158. Skinner, Burrhus Frederick. The Technology of Teaching. New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts, 1968.
- 159. Smart, John M., and Spalding, Willard B. Concepts of systems and higher education. The Educational Forum, 34 (January, 1970), 167-175.
- 160. Smith, Adam. The Wealth of Nations. Cannon Ed. New York: Modern Library, 1937.
- 161. Springer, Michael. Social indicators, reports and accounts: toward the management of society. The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 388 (March, 1970), 1-13.
- 162. Sorokin, Pitirim. Social Mobility. New York: Harper and Brothers, 1927.
- 163. Stake, R. E. An emerging theory of evaluation-borrowings from many methodologies. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educationl Research Association, New York, 1967.
- 164. Stuckman, Jeffrey A., and Wattenbarger, James L. Coordination within the state system. Junior College Journal, 41 (March, 1971), 43-45.

- 165. Stufflebaum, Daniel L. Toward a science of educational evaluation. Educational Technology, 8 (July, 1968), 5-11.
- 166. Sutterfield, William D. Managing information: college planning could use help. College and University Business, 50 (March, 1971), 42-46.
- 167. Thornton, James W. The Community College. New York: John Wiley, 1960.
- 168. Tillery, H. D. Differential characteristics of entering freshmen at the University of California and their peers at California junior colleges. Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation. University of California, Berkeley, School of Education, 1963.
- 169. Trent, J. W. and Ruyle, J. H. Variations, flow and patterns of college attendance: the high school graduate study. College and University, 4 (Fall, 1965), 61-76.
- 170. Tyler, Ralph W. The objectives and plans for a national assessment of educational progress. Journal of Educational Measurement, 3 (Spring, 1966), 1-4.
- 171. Tyler, R. W. The functions of measurement in improving instruction. Educational Measurement. Edited by E. F. Lindquist. Washington, D. C.: American Council on Education, 1951.
- 172. U. S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare. Toward A Social Report. Washington, D. C.: Government Printing Office, 1969.
- 173. U. S. National Goals Research Staff. Toward Balanced Growth: Quantity with Quality. Washington, D. C.: Government Printing Office, 1970.
- 174. Vaizey, John. The outputs of higher education-their proxies, measurement and evaluation. The Outputs of Higher Education: Their Identification, Measurement and Evaluation. Edited by Ben Lawrence, George Weathersby, and Virginia W. Patterson. Boulder, Colo.: WICHE, July, 1970.
- 175. Vestermark, S. D. Indicators of Social Vulnerability. McLean, Virginia: Human Science Research, Inc., 1968.
- 176. Voight, Robert B. Discussion of Moore and Sheldon paper. Paper presented at the 125th annual meeting of the American Statistical Association, September 8-11, 1965.

- 177. Wilcox, Leslie, and Klonglan, Gerald. Measure of social change: social indicators. Unpublished paper, Iowa State University, Ames, 1972.
- 178. Wilcox, Leslie D.; Brooks, Ralph M.; Beal, George M.; and Klonglan, Gerald D. Social Indicators and Societal Monitoring: An Annotated Bibliography. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, Inc., 1972.
- 179. Wilcox, Leslie D.; Brooks, Ralph M.; Klonglan, Gerald E.; and Beal, George M. Social indicators: an alternative approach for future research. Paper presented at the Association of Southern Agricultural Workers Conference, Richmond, Virginia, February, 1972.
- 180. Wilcox, Leslie D.; Byrnes, Kerry J.; McIntosh, William A.; and Malia, James. Social Systems Models of Indicators of Social Development. A. I. D. Project #CSD-3642. Iowa State University, Ames, 1972.
- 181. Willingham, Warren W., and Findikyan, Nurhan. Transfer students: who's moving from where to where, and what determines who's admitted? College Board Review, 12 (Summer, 1969), 4-12.
- 182. Wilson, Alan B. Social class and equal educational opportunity. Equal Educational Opportunity. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1969.
- 183. Wilson, John Oliver. Quality of Life in the United States-An Excursion into the New Frontier of Socioeconomic Indicators. Report for the Midwest Research Institute, Kansas City, Missouri, 1970.
- 184. Womer, Frank B. The national assessment of educational progress: concept and organization. CAPS Capsule, 3 (Winter, 1970), 5-6.
- 185. Worthen, Blaine R. Toward a taxonomy of evaluation designs. Educational Technology, 8 (August, 1968), 3-9.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express appreciation to Dr. Ray Bryan, Dr. Milton Brown, Dr. Charles Jones, Dr. Gerald Klonglan, Dr. Arthur Sandeen, Dr. Roy Warman and Dr. Richard Warren for all the time they have spent in making this thesis possible.

My thanks are also extended to the various personnel at Marshalltown, Tri-C, and Harper colleges who assisted in the collection of data and allowed me to use their facilities.

I will always be grateful for the interest, understanding, and encouragement extended to me by several of my close friends during the course of this project.

APPENDIX

College								
	STUDENT DATA SHEET							
1.	Student NameAddressPhone							
2.	Age: 3. Sex: 4. Race: Cauc. Black Amer Indian Spanish AmerOrientalOther							
5.	SES:Receives financial assistance from home Filed with institution for financial aide Direct loan from other source Works during school year Works during summer							
6.	Holds high school diploma: Yes7. Holds G. E. D.: Yes8. Enrolled in: C.P No							
9.	Student Classification: Freshman 10. Year left CC Sophomore							
11.	Reason for leaving CC: 12. Total length time at CC: 13. Completed program: Drop-out Employment Military Transfer to 4-year institution							
C. 1	2. Students							
14.	Applied to 4-year institution: Yes 15. Transfered to 4-year institution: Yes No							
15.	Length of time at 4-year institution: Less than one year One year Two years Three years							

•

-

213 b

Transfer to 4-year institution C. P. Students 14. Applied to 4-year institution: Yes_____ 15. Transfered to 4-year institution: Yes_____ No No 15. Length of time at 4-year institution: Less than one year One year Two years____ Three years Graduation C. D. Students 17. Type of C. D. training 19. Type of initial job placement: 18. Length of initial job placement: Less than one year Employed in same area as training 1-2 years Employed in different area from 2-3 years training 3-4 years Further training in same area as 4-5 years training Training in different area from training Military service Unemployed 20 Length of current job placement: 21. Type of current job placement: Employed in same area as training Less than one year 1-2 years____ Employed in different area from 2-3 years training Further training in same area as 3-4 years training Training in different area from training Military service Unemployed

2

FACULTY DATA SHEET										
1.	Name:	_ 2.	Age:	3.	Sex:	4.	Race:	Cauc		
5.	Teaches at least 1/2 time in:	С. С.	P D					American Indian Spanish Amer Oriental Other		
6.	Salary: (1968)									
Com	nunity College:				CUEFT					
FACULIY DATA SHEET										
1.	Name:	2.	Age:	3.	Sex:	4.	Race:	Cauc Black		
5.	Teaches at least 1/2 time in:	C. C.	P D					American Indian Spanish Amer Oriental Other		
6.	Salary: (1968)									
Community College:										

ς

214